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This report contains historical information and may contain certain
forward-looking statements that relate to future events or future
performance. These forward-looking statements are based upon
management’s current expectations and assumptions as to a number
of factors, including, the risks, uncertainties and other factors as
described in BC Ferries’ Management’s Discussion and Analysis
contained herein and certain of the other BC Ferries’ documents
available at www.sedar.com. These forward-looking statements are
made as of today’s date and are based upon information currently
available to management and BC Ferries assumes no obligation to
update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances. If
management’s expectations and assumptions prove to be incorrect,
or factors change, then actual results could differ materially from
the forward-looking information contained in this report.

CORPORATE PROFILE

CORPORATE PROFILE
BC Ferries is one of the largest ferry operators in the

U

Partnerships: Work openly and constructively with our

world, providing year-round vehicle and passenger

various business and community stakeholders to exceed

service on 25 routes to 47 terminals, with a ﬂeet of

the expectations of our customers and advance each

36 vessels. We are an essential transportation link that

other’s interests.

connects coastal communities and facilitates the movement
of people, goods and services. Each year, we transport

U

are maintained.

more than 20 million passengers and 8 million vehicles
throughout coastal British Columbia.

Environment: Ensure that environmental standards

U

Employees: Always deal from a position of honesty,
integrity and mutual respect, and ensure that our

OUR VISION

employees develop to their full potential.

To provide a continuously improving west coast
travel experience that consistently exceeds customer

OUR GOALS

expectations and reﬂects the innovation and pride of

In support of our vision, we are focused on ﬁve key

our employees.

goals, none more important than safety.

OUR MISSION

1.

To provide safe, reliable and efﬁcient marine

Safety: To continuously improve the safety of our
operations inclusive of vessels, terminals and facilities.

transportation services which consistently exceed
the expectations of our customers, employees and

2.

Operational Reliability: To continuously improve
the operational reliability of vessels, terminals

communities, while creating enterprise value.

and facilities.
OUR VALUES
U

Safety: Ensure that the safety and security of our

3.

we do.

customers and staff is a primary concern in all aspects
of doing business.
U

U

Continuous Improvement: To be better at everything

4.

Value For Money: To continuously improve value to

Quality: Be motivated by customer expectations

our customers at every point along the customer

in providing quality facilities and services.

experience chain.

Integrity: Be accountable for all our actions and ensure

5.

Financial Integrity: To achieve key ﬁnancial targets,

we demonstrate integrity in our business relations,

ensuring that sufﬁcient capital and retained earnings

utilization of resources, treatment of our customers

are available to revitalize our ﬂeet, facilities and

and staff, and in the general conduct of our business.

infrastructure, while minimizing fare escalation.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR

ELIZABETH J. HARRISON, QC
CHAIR, BOARD OF DIRECTORS

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we applaud BC Ferries’
employees for their continued dedication to excellence and
commitment to providing a safe and customer-focused travel
experience this past year.
While we were not immune to the affects of the economic
downturn, which was most notable in declining trafﬁc numbers,
we had cause for celebration on several occasions this past year
as we continued our extensive ﬂeet revitalization program.
The addition of our second and third Super C-class ships,
the Coastal Inspiration and Coastal Celebration in June and
November 2008 respectively, ensured that customers on all three
routes between the Lower Mainland and Vancouver Island now
have the opportunity to enjoy a ﬁrst-class travel experience
onboard one of these exceptional new ships.
In February 2009, it was with great pride that we welcomed
the Island Sky into the ﬂeet on the Sunshine Coast, followed
in March by the arrival of the Northern Expedition, which is
now offering a cruise-like experience for those travelling on
the north coast.
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We send our thanks to all of the employees who were involved
in making these projects a tremendous success.
I join the British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. Board in extending
a warm welcome to new Board members Holly Haston-Grant,
Jane L. Peverett and Stephen E. Smith, who have also been appointed
to the Board of Directors of B.C. Ferry Authority. We also extend
a special thank you to retiring Board members Douglas E. Allen,
Thomas W. Harris and Maureen V. Macarenko for their years of
excellent service.
While we continue to look for ways to meet the current economic
demands, we remain optimistic about the future and welcome
the opportunity to provide a world-class service to the millions
of customers we will serve in the coming year.

ELIZABETH J. HARRISON, QC
Chair

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT & CEO

DAVID L. HAHN
PRESIDENT &
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As I look back on the year, there are many highlights that come to
mind, but none as signiﬁcant as the tremendous advancements our
employees made regarding safety.

Northern Expedition — a top-of-the-line cruise-ship type vessel
that offers 55 staterooms and carries up to 130 vehicles and
600 passengers.

Through a comprehensive program called SailSafe, we have seen an
increase in safety awareness throughout the company and a marked
reduction in employee injury rates. It is through the efforts of every
employee at BC Ferries that we are continuing to reﬁne our current
practices and ensure that we are providing the best in safety for our
customers and employees.

We are also continuing with our longer-term strategic plan to
expand the business and generate new revenue streams that
will help us meet the challenges of the future. This past year, we
launched a new drop trailer service to expand our service offerings
to our commercial customers and continued with our plans to open
a new travel centre in downtown Vancouver in the spring of 2010.

Over the year, as the economy continued its downward trend, we
experienced a decline in ridership compared to the previous year.
From the outset, we have looked for cost savings and have asked
employees to help identify areas where costs could be minimized,
without impacting the safety or efﬁciency of our operations.

During the year, we achieved many milestones that required the
dedication of employees throughout the company. From the
positive results of our safety program to the successful introduction
of new ships into service, extensive terminal upgrades and a
multitude of customer service initiatives, our employees continued
to deliver outstanding results. I have no doubt this will continue in
the year to come.

While we are continuing to manage to the current economic climate,
we also recognize the importance of investing in our core business,
particularly in new ships and upgraded terminals. Over the past
30 months, we have added seven new ships to the ﬂeet — a major
undertaking that will beneﬁt our customers for many years to come.
This past year alone, we added two more Super C-class ships, each
with a carrying capacity of 370 vehicles and 1650 passengers, along
with the Island Sky, a 125-vehicle, 600 passenger vessel and the

DAVID L. HAHN
President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
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KEY ACCOMPLISHMENTS

THE TRAVEL EXPERIENCE….

U

Carried more than 8.1 million vehicles and 20.7 million passengers
on 187,000 sailings.

U

Achieved a 99.67% reliability rate (meaning our ships completed
99.67% of scheduled sailings) and an overall customer satisfaction
rating of 86 per cent.

U

Launched the BC Ferries Experience Card: a wallet-sized electronic
payment card, similar to a gift or debit card, that can be used to
redeem travel.

U

Continued partnerships with the Vancouver Canucks and the
Royal BC Museum.

U

Offered late-night sailings to allow BC Lions and
Vancouver Canucks fans to cheer on their teams in
Vancouver and return to Vancouver Island the same evening.

U

Earned the Heart and Stroke Foundation’s Health Check Symbol
with six new menu items.

U

Continued our onboard Coastal Naturalists program to provide
entertaining and educational programs about the natural scenery
and environment of the south coast of British Columbia and
expanded our Coastal Awareness interactive program at our
major ferry terminals.

U
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Offered a 33 per cent reduction on all fares, funded by the
provincial government, to make it easier for customers to visit
their families and friends during the winter holiday season.

INVESTING IN OUR VESSELS AND TERMINALS….

U

Added two new Super C-class ships to the ﬂeet: the
Coastal Inspiration and the Coastal Celebration in June and
November 2008, respectively. The introduction of these new
ships, along with sister ship the Coastal Renaissance that
entered service in March 2008, marks the successful completion
of the Super C project ahead of schedule and $26 million
under budget.

U

Received the International ShipPax Award for Outstanding
Ferry Technology for the design of the Coastal Renaissance.

U

Introduced the Island Sky, a new intermediate-sized vessel
that entered service on the Earls Cove-Saltery Bay route on
the Sunshine Coast in February 2009.

U

Welcomed the arrival of the Northern Expedition in March 2009.
The new 150-metre cruise-ferry offers an outstanding travel
experience for customers on our northern routes with 55 modern
staterooms and spacious passenger areas, including the Canoe Cafe,
Vista Restaurant and the Raven and Aurora Lounges. The $200 million
project was completed on schedule and on budget.

U

Completed a $31 million dock upgrade project at four northern
terminals. The project, which was completed ahead of schedule,
was the largest berth upgrade BC Ferries has ever undertaken.

U

Returned the Queen of New Westminster to service after a
comprehensive $54 million upgrade that included the installation
of four new marine evacuation chutes, passenger accommodation
improvements, engineering upgrades and maintenance work.

U

Continued our environmental initiatives, including the use of
cleaner-burning low sulphur fuels in vessels, the use of electric cars
by employees at our major terminals, extensive recycling programs,
wet waste composting, environmentally-friendly cleaning products
and the use of biodegradable hydraulic oil.

U

Retired three older ships from service. Two of the ships, the
Queen of Esquimalt and Queen of Tsawwassen, have since
been sold. In April 2009, the Queen of Vancouver and the
Queen of Prince Rupert were also retired from service. These two
ships, along with the Queen of Saanich, are currently for sale.

KEY ACCOMPLISHMENTS

BUILDING A BETTER BC FERRIES….

U

U

Continued to improve our safety practices through SailSafe,
a company-wide safety initiative that is led by our employees.
This past year, we realized 61 fewer employee time-loss injuries,
which prevented more than 1,000 lost workdays.
Provided more than 13,000 operational training days and
continued to offer comprehensive management development
programs to our employees.

U

Completed our Voyage Data Recorder (VDR) installation program.
All vessels in our ﬂeet are now equipped with a VDR.

U

Implemented new security measures throughout the company,
including physical security upgrades, random canine screening,
closed-circuit television monitoring, enhanced access and
perimeter controls and employee training.

U

U

Introduced a new drop-trailer service to allow commercial
customers to move their trailers on existing scheduled sailings.
The service, which utilizes car-deck space that would otherwise
be empty, is being offered on the Tsawwassen-Swartz Bay and
Tsawwassen-Duke Point routes.

U

Consulted regularly with our 12 Ferry Advisory Committees.

U

Met regularly with the Accessibility Advisory Committee with the
BC Coalition of People with Disabilities to improve access onboard
our vessels and at our terminals.

U

Continued consultation with First Nations regarding our terminal
master plans.

U

Partnered with the Penelakut First Nation to develop a new
Kuper Island ferry shelter that features the artwork of
Kuper Island students.

U

Raised $50,000 for KidSport through our third annual BC Ferries
Media Charity Golf Classic.

U

Contributed $110,000 in cash and travel services to help children
and adults in coastal communities participate in organized sport
through the joint BC Ferries-Sport BC Sporting Life on the Coast
travel assistance program.

U

Hosted 120 Paralympic athletes as they travelled from
Horseshoe Bay – Departure Bay to compete at the
2009 International Paralympic Committee World Cup
at Mount Washington.

U

Announced there will be additional sailings during the
Vancouver 2010 Olympic Games to allow Vancouver Island and
Sunshine Coast residents to attend Olympic events and return
home the same day.

U

Continued to support travel and tourism and the 2010 Olympic
and Paralympic Winter Games via our three Super C-class ships,
with each vessel featuring four unique photographic images
promoting the Games and the natural beauty of British Columbia.

U

Participated in the TD Great Canadian Shoreline Cleanup. With
more than 360 BC Ferries employees volunteering their time
to clean up 20 beaches around B.C., we had the second highest
participation rate nationwide.

U

Received the United Way Quantum Leap Spirit Award in
recognition of the more than $112,000 our employees pledged
to the 2008 United Way Campaign.

Completed two ﬁnancing transactions in one of the most
difﬁcult markets:
U

U

U

CONNECTING WITH THE COMMUNITIES WE SERVE.…

$140 million, ﬁve-year senior secured bond issue bearing
interest at 6.21%, payable semi-annually. The net proceeds
were used to repay our credit facility, fund capital expenditures
and the debt service reserve related to the bonds, and for
general corporate purposes.
$108 million loan agreement with KfW bank group at a
ﬁxed interest rate of 2.95% to ﬁnance the purchase of the
Northern Expedition.

Maintained credit ratings of A low (DBRS) and A- (Standard &
Poor’s), with both rating agencies assessing our rating outlook
as positive.
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2009
DATED MAY 20, 2009
The following is our discussion and analysis of the ﬁnancial
condition and results of operations for British Columbia Ferry
Services Inc. as of May 20, 2009. This should be read in conjunction
with our audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements and related
notes for the years ended March 31, 2009 (ﬁscal 2009) and
March 31, 2008 (ﬁscal 2008). These documents are available
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on our Investor webpage
at http://www.bcferries.com/about/investors/index.html.
Except where indicated, all ﬁnancial information herein is
expressed in Canadian dollars and determined on the basis
of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. is an independent company
providing ferry services on the west coast of British Columbia.
We operate one of the largest and most complex ferry systems in
the world, providing frequent year-round transportation service
on 25 routes, supported by 36 vessels and 47 terminals. Our service
is an integral part of British Columbia’s coastal transportation
system and has been designated by the Province of British Columbia
(the Province) as an essential service for purposes of the provincial
Labour Relations Code. This designation means our services are
considered necessary for the protection of the health, safety and
welfare of the residents of British Columbia.
We provide a wide and varied range of ferry services for our
customers. In ﬁscal 2009, we provided more than 187,000 sailings,
carrying 20.7 million passengers and 8.1 million vehicles.
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Over the last three years, we spent $1.2 billion in total capital
expenditures, reﬂecting signiﬁcant investments in our infrastructure
to revitalize our ﬂeet and our terminal facilities. Of this, $1.0 billion
was spent on new vessels, vessel upgrades and modiﬁcations,
adding seven new vessels to our ﬂeet and extending the operating

life of a further three vessels. As a result of these investments, and
as expected, our amortization and ﬁnancing costs have increased
sharply over the last couple of years, reducing our net earnings.
Our reported earnings in ﬁscal 2009 have declined as expected.
The most signiﬁcant portion of our vessel replacement program
is now complete.
Our trafﬁc levels, which had been relatively stable, decreased in
ﬁscal 2009. Vehicle and passenger trafﬁc were lower than the
prior yearly 5.2% and 4.9% lower, respectively. These reductions
are due at least in part to the declines in the British Columbia and
local economies experienced in ﬁscal 2009. We believe that the
decreasing level of economic activity, reduced level of tourism,
rising unemployment, reduced consumer conﬁdence and higher
vehicle fuel prices earlier in ﬁscal 2009, have all negatively impacted
our commercial and discretionary travel markets. In addition, in the
month of December, traditionally a busy month, we experienced
a decrease of 10% in trafﬁc mainly due to severe weather. For
three weeks, our service areas were faced with high winds,
record snowfalls, black ice, freezing rain and impassable roads.
We continue to review and update our ﬁnancial and operating
plans to respond to current economic uncertainties and reduced
trafﬁc levels. (See “Outlook–Trafﬁc” and “Outlook–Corporate
Restructuring” below for more detail.)
Signiﬁcant events during or subsequent to ﬁscal 2009:
New vessels and major vessel upgrades (See “Investing in our
Capital Assets” below for more detail):
U On June 16, 2008, the second of three new Super C-class
vessels, the Coastal Inspiration, commenced service on the
Duke Point–Tsawwassen route following crew training and
familiarization in the operation of this state-of-the-art vessel.
On November 21, 2008, the third and ﬁnal new Super C-class
vessel, the Coastal Celebration, commenced service on the
Swartz Bay–Tsawwassen route.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

These vessels are among the largest double-ended ferries in
the world, with each vessel measuring 160 metres in length
and having a capacity of 1,650 passengers and crew and
approximately 370 vehicles. They feature a diesel-electric
propulsion system that is one of the largest and most
economical of its kind in the world. This propulsion system and
other technological and environmental features of the Super
C-class vessels contributed to winning the prestigious ShipPax 1
award for outstanding ferry technology for 2008.

Other items:

The total project budget for the three new Super C-class vessels
was $542 million. The project was completed on schedule and
$26 million under budget.

U On August 25, 2008, we reached an agreement for the sale of our
existing head ofﬁce building for approximately $11 million. We
also signed a 15-year lease with renewal options for up to an
additional 20 years, allowing for the relocation of our corporate
centre to a new building currently under development in downtown
Victoria. This relocation will provide approximately the same space
as we currently occupy in several locations and allow for operating
efﬁciencies by combining all departments under one roof. The
relocation is scheduled for August 2010. Our wholly-owned
subsidiary company, Paciﬁc Marine Leasing Inc., has agreed to
advance up to $25 million to the developer of the new head ofﬁce
property for a term of 15 years, secured by a second mortgage
on the property. The developer has also granted us a purchase
option for up to 50% of its interest in the new building at a
maximum price of $25 million which expires at the end of the
loan term.

U On February 19, 2009, the Island Sky, our new intermediate class
ferry, commenced service on the Earls Cove–Saltery Bay route.
This 102-metre vessel accommodates up to 125 vehicles and
600 passengers. A $47 million contract with Vancouver Shipyards
constitutes the majority of the total project budget of $57 million.
U On April 3, 2009, the 45-year-old Queen of New Westminster,
which formerly operated on our Duke Point–Tsawwassen route,
returned to service on our Tsawwassen–Swartz Bay route
following an extensive $54 million upgrade to prepare it for
another 13 years of service.
U On May 18, 2009, the new Northern Expedition made its inaugural
voyage on our northern route through the Inside Passage from
Port Hardy to Prince Rupert. This 150-metre vessel, which replaced
the 43-year-old Queen of Prince Rupert, has 55 staterooms and
accommodates up to 130 vehicles and 600 passengers. The total
project budget for this vessel was $200 million. The project was
completed on schedule and on budget.
Vessels removed from service:
U On May 23, 2008, a Purchase and Sale Agreement was
completed for the sale of the Queen of Esquimalt which served
on our Major Routes. On September 10, 2008, a Purchase
and Sale Agreement was completed for the sale of the fully
amortized Queen of Tsawwassen for nominal proceeds. The
agreement states that the buyer cannot sell or scrap the vessel
for three years from the date of the agreement. Delivery took
place on September 29, 2008. On November 18, 2008, the
Queen of Saanich was decommissioned. The Queen of Vancouver
and the Queen of Prince Rupert were decommissioned on
April 15, 2009 and April 20, 2009, respectively. These three
vessels, ranging in age from 43 to 47 years old, have been
offered for sale. We do not expect a material gain or loss
arising from the disposition of these vessels.
1

U In May 2008, to coincide with conditional acceptance of the
Coastal Celebration, we received $90 million in proceeds under
the loan agreement with the KfW bank group (KfW). This is a
12-year amortizing loan, at a ﬁxed interest rate of 4.98%. The
agreement defers the principal payments for the ﬁrst three years
to a second tranche on which interest only is payable at a ﬂoating
rate. This principal is due June 2020.

U On December 19, 2008, we completed a private placement of a
$140 million, ﬁve-year senior secured bond issue. These bonds
bear interest at 6.21%, payable semi-annually. The net proceeds
were used to repay our credit facility, fund capital expenditures
and the debt service reserve related to the bonds and for general
corporate purposes. Our credit ratings at March 31, 2009 were
A low (DBRS) and A- (Standard & Poor’s) and both rating agencies
have assessed our rating outlook as positive. (See “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” below for more detail.)
U On December 19, 2008, a fare reduction and service restoration
agreement was made with the Province to provide $19.6 million
in funding to allow a 33% reduction on fares for all routes
during the months of December 2008 and January 2009 and for
our Prince Rupert-Skidegate route during February 2009. It also
provided $1.2 million additional funding for reimbursement of
costs to reinstate previously eliminated off-peak sailings during
ﬁscal 2009. (See “Outlook-Trafﬁc” below for more detail).
U On January 20, 2009, we announced a signiﬁcant restructuring
of our management and administrative staff, which resulted in
the elimination of approximately 77 positions. This included the
7

ShipPax Information is an internationally recognized marine industry publisher
with the largest database of passenger shipping information in the world.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

termination or early-retirement of 28 non-union staff, including
several vice-presidents, senior managers and director-level
employees and the termination of 7 union staff. The remaining
positions were eliminated through attrition. These changes have
been made in order to align our expenses with our revenues.
(See “Outlook-Corporate Restructuring” below for more detail).
U On January 26, 2009, to coincide with conditional acceptance of
the Northern Expedition, we received $108 million in proceeds
under a further loan agreement with the KfW bank group. This
is a 12-year amortizing loan, at a ﬁxed interest rate of 2.95%,
payable semi-annually. The proceeds were applied toward the
purchase of the new vessel.
U Fuel surcharges and rebates were implemented throughout the
year as follows. (See “Expenses – Deferred Fuel Cost Accounts”
below for more detail):
U

On August 1, 2008, fuel surcharges (excluding the Northern Routes)
went into effect due to a dramatic increase in fuel prices;

U

On November 4, 2008, existing fuel surcharges were reduced
by 50% due to dropping fuel prices;

U

On December 19, 2008, for the Major Routes and
December 5, 2008, for all other routes, all remaining
fuel surcharges were eliminated in order to reﬂect
the continuing decline in fuel prices; and

U

On February 12, 2009, fuel rebates of up to 5% were put
into effect on many of our routes, with the exception of our
Major and Northern Routes, due to balances in the deferred
fuel cost accounts for these routes.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Coastal Ferry Services Contract
We operate ferry services under a regulatory regime as deﬁned
by the Coastal Ferry Act, and under the terms set out in the
Coastal Ferry Services Contract. This 60-year services contract with
the Province, which commenced April 1, 2003, stipulates, among
other things, the number of round trips that must be provided for
each regulated ferry service route in exchange for speciﬁed fees
(ferry transportation fees). In anticipation of the deployment of
new vessels on our Northern Routes, higher ferry transportation
fees were negotiated with the Province commencing with ﬁscal
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2008, the ﬁnal year of the ﬁrst performance term of the contract.
Subsequently, the contract was amended to, among other things,
establish the ferry service levels and ferry transportation fees
for the second performance term commencing April 1, 2008. The
Coastal Ferry Services Contract also includes fees for the provision of
speciﬁc social program services delivered on behalf of the Province.
Under the terms of the Coastal Ferry Services Contract, we also receive
an annual amount from the Province based on its agreement with
the Government of Canada to fulﬁll the obligation of providing ferry
services to coastal British Columbia. The amount of this payment
is adjusted annually based on the Vancouver Consumer Price Index.

Economic Regulatory Environment
The ofﬁce of the British Columbia Ferries Commissioner (the
Commissioner) was created under the Coastal Ferry Act, enacted
by the Province on April 1, 2003. Commencing with the second
performance term, the Commissioner establishes price caps for
designated ferry route groups for the purpose of regulating our
tariffs. For the ﬁrst performance term, price caps were speciﬁed
in the Coastal Ferry Act. The Commissioner is also responsible
for regulating the reduction of service, discontinuance of routes
and certain other matters. The Coastal Ferry Act requires the
Commissioner to undertake regulation in accordance with several
principles, including placing priority on the ﬁnancial sustainability
of ferry operators, encouraging ferry operators to adopt a
commercial approach to ferry service delivery and moving over
time to a greater reliance on a user pay system.
Our ﬁrst performance term ended March 31, 2008, and our second
performance term will end March 31, 2012. The price cap increase
authorized by the Commissioner for the second performance
term was 7.3% on the Major Routes and 4.0% on all other routes
effective April 1, 2008, starting from a level which included fuel
surcharges in place at March 31, 2008. On each April 1 for the
subsequent three years, the price cap increases by 2.7% plus
0.49 times the latest reported annual increase in the Consumer
Price Index (British Columbia) on the Major Routes and 5.7% plus
0.73 times the Consumer Price Index (British Columbia) on all other
routes. On April 1, 2009, the price cap increased by 3.74% on the
Major Routes and 7.25% on all other routes.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
This section provides an overview of our ﬁnancial and operational performance over the past three ﬁscal years.
Year ended March 31 ($ millions)
Total revenue
% Growth
Expenses
Earnings from operations
Interest and other
Net earnings before extraordinary gain
Extraordinary gain
Net earnings and comprehensive income

2009
681.8
6.4%
624.2
57.6
48.6
9.0
–
9.0

As at March 31
Total assets
Total long-term ﬁnancial liabilities
Cash dividends

2009
1,841.9
1,369.0
6.0

2008
640.7
7.4%
569.6
71.1
34.0
37.1
–
37.1
2008
1,550.5
1,059.5
6.0

2007
596.3
3.0%
528.4
67.9
19.1
48.8
61.3
110.1
2007
1,215.8
766.3
6.0

Our earnings from operations in ﬁscal 2009 were $13.5 million lower and net earnings were $28.1 million lower than in ﬁscal 2008.
As expected, these reductions reﬂect increased amortization and ﬁnancing costs as a result of new capital assets entering service
as we near the completion of our ﬂeet and asset renewal program for our Major and Northern Routes.
Our ridership has been negatively impacted by current economic conditions. The negative revenue impact of this lower passenger
and vehicle trafﬁc was largely offset by reductions in operating expenses from previously planned levels.
Net earnings in ﬁscal 2008 were $11.7 million lower than net earnings before extraordinary gain in the previous year. In ﬁscal 2007,
we recorded an extraordinary gain of $61.3 million as a result of insurance proceeds from the loss of the Queen of the North.

REVENUE
Our total revenues have increased steadily over the past three ﬁscal years as shown in the table on the following page.

GENERAL
REVENUE
1%

OTHER
ROUTES
32%

MAJOR
ROUTES
60%

NORTHERN
ROUTES
7%

In ﬁscal 2009, the greatest portion of our revenues,
60%, was earned on our three Major Routes connecting
Vancouver Island to Vancouver and the Lower Mainland.
The revenue from the Northern Routes contributed 7%
and Other Routes contributed 32%. General revenue, 1%,
consists mainly of marketing rights and interest earned.
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Year ended March 31 ($ millions)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff
Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff
Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Other revenue
Total Direct Route Revenue
Indirect Route Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy
Total Route Revenue
Other general revenue
Total Revenue

Our largest revenue source is vehicle and passenger tariffs. The
price cap increase authorized by the Commissioner was 7.3% on the
Major Routes and 4.0% on all other routes effective April 1, 2008,
starting from a level which included fuel surcharges in place at
March 31, 2008. On April 1, we implemented tariff increases in line
with these price cap adjustments. On each subsequent April 1 of the
four-year term, the price cap will increase by 2.7% plus 0.49 times
the latest reported annual increase in the Consumer Price Index
(British Columbia) on the Major Routes and 5.7% plus 0.73 times
the Consumer Price Index (British Columbia) on all other routes.
The price caps increased by 3.74% on the Major Routes and 7.25%
on all other routes on April 1, 2009.
From time to time, we utilize promotional fare incentives designed
to stimulate growth in trafﬁc or direct trafﬁc towards our less busy
sailings. In calculating the price cap, vehicle and passenger tariffs
are combined. The utilization of promotional fare incentives and the
effects of being over or under the price cap may cause the average
vehicle and passenger tariff rate to be under or over the allowed
increase in any one period.
Both vehicle trafﬁc and passenger trafﬁc have declined from the
prior year. Dramatically higher vehicle fuel prices earlier in the year,
lower levels of tourism, and the decline within the British Columbia
and local economies have contributed to this reduction.
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2009

2008

2007

8,130,356
269.1

8,578,703
240.6

8,521,915
227.3

20,727,493
160.0
19.3
76.4
20.7
545.5

21,788,461
141.6
17.3
77.4
24.0
500.9

21,664,953
135.9
16.0
71.0
23.5
473.7

105.2
26.3
677.0
4.8

105.5
25.8
632.2
8.5

92.4
25.3
591.4
4.9

681.8

640.7

596.3

On December 19, 2008, a fare reduction agreement was made with
the Province to provide $19.6 million in funding to allow a 33%
reduction on fares for all routes during the months of December
2008 and January 2009 and for our Prince Rupert-Skidegate route
during February 2009. Fares were reduced and this $19.6 million
was recorded in tariff revenue. This fare reduction was expected
to stimulate trafﬁc; however, trafﬁc in the month of December
was negatively impacted by three weeks of severe weather
conditions which resulted in a 10% decrease in trafﬁc.
As a result of the dramatic increase in fuel prices over the ﬁrst part
of ﬁscal 2009, fuel surcharges were implemented on August 1, 2008.
Subsequently, approval was received from the Commissioner to
reduce these fuel surcharges by 50% on November 4, 2008, in
order to reﬂect a drop in fuel prices. These fuel surcharges were
further reduced to zero on the Major Routes on December 19, 2008
and the Other Routes on December 5, 2008. On February 12, 2009,
fuel rebates of up to 5% were put into effect on many of our routes
with the exception of our Major and Northern routes due to
balances in the deferred fuel cost accounts for these routes.
Year to year changes for the past two ﬁscal years for the Major,
Northern and Other Routes are discussed separately on the
following pages.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Year to Year Comparison of Revenues 2009 – 2008

MAJOR ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff
Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff
Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Parking
Assured loading
Other revenue
Total Direct Route Revenue
Gross margin – catering & on-board

Both vehicle trafﬁc and passenger trafﬁc decreased in ﬁscal 2009
from the prior year. The impact on total tariff revenue of these
lower trafﬁc levels was more than offset by the increase in average
tariffs. The increase in average tariff revenue per vehicle was $8.38
or 18.0% while the increase in average tariff revenue per passenger
was $1.80 or 19.5%. Most of this increase represents fuel surcharges
previously paid by customers and credited to fuel cost deferral
accounts, which are now included in tariff revenue by order of the
Commissioner. During ﬁscal 2008, these surcharges paid by customers
amounted to $24.1 million. The April 1, 2008 price cap increase on
the Major Routes was 7.3% starting from a level which included fuel
surcharges in place at March 31, 2008. The higher average fares,
partially offset by the decrease in trafﬁc resulted in a total increase
of $34.2 million in tariff revenue.
Included in tariff revenue is $15.0 million ($9.6 million for vehicles
and $5.4 million for passengers) in funding provided by the
Province to allow a 33% reduction of fares during the months
of December 2008 and January 2009.

2009

2008

Increase

(Decrease)

3,696,322
203,192

3,912,269
182,280

(215,947)
20,912

(5.5%)
11.5%

10,664,158
117,617

11,304,042
104,292

(639,884)
13,325

(5.7%)
12.8%

9,907
62,302
12,038
3,229
2,040
1,538
411,863

8,790
63,785
14,035
3,110
2,662
1,209
380,163

1,117
(1,483)
(1,997)
119
(622)
329
31,700

12.7%
(2.3%)
(14.2%)
3.8%
(23.4%)
27.2%
8.3%

38,102

39,115

(1,013)

(2.6%)

Social program fees are reimbursements from the Province of
discounts provided on fares for BC seniors, students travelling to
and from school, persons with disabilities and persons travelling
under the Medical Travel Assistance Program. These fees have
increased mainly as a result of higher fares.
All of our vessels that provide service on our Major Routes have a
gift shop and options for food service. In ﬁscal 2009, the average
spending per passenger for food services increased by 4.2% while
the average spending per passenger for gift shop items remained
at the same level. The increase in average spending per passenger
was more than offset by the reduction in revenue caused by lower
trafﬁc levels.
Fees for reservations and assured loading revenue also declined
as a result of lower trafﬁc levels. Parking revenue increased while
other revenue decreased as a result of reduced video and vending
revenues partially offset by retail commissions.
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NORTHERN ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff

2009

2008

31,739
8,253

33,789
7,053

(2,050)
1,200

(6.1%)
17.0%

Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff

93,964
7,233

101,751
6,282

(7,787)
951

(7.7%)
15.1%

Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Stateroom rental
Hostling 2 & other
Total Direct Route Revenue

565
2,237
69
783
211
19,351

581
2,324
80
964
210
17,494

(16)
(87)
(11)
(181)
1
1,857

(2.8%)
(3.7%)
(13.8%)
(18.8%)
0.5%
10.6%

Indirect Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy

25,283
4,463

27,350
4,389

(2,067)
74

(7.6%)
1.7%

Total Route Revenue

49,097

49,233

(136)

(0.3%)

1,524

1,246

278

22.3%

Gross margin – catering & on-board
2

Increase

(Decrease)

Loading and unloading of commercial trailers that are dropped off for transportation on a ferry route.

Our Northern Routes consist of three regulated routes operating on the British Columbia coast north of Port Hardy on Vancouver Island.
FEDERAL-PROVINCIAL
SUBSIDY
9%

CUSTOMER
REVENUE
38%

TRANSPORTATION FEES &
FARE REDUCTION AGREEMENT
52%
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SOCIAL
PROGRAM
FEES
1%

Fiscal 2009 revenue from our Northern Routes consisted
of 38% from customers and 62% from the Province
(1% social program fees, 52% transportation fees and fare
reduction agreement, and 9% from payments under the
Federal-Provincial subsidy agreement).

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Both vehicle trafﬁc and passenger trafﬁc decreased from the prior year. The impact on total tariff revenue of these lower trafﬁc levels
was more than offset by the increase in average tariffs. The average tariff revenue per vehicle increased $51.29 or 24.6%. The average
passenger tariff revenue increase was $15.24 or 24.7%. Most of this increase represents fuel surcharges previously paid by customers and
credited to fuel cost deferral accounts, which are now included in tariff revenue by order of the Commissioner. During ﬁscal 2008, these
surcharges paid by customers amounted to $2.2 million. The April 1, 2008 price cap increase on the Northern Routes was 4.0% starting
from a level which included fuel surcharges in place at March 31, 2008. The higher average tariff, partially offset by lower trafﬁc, resulted
in a total tariff revenue increase of $2.2 million.
Included in tariff revenue is $0.3 million ($0.2 million for vehicles and $0.1 million for passengers) in funding provided by the Province
to allow a 33% reduction of fares on all Northern Routes during the months of December 2008 and January 2009 and for our
Prince Rupert-Skidegate route during February 2009.
We receive ferry transportation fees for these routes under the Coastal Ferry Services Contract which relate, in part, to the capital cost
of the vessels serving these routes. We were able to obtain an import duties remission for one of these vessels, the Northern Adventure.
The decrease in ferry transportation fees reﬂects, in part, the reduction in the capital cost of this vessel as a result of the import duties
remission and related GST. The Province agreed to pay an amount equal to the fee reduction related to the duty remission ($1.7 million),
which was applied to the deferred fuel cost accounts of the Other Routes.
Reimbursements from the Province for social program fees, revenue from catering and on-board services, fees for reservations,
and stateroom rental have all decreased primarily as a result of lower trafﬁc levels.

OTHER ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff

2009

2008

4,402,295
57,638

4,632,645
51,319

(230,350)
6,319

(5.0%)
12.3%

Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff

9,969,371
35,129

10,382,668
31,004

(413,297)
4,125

(4.0%)
13.3%

8,780
11,128
1,198
421
114,294

7,877
11,276
1,388
361
103,225

903
(148)
(190)
60
11,069

11.5%
(1.3%)
(13.7%)
16.6%
10.7%

79,950
21,830

78,151
21,467

1,799
363

2.3%
1.7%

216,074

202,843

13,231

6.5%

7,111

7,087

24

0.3%

Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Parking & other
Total Direct Route Revenue
Indirect Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy
Total Route Revenue
Gross margin – catering & on-board

Increase

(Decrease)

Our Other Routes consist of 19 regulated routes and eight small unregulated routes primarily serving the northern and southern
Gulf Islands and the Sunshine Coast. One of the regulated routes and all of the unregulated routes are operated under contract by
alternative service providers. We receive fees from the Province for the provision of service on the unregulated routes, which are
included in the ferry transportation fees in the above table.
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FARE
REDUCTION
PROGRAM
2%

FEDERAL-PROVINCIAL
SUBSIDY
10%

CUSTOMER
REVENUE
47%

FERRY
TRANSPORTATION
FEES
37%

SOCIAL
PROGRAM FEES
4%

Both vehicle trafﬁc and passenger trafﬁc decreased from the prior
year. The impact on total tariff revenue of these lower trafﬁc levels
was more than offset by the increase in average tariffs. The increase
in average tariff revenue per vehicle was $2.01 or 18.1% while the
average passenger tariff revenue increase was $0.53 or 17.7%.
Most of this increase represents fuel surcharges previously paid
by customers and credited to fuel cost deferral accounts, which
are now included in tariff revenue by order of the Commissioner.
During ﬁscal 2008, these surcharges paid by customers amounted
to $13.1 million. The April 1, 2008 price cap increase on our other
regulated routes was 4.0% starting from a level which included
fuel surcharges in place at March 31, 2008.
In ﬁscal 2009, we eliminated the sale of prepaid paper tickets on most
of our Other Routes. Redemptions and exchanges of paper tickets to
electronic media exceeded the liability set up at March 31, 2008 by
$3.7 million. In addition, we established a liability of $0.6 million at
March 31, 2009, to provide for further redemptions of prepaid paper
tickets that may be outstanding. This resulted in a total reduction
in tariff revenue of $4.3 million relating to prepaid paper tickets.
The increased average fares, partially offset by the reduction
in trafﬁc levels and the reduction caused by prepaid ticket
redemptions and exchanges, resulted in a total tariff revenue
increase of $10.4 million.
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Fiscal 2009 revenue from our Other Routes consisted of
47% from customers and 53% from the Province (2% fare
reduction agreement, 4% social program fees, 37% ferry
transportation fees, and 10% from payments under the
Federal-Provincial subsidy agreement).

Included in tariff revenue is $4.3 million ($2.7 million for vehicles and
$1.6 million for passengers) in funding provided by the Province to
allow a 33% reduction of fares on these routes during the months
of December 2008 and January 2009.
Reimbursements from the Province for social program fees increased
primarily as a result of higher fares.
During ﬁscal 2008, the Province agreed to reimburse us a maximum
of $1.6 million for the reﬁt of the 23-year-old Nicola, which provides
service on our unregulated Prince Rupert-Lax Kw’alaams route. In
ﬁscal 2009, we recorded a $1.1 million ($0.5 million in ﬁscal 2008)
reduction of maintenance expense, equal to the reﬁt costs incurred
during those periods.
Revenue from catering and on-board services and fees for
reservations decreased primarily as a result of lower trafﬁc levels.
The increase in parking and other income is mainly a result of higher
retail commissions.
Ferry transportation fees are higher as a result of the renegotiated
fees from the Province for the provision of service on our Northern
and Other Routes.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Year to Year Comparison of Revenues 2008 – 2007

MAJOR ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff
Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff
Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Parking
Assured loading
Other revenue
Total Direct Route Revenue
Gross margin – catering & on-board

Revenue on the Major Routes is from customers and related social
program fees, and includes no ferry transportation fees.
Both vehicle trafﬁc and passenger trafﬁc in ﬁscal 2008 increased
over the prior year. The increase in average tariff revenue per
vehicle was $1.64 or 3.6% while the increase in average tariff
revenue per passenger was $0.14 or 1.5%. The increased trafﬁc and
higher average fares resulted in a total increase of $13.3 million in
tariff revenue.
Social program fees are reimbursements from the Province of
discounts provided on fares for BC seniors, students travelling to
and from school, persons with disabilities and persons travelling
under the Medical Travel Assistance Program. These fees increased
as a result of higher program usage and higher fares.

2008

2007

Increase

(Decrease)

3,912,269
182,280

3,826,459
171,998

85,810
10,282

2.2%
6.0%

11,304,042
104,292

11,146,311
101,300

157,731
2,992

1.4%
3.0%

8,790
63,785
14,035
3,110
2,662
1,209
380,163

8,284
59,009
12,389
2,864
2,075
4,107
362,026

506
4,776
1,646
246
587
(2,898)
18,137

6.1%
8.1%
13.3%
8.6%
28.3%
(70.6%)
5.0%

39,115

35,536

3,579

10.1%

as a result of higher spending per passenger and the higher
number of passengers carried. Gift shop sales also increased with
the successful introduction of new apparel, gift products and a
2010 Olympic line.
Fees for reservations increased substantially as a result of increased
usage. Assured loading revenue also increased markedly as a result
of both increased prices and increased usage.
In May 2005, we ceased sales of paper assured loading tickets and
implemented the Coast Card, a plastic card with a magnetic strip,
similar to a bank card. A $3.1 million reduction of our deferred
revenue liability relating to historical sales of paper tickets was
made in ﬁscal 2007 and is included in other customer revenue
in the above table.

All of our vessels that provide service on our Major Routes have a
gift shop and options for food service. The most signiﬁcant increase
in revenues from catering and on-board services was food service,
which increased $3.6 million ($3.2 million increase in gross margin)
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NORTHERN ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff

2008

2007

Increase

(Decrease)

33,789
7,053

25,854
5,366

7,935
1,687

30.7%
31.4%

101,751
6,282

78,159
4,495

23,592
1,787

30.2%
39.8%

Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Stateroom rental
Hostling & other
Total Direct Route Revenue

581
2,324
80
964
210
17,494

380
1,445
44
359
184
12,273

201
879
36
605
26
5,221

52.9%
60.8%
81.8%
168.5%
14.1%
42.5%

Indirect Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy

27,350
4,389

14,500
4,296

12,850
93

88.6%
2.2%

Total Route Revenue

49,233

31,069

18,164

58.5%

1,246

710

536

75.5%

Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff

Gross margin – catering & on-board

Our northern routes consist of three regulated routes operating on the British Columbia coast north of Port Hardy on Vancouver Island.
Trafﬁc levels increased since the resumption of full service following the loss of the Queen of the North, but did not reach the levels
experienced during ﬁscal 2006.

FERRY
TRANSPORTATION
FEES
56%

FEDERAL
PROVINCIAL
SUBSIDY
9%

CUSTOMER
REVENUE
34%

SOCIAL
PROGRAM
FEES
1%

Fiscal 2008 revenue from our Northern Routes consists of
34% from customers and 66% from the Province (1% from
social program fees, 56% from ferry transportation fees and
9% from payments under the Federal-Provincial subsidy
agreement). The revenue from ferry transportation fees
increased 88% from ﬁscal 2007, reﬂecting resumption of
full service with deployment of the new Northern Adventure
on our northern routes.

The average tariff revenue per vehicle increased $1.19 or 0.6%. The average passenger tariff revenue increase was $4.23 or 7.4%.
The increased trafﬁc and higher average tariff resulted in a total tariff revenue increase of $3.5 million.
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We receive ferry transportation fees for these routes under the Coastal Ferry Services Contract. The increase in fees reﬂects the negotiated
increase resulting from the deployment of the Northern Adventure, which commenced operations on March 31, 2007.
Reimbursements from the Province for social program fees increased as a result of resumption of regular service and higher fares.
The increase in catering and on-board revenue resulted from the resumption of regular service and from higher food and gift shop sales per
passenger. Stateroom revenue, fees for reservations and hostling have increased primarily as a result of the resumption of regular service.

OTHER ROUTES
Fiscal year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff
Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff
Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Reservation fees
Parking & other
Total Direct Route Revenue
Indirect Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy
Total Route Revenue
Gross margin – catering & on-board

2008

2007

Increase

(Decrease)

4,632,645
51,319

4,669,602
49,948

(36,957)
1,371

(0.8%)
2.7%

10,382,668
31,004

10,440,483
30,122

(57,815)
882

(0.6%)
2.9%

7,877
11,276
1,388
361
103,225

7,302
10,552
1,213
352
99,489

575
724
175
9
3,736

7.9%
6.9%
14.4%
2.6%
3.8%

78,151
21,467

77,929
21,013

222
454

0.3%
2.2%

202,843

198,431

4,412

2.2%

7,087

6,533

554

8.5%

Our Other Routes consist of 19 regulated routes and eight small unregulated routes primarily serving the northern and southern Gulf Islands
and the Sunshine Coast. One of the regulated routes and all of the unregulated routes are operated under contract by alternative service
providers. We receive fees from the Province for the provision of service on the unregulated routes, which are included in the ferry
transportation fees in the above table.

FEDERAL-PROVINCIAL
SUBSIDY
11%

FERRY
TRANSPORTATION
FEES
38%

CUSTOMER
REVENUE
47%

SOCIAL
PROGRAM FEES
4%

Fiscal 2008 revenue from our Other Routes consists
of 47% from customers and 53% from the Province
(4% from social program fees, 38% from ferry
transportation fees and 11% from payments under
the Federal-Provincial subsidy agreement).
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We experienced a decrease in vehicle and passenger trafﬁc levels
on our Other Routes in ﬁscal 2008. More than 27% of the vehicle
and passenger trafﬁc decrease was as a result of a major reﬁt of the
Mill Bay, which services our Mill Bay-Brentwood Bay route. Service
on this route was suspended for almost two months in the ﬁrst
quarter to allow for the reﬁt. A major reﬁt of the Mill Bay is
scheduled to occur every four years.
The increase in average tariff revenue per vehicle was $0.38 or
3.6% while the average passenger tariff revenue increase was
$0.10 or 3.5%. The increased average fares, partially offset by
the reduction in trafﬁc levels, resulted in a total tariff revenue
increase of $2.3 million.

During ﬁscal 2008, the Province agreed to reimburse us a maximum
of $1.6 million for the reﬁt of the 23-year-old Nicola, which provides
service on our unregulated Prince Rupert-Lax Kw’alaams route. At
March 31, 2008, we recorded a $0.5 million reduction of maintenance
expense, equal to the reﬁt costs incurred to that date.
Increases in catering and on-board revenue resulted from higher
food and gift shop sales per passenger and additional sales from
an expanded gift shop on the Queen of Surrey, which operates
between Horseshoe Bay and Langdale.
Fees for reservations have increased as a result of higher usage.
The decrease in other income is mainly a result of additional
revenue from charters in the ﬁrst quarter of the prior year.

Reimbursements from the Province for social program fees
increased as a result of higher program usage and higher fares.

EXPENSES
Expenses for the past three ﬁscal years are summarized in the tables below.
Year ended March 31 ($ millions)
Operating expenses
Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Total operations, maintenance & administration
% Increase
Cost of retail goods sold
Amortization

2009

2008

375.8
77.2
49.2
502.2
6.2%
28.9
93.1

334.7
88.4
49.8
472.9
6.4%
29.9
66.8

309.1
84.9
50.6
444.6
4.9%
28.3
55.5

Total expenses
% Increase

624.2
9.6%

569.6
7.8%

528.4
4.8%

2009

2008

2007

56.9
9.0
0.8
0.1
(2.4)
(14.3)
50.1
(0.3)
(1.2)

45.3
0.6
0.6
(0.9)
(2.1)
(10.4)
33.1
(0.1)
1.0

31.0
–
1.2
(1.5)
(4.7)
(6.7)
19.3
(0.4)
0.2

48.6

34.0

19.1

Year ended March 31 ($ millions)
Interest and other ($ millions)
Interest expense
Bond interest
KfW loans
Short-term loans
Interest on deferred accounts
Structured Financing Facility Program
Capitalized interest
Total interest expense
(Gain) on foreign exchange
(Gain) loss on disposal of capital assets
Total interest and other
18
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Deferred Fuel Cost Accounts
In September 2004, the Commissioner issued an order authorizing
our use of deferred fuel cost accounts to mitigate the effect of
volatility in fuel oil prices on our earnings.
Commencing April 1, 2004, the Commissioner established set prices
for fuel for each of the years until March 31, 2008. At the start of
each ﬁscal year, the set prices increased by the Consumer Price Index
(Vancouver). On March 30, 2007, the Commissioner proposed the
continued use of inﬂation-adjusted set prices and deferred fuel cost
accounts for the second performance term beginning April 1, 2008.
For the Northern Routes, the per litre cost of fuel included in the
determination of price caps (the set price) and one-half of the ﬁrst
5 cents per litre of difference between the actual price paid per
litre (including realized hedge gains and losses) and the set price
are recorded in expense. The remaining one-half of the ﬁrst 5 cents
per litre of difference is recorded in the deferred fuel cost accounts.
Any difference beyond 5 cents per litre is recovered from or paid to
the Province. The total to be recovered from the Province relating to
fuel costs on the Northern Routes was $2.4 million for ﬁscal 2009.
For all other routes, differences in fuel costs arising from our actual
price paid per litre (including realized hedge gains and losses)
being higher or lower than the set price included in base tariffs less
one-half of the ﬁrst 5 cents per litre of difference are charged or
credited to the deferred fuel cost accounts.
There is a mechanism in place to allow price cap adjustments to
provide for implementation of fuel surcharges or rebates when
appropriate. As a result of the dramatic increase in fuel prices over
the ﬁrst part of ﬁscal 2009, fuel surcharges were implemented on
August 1, 2008 on all but the Northern Routes. In November 2008,
these fuel surcharges were reduced by 50% and subsequently, in
December we removed all remaining surcharges. Fuel rebates of up
to 5% were implemented on the Other Routes in February 2009. At
this time, fuel rebates cannot be offered on the Major Routes due
to the balances in the deferred fuel cost accounts. In ﬁscal 2009, we
collected $16.5 million ($39.4 million in ﬁscal 2008) in fuel surcharges,
net of rebates, from customers. These amounts were applied to the
outstanding deferred fuel cost account balances.
Under an agreement reached during ﬁscal 2008, the Province agreed
to pay $1.3 million for ﬁscal 2008 and $1.7 million for ﬁscal 2009,
which were applied to the deferred fuel cost accounts. This beneﬁt
is equal to the amount by which annual ferry transportation fees
payable by the Province were reduced as a result of the lower cost
of the Northern Adventure due to remission and refund of import
duties paid. These reductions in the deferred fuel cost accounts
will beneﬁt our customers through reduced fuel surcharges or
earlier fuel rebates.

The Commissioner considered $18.5 million of unrecovered ﬁrst
performance term deferred fuel costs in determination of the price
caps set for the four years beginning April 1, 2008, for which recovery
will occur over this four year period. The actual closing balance in the
deferral accounts at March 31, 2008 was $11.9 million. The difference
in these amounts, a credit of $6.6 million, formed the opening
balances of the deferred fuel cost accounts for the second
performance term.
The balances in our deferred fuel cost accounts totalled $16.0 million
at March 31, 2009 ($11.9 million at March 31, 2008), including
$0.9 million in unrealized fuel hedge losses ($1.8 million unrealized
fuel hedge gains at March 31, 2008).
All of the Commissioner’s Orders can be viewed at
www.bcferrycommission.com.

Year to Year Comparison of Expenses 2009 – 2008
The $41.1 million increase in ﬁscal 2009 operations expenses
consists of:
UÊ $40.9 million increase in fuel expense reﬂecting higher set prices,
as ordered by the Commissioner, totalling $42.4 million, partially
offset by $1.5 million in lower fuel consumption;
UÊ $4.0 million increase in wages and beneﬁts, including:
UÊ

Approximately $6.8 million in wage rate increases averaging
about 3% in accordance with the existing Collective Agreement;

UÊ

$2.0 million increase in beneﬁt costs;

UÊ

$0.5 million in training and familiarization; less

UÊ

Reductions in incentive compensation, costs of illness and other
paid leave, and other savings, totalling $5.3 million.

These increases in operations expenses were partially offset by cost
reduction initiatives which included the reduction of management
and other shore-based positions and other discretionary expenditures,
and $1.2 million in funding from the Province for reimbursement of
costs to reinstate previously eliminated off-peak sailings.
The $11.2 million decrease in maintenance costs reﬂects variations in
vessel reﬁt scheduling and the reduced costs of maintaining a newer
ﬂeet, partially offset by increased maintenance on our terminals. We
have completed 16 reﬁts in ﬁscal 2009 with a further two in progress
at March 31, 2009.
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Administration expenses decreased $0.6 million mainly as a result
of reduced consulting, travel, marketing, advertising and other
discretionary expenditures, partially offset by restructuring costs.
Amortization increased a total of $26.3 million mainly as a result
of additional assets coming into service, including $16.4 million
due to the Coastal Renaissance, the Coastal Inspiration, and the
Coastal Celebration entering service in March 2008, June 2008
and November 2008, respectively; and $4.6 million in amortization
of deferred fuel cost balances. The Commissioner has included
$18.5 million of deferred performance term one fuel costs in
determining the price caps for the four-year second performance
term commencing April 1, 2008.
Interest expenses increased $17.0 million primarily due to:

U $3.3 million increase in safety and security costs, including
$2.0 million for the introduction of our SailSafe program — a joint
initiative with the BC Ferry & Marine Workers’ Union to identify
areas and methods for enhancing current safety practices.
These increases were partially offset by:
U $3.1 million reduction in contracted services relating to the
replacement service costs incurred in ﬁscal 2007 on the
Northern Routes.

U $11.2 million additional interest relating to our $200 million
and $140 million bond series issued in January 2008 and
December 2008 respectively; and

The $3.5 million increase in maintenance costs due to variations
in vessel reﬁt scheduling and the age of our ﬂeet. We completed
26 vessel reﬁts in ﬁscal 2008 with a further two in progress at
March 31, 2008. We have also increased maintenance on our terminals.

U $8.4 million additional interest relating to our two KfW loans
which partially ﬁnance the purchase of the Coastal Inspiration
and Coastal Celebration; and partially offset by

Administration expenses decreased $0.8 million mainly as a result
of a reduction in telecommunication costs.

U $3.9 million of additional interest capitalized reﬂecting our
investment in revitalizing our ﬂeet and terminal facilities.

Amortization increased a total of $11.3 million as a result of
additional assets coming into service, including $5.3 million due
to the Northern Adventure entering service in March 2007.

During the third quarter, agreements were completed that will
provide us with a further $10.7 million of interest rate support
through the Structured Financing Facility Program, offered by
the Government of Canada, relating to the purchase of the new
intermediate vessel, the Island Sky, and the life-extension of the
Queen of New Westminster. During ﬁscal 2009, $2.4 million of this
amount was recorded as a reduction in interest expense and
$3.6 million as a reduction of capitalized interest.

Year to Year Comparison of Expenses 2008 – 2007
The $25.6 million increase in ﬁscal 2008 operations expenses reﬂects:
U $20.5 million increase in wages and beneﬁts, including:
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U $4.6 million increase in fuel expense reﬂecting the
resumption of regular northern service with the addition
of the Northern Adventure, and an increase in set prices
of 1.86% as ordered by the Commissioner; and

UÊ

Approximately $8.0 million in wage rate increases averaging
about 4%;

UÊ

$4.1 million increase in labour on the Northern Routes with
resumption of full service;

UÊ

$3.5 million increase in beneﬁt costs;

UÊ

$2.5 million in overtime costs; and

UÊ

$2.0 million in additional training costs;

Interest expenses increased $13.8 million primarily due to:
U $12.1 million additional interest relating to our $250 million
bond series issued in March 2007;
U $2.4 million additional interest relating to our $200 million
bond series issued in January 2008; and
U $2.6 million reduction in funds received from the Structured
Financing Facility Program offered by the Government of Canada.
We received $2.1 million in remaining support for the
Queen of Nanaimo and Queen of Surrey mid-life upgrades
during ﬁscal 2008.
These increases were partially offset by $3.7 million of additional
interest capitalized reﬂecting our investment in revitalizing our
ﬂeet and terminal facilities.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We fund our operations and capital acquisitions with cash ﬂow
generated from operations, as well as bank ﬁnancing and debt
issues. With the receipt of the $108 million KfW loan in January 2009,
our major ﬁnancing requirements are complete. Our ongoing capital
expenditures are expected to be signiﬁcantly lower than in the
previous few years. Over the next ﬁve years, we expect our cash
requirements will be met through operational cash ﬂows and by
accessing our credit facility from time to time. At March 31, 2009
our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totalled $12 million.
We target maintaining a strong investment-grade credit rating to
allow capital market access at reasonable interest rates. Our credit
ratings at March 31, 2009 were A low (DBRS) and A- (Standard &
Poor’s) and both rating agencies have assessed our rating outlook
as positive.

Long-Term Debt
In May 2004 we entered into a master trust indenture. This indenture
established common security and a set of common covenants for the
beneﬁt of our lenders. Our ﬁnancing plan encompasses an ongoing
program capable of accommodating a variety of corporate debt
instruments and borrowings ranking pari passu. We do not currently
view common share equity as a potential source of capital and have
no present intention of offering common shares to the public or
other investors.
In the last three years we completed three private placements of
senior secured bond offerings. These bonds bear interest payable
semi-annually. The details of each are:
U $250 million issued March 2007 with interest at $5.02%,
due March 2037;

We are also party to a credit agreement with a syndicate of
Canadian banks that is secured under the master trust indenture.
Under this agreement, we have available a revolving facility in the
amount of $155 million. In ﬁscal 2008 we negotiated an amendment
that provides us with an option to request a one-year extension
annually. In May 2008, we requested and received a one-year
extension to this agreement. The facility, maturing May 12, 2013, is
available to fund capital expenditures and other general corporate
purposes. At March 31, 2009, we had drawn $18 million on this
credit facility.
In ﬁscal 2006 we executed two loan agreements with KfW. These
agreements are secured under the master trust indenture. The
agreements allow us to borrow up to $90 million per loan, with
the net proceeds to be used for partial ﬁnancing of the purchase
of two of the three Super C-class vessels. In February 2008, to
coincide with conditional acceptance of the Coastal Inspiration,
we received $90 million in proceeds under the loan agreements.
In May 2008, to coincide with conditional acceptance of the
Coastal Celebration, we received a further $90 million in proceeds
under the loan agreements. These are 12-year amortizing loans, at
a ﬁxed interest rate of 4.98%, payable quarterly. The agreements
defer the principal payments for the ﬁrst three years to a second
tranche on which interest is payable at a ﬂoating rate and the
principal is due at maturity.
In January 2009, to coincide with conditional acceptance of the
Northern Expedition, we received $108 million in proceeds under
a further loan agreement with KfW. This is a 12-year amortizing
loan, at a ﬁxed interest rate of 2.95%, payable semi-annually. The
proceeds were applied toward the purchase of the new vessel.

U $200 million issued January 2008 with interest at 5.58%,
due January 2038; and
U $140 million issued December 2008 with interest at 6.21%,
due December 2013.
The net proceeds of the March 2007 issue were used to repay our
credit facility while all three offerings were used to fund capital
expenditures, the related debt service reserve and for general
corporate purposes.
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Our long-term debt is summarized below:
Amount outstanding as at March 31 ($ millions)
5.74% Senior Secured Bonds
6.25% Senior Secured Bonds
5.02% Senior Secured Bonds
5.58% Senior Secured Bonds
6.21% Senior Secured Bonds
4.98% KfW Loan
4.98% KfW Loan
2.95% KfW Loan

DUE

2009

2008

2007

May 2014
October 2034
March 2037
January 2038
December 2013
March 2020
June 2020
January 2021

250
250
250
200
140
90
90
108

250
250
250
200
–
90
–
–

250
250
250
–
–
–
–
–

1,378

1,040

750

Terminal Leases
We entered into a master agreement with the BC Transportation
Financing Authority (BCTFA) effective March 31, 2003, as part
of the restructuring of our company. In return for the transfer
of ownership interest in all ferry terminals from the former
British Columbia Ferry Corporation to the BCTFA at the time
of the corporate restructuring, we received recognition of
prepayment of rent under terminal leases.

If we fail to meet our obligations under the terminal leases or
default under the Coastal Ferry Services Contract, the BCTFA may
at its option re-enter and take possession of the ferry terminal
properties and at its option terminate the leases. The BCTFA
has entered into an acknowledgement agreement with the
Bondholders’ Trustee, which sets out certain limitations on the
use of this option.

The leases grant us exclusive access and use of ferry terminal
properties for a period of 60 years commencing April 1, 2003. The
leases are renewable for an additional period of 20 years at a total
cost of $20 per lease provided the Coastal Ferry Services Contract
is renewed. We must manage, maintain and develop the terminals
at our own cost.

In addition to the above, we have entered into a 40-year lease
agreement with the Town of Sidney, B.C., to manage an existing
ferry terminal owned by the town. This terminal is the western end
of a Washington State Ferries route connecting Vancouver Island
with Anacortes, WA.

Since the original transfer, a total of $11.7 million of additional
lands at Horseshoe Bay, Swartz Bay and Departure Bay have been
added to the existing terminal leases in exchange for highway
improvements. During ﬁscal 2009 we made improvements to
roadways approaching the Departure Bay terminal in exchange
for increased lands under the existing land lease.
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Other Long-Term Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of accrued post-retirement
and post-employment beneﬁts.
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Sources & Uses of Cash
Our liquidity needs are met through a variety of sources, including cash generated from operations, issuance of bonds, and borrowings
under our credit facility. Our primary uses of funds are operational expenses, capital asset acquisitions and upgrades, and interest payments
on our long-term debt.
Sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for ﬁscal 2009 and 2008 are summarized in the table below.
Year ended March 31 ($ millions)

2009

2008

9.0

37.1

Net income before extraordinary gain
Items not involving cash:
Amortization
Other non-cash charges
Regulatory costs deferred
Change in operating working capital
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash provided by ﬁnancing activities
Cash used in investing activities

93.1
(0.7)
(6.0)
(6.8)
88.6
347.4
(539.9)

66.8
1.5
10.5
8.7
124.6
256.5
(437.6)

Total (decrease) in cash

(103.9)

(56.5)

In ﬁscal 2009, cash provided by operating activities included an
increase in non-cash working capital of $6.8 million. This increase
in working capital was primarily due to:
U $11.6 million reduction in payables and accrued liabilities relating
to reﬁt and maintenance and other operating activities;
U $1.3 million reduction in accrued employee costs;
U $0.9 million increase in prepaid expenses primarily due to
$0.5 million in service contracts and $0.3 million in insurance; and
U $0.7 million reduction in regulatory liabilities reﬂecting the return
to customers through discount fare promotions of $3.6 million
tariff revenues collected in excess of price caps in the last quarter
of ﬁscal 2008, partially offset by $2.9 million in excess tariff
revenues at March 31, 2009.
The above items, which increased working capital, were partially
offset by:
U $4.1 million decrease in accounts receivable primarily due to:
U

U

$2.0 million in commercial travel cards receivable due to lower
commercial trafﬁc and elimination of Coquihalla tolls by the
Province. We administered collection of these tolls from certain
of our commercial customers for a fee;

U $2.7 million increase in interest payable relating to the incremental
long-term debt;
U $0.7 million increase in deferred revenue; and
U $0.2 million reduction in total inventories.
Cash provided by ﬁnancing activities reﬂects issuance of the
second $90 million and the $108 million loans with KfW, the
$140 million Series 08-2 bond issuance, and the $18 million draw
on our $155 million credit facility at March 31, 2009.
Cash used in investing activities consists mainly of $530.3 million used
to purchase capital assets, $8.2 million used to fund debt service
reserves on new debt issues and $5.1 million used to acquire
additional land under long-term land lease. The signiﬁcant capital
transactions are described below in “Investing in Our Capital Assets”.

$2.5 million in social program fees receivable; and
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INVESTING IN OUR CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital expenditures in ﬁscal 2009 totalled $493.9 million. This level of expenditure reﬂects signiﬁcant investments in our ﬂeet,
terminals and information systems to replace aging infrastructure and to increase customer service and operating efﬁciency.
Total capital expenditures were:
($ millions)
New vessels, vessel upgrades and modiﬁcations
Terminal marine structures
Terminal and building upgrades and equipment
Computer hardware and software development

424.4
31.0
24.3
14.2

Total capital expenditures

493.9

New Vessels, Vessel Upgrades and Modifications
Capital expenditures for new vessels, vessel upgrades and vessel modiﬁcations in ﬁscal 2009 included the following:
($ millions)
New northern vessel, the Northern Expedition
New Coastal Inspiration and Coastal Celebration
Life extension of the Queen of New Westminster
New intermediate vessel, the Island Sky
Upgrade and replacement of propulsion and safety equipment on the Quinsam, Quinitsa and Queen of Capilano
Completion of the Northern Adventure with post-acquisition modiﬁcations
Refurbishment of car deck on the Powell River Queen
Engine overhaul on the Spirit of British Columbia
Two-year project to install Voyage Data Recorders and navigational aids and upgrade vessel connectivity
Sewage treatment upgrade program for 13 vessels
Other projects

175.2
150.5
36.6
26.0
12.4
5.3
5.2
3.6
3.5
3.0
3.1
424.4

Major Upgrade of the Queen of New Westminster
The Queen of New Westminster, which formerly operated on
our Duke Point–Tsawwassen route, was redeployed on our
Tsawwassen–Swartz Bay route on April 3, 2009, following an
extensive $54 million refurbishment project. The project included
signiﬁcant upgrades for structural ﬁre protection; a new marine
evacuation system; major electrical upgrades; boiler, auxiliary
generator and emergency generator renewal; and propulsion
controls upgrade. This project has extended the life of the
45-year-old vessel for a further 13 years of service.
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Coastal Renaissance, Coastal Inspiration
and Coastal Celebration
In September 2004 we entered into contracts with Flensburger
Schiffbau-Gesellschaft (FSG) shipyard in Germany to build three new
Super C-class vessels that are the largest double-ended vessels in the
world. Each vessel measures 160 metres in length and has a capacity
of 1,650 passengers and crew and approximately 370 vehicles.
These new vessels feature a diesel-electric propulsion system that
is one of the largest and most economical of its kind in the world.
These Super C-class vessels have replaced aging vessels that were
providing service on our Major Routes.
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The contracts with FSG were design-build and ﬁxed price, totalling $325 million. The contracts provided us with substantial guarantees
related to delivery dates, performance criteria, cost certainty and quality of construction. These contracts, together with import duties
and taxes of approximately $112 million, form the majority of the total project budget of $542 million. We are currently seeking a
remission of the import duties and related GST of approximately $86 million, but are uncertain as to the outcome of this application.
The project for these three new state-of-the-art vessels was completed on schedule and under budget.
Construction of the Coastal Renaissance started in August 2006 and the vessel was launched in Germany in April 2007. It commenced
service on the Departure Bay-Horseshoe Bay route on March 8, 2008, following crew training and familiarization in the operation of this
new vessel.
Construction of the Coastal Inspiration commenced in November 2006 and the vessel was launched in August 2007. On June 16, 2008,
it commenced service on the Duke Point-Tsawwassen route, following crew training and familiarization.
Construction of the Coastal Celebration began in April 2007 and the vessel was launched in December 2007. It commenced service on
the Swartz Bay-Tsawwassen route on November 21, 2008, following crew training and familiarization.

Northern Expedition
On May 18, 2009, the new Northern Expedition made its inaugural voyage on our northern route through the Inside Passage from
Port Hardy to Prince Rupert. This 150-metre vessel, which replaced the 43-year-old Queen of Prince Rupert, has 55 staterooms and has a
capacity of up to 130 vehicles and 600 passengers. A $133 million contract with FSG to build this new vessel was signed in July 2006. The
import duties and taxes on this contract total approximately $43 million. We are seeking a remission of the import duties and related GST
of approximately $35 million, but are uncertain as to the outcome of our application. This design-build, ﬁxed price contract (the majority
of the total project budget of $200 million) provided us with substantial guarantees for delivery dates, performance criteria, cost
certainty and quality of construction. The project was completed on schedule and on budget.

Island Sky
On February 19, 2009, the Island Sky, our new intermediate class ferry commenced service on the Earls Cove–Saltery Bay route. This
102-metre vessel has a capacity of up to 125 vehicles and 600 passengers. A $47 million ﬁxed price design-build contract with Vancouver
Shipyards constituted the majority of the total project budget of $57 million. The project was completed on budget but later than
scheduled as we took delivery from Vancouver Shipyards eight months later than the contractual delivery date. The Island Sky features
a new state-of-the-art lifesaving system as well as a variety of amenities, including a lounge and snack bar for passengers. This new
intermediate vessel has allowed for the retirement and sale of the 48-year-old Queen of Tsawwassen.

Terminal Marine Structures
We continued to reinvest in our terminal infrastructure during ﬁscal 2009. We made signiﬁcant upgrades to many of our terminals and
made preparations for the arrival of the new Super C-class vessels and the Northern Expedition. Over the next ﬁve years, we plan to invest
approximately $170 million in our terminals for building and marine structure upgrades.
Capital expenditures on terminal marine structures for ﬁscal 2009 included the following:
Terminal
Prince Rupert
Skidegate
Bear Cove
McLoughlin Bay
Duke Point
Richmond
Various

Description
New pontoon, ramp, ramp abutment and dolphin
New pontoon, ramp, ramp abutment and two dolphins
New pontoon, ramp and ramp abutment
Modiﬁcations to existing pontoon and new ﬂoating lead
Berth upgrades to accommodate Super C-class vessels
Berth replacement and modiﬁcations
Other projects

($ millions)
7.3
7.1
5.8
2.6
2.3
1.3
4.6
31.0
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Marine upgrades at Skidegate, Prince Rupert, Bear Cove and McLoughlin Bay have a total budget of $31 million of which $7.5 million
was completed in the prior year. These upgrades were completed to correspond with the in-service date for the Northern Expedition.
We made every effort to ensure minimal service disruption for affected communities; however, it was necessary to temporarily suspend
the Prince Rupert–Skidegate ferry service for a period of three weeks. We provided tug, barge and plane services to and from the
Queen Charlotte Islands during this time.

Terminal and Building Upgrades and Equipment
In addition to upgrades to terminal marine structures, many other terminal upgrades are underway to provide better service to our customers
and improve operational efﬁciencies. Capital expenditures on terminal and building upgrades and equipment included the following:

($ millions)
12.6
5.2
3.3
0.6
0.5
2.1

Departure Bay terminal
Security upgrades
Vehicles, machinery & equipment
Swartz Bay terminal
Richmond shipyard
Other terminal projects

24.3

The most signiﬁcant activity during ﬁscal 2009 has been at our
Departure Bay terminal. A new retail building, the Departure Bay Quay,
and new ticket building have been completed and the intersection
realigned. The holding compound, pick-up and drop-off area, and the
short-term parking are being expanded and a new waiting room
will be built.
At Swartz Bay terminal, the holding compound and pre-ticket area
have been expanded, new ticket booths built, the radar maintenance
building relocated and the exit realigned. In ﬁscal 2010, we plan
to improve our waste water treatment by building independent
equalization storage facilities, a pumping station and a connection
to a local uniﬁed treatment plant.
At nine terminals, mainly serving our Major and Northern Routes, we
continue our multi-year project to upgrade our security. This project
primarily involves fencing, gating, lighting, access controls and closed
circuit television as well as upgrades to foot passenger ticketing areas
and baggage screening. In January 2009, Transport Canada, through
the Marine Security Contribution Program, approved approximately
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$5.5 million of federal funding to help offset our costs of perimeter
security, access control measures, and training. These funds are in
addition to $3.8 million which was previously approved under this
program. The program requires us to apply for reimbursement of
75% of the costs of security enhancements on approved projects
as capital expenditures are incurred. To date, we have applied for
reimbursement of approximately $2.4 million.

Information Technology
Capital expenditures in information technology include computer
hardware and software development to improve operational data
capture and reporting and database security.
Other ongoing projects include enhanced reporting initiatives,
better external and internal communications, replacement of
obsolete technology, and security projects. These projects focus on
obtaining efﬁciencies, improving safety and security, and providing
better service to our customers.
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FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS
This section provides an overview of our ﬁnancial performance for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2008.
The fourth quarter reﬂects a seasonal reduction in trafﬁc levels which we utilize to perform upgrades and major maintenance and reﬁt
programs as well as to undertake mandatory inspections on the majority of our vessels.

Three months ended March 31 ($ millions)

Total revenue
Expenses
Loss from operations
Interest and other
Net loss

Variance
2009

2008

128.5
153.6
(25.1)
13.3
(38.4)

124.2
144.2
(20.0)
10.5
(30.5)

$
4.3
(9.4)
(5.1)
(2.8)
(7.9)

%
3.5%
(6.5%)
(25.5%)
(26.7%)
(25.9%)

Revenue
Our total revenues have increased as shown in the following table.
Increase
$

(Decrease)
%

Three months ended March 31 ($ millions)
Direct Route Revenue
Vehicle trafﬁc (volume)
Vehicle tariff

2009

2008

1,628,626
49.9

1,726,422
44.9

(97,796)
5.0

(5.7%)
11.1%

Passenger trafﬁc (volume)
Passenger tariff
Social program fees
Catering & on-board
Other revenue
Total Direct Route Revenue

3,870,171
27.6
3.1
14.0
3.3
97.9

4,133,676
24.5
3.7
14.3
4.2
91.6

(263,505)
3.1
(0.6)
(0.3)
(0.9)
6.3

(6.4%)
12.7%
(16.2%)
(2.1%)
(21.4%)
6.9%

22.8
6.6
127.3

24.0
6.4
122.0

(1.2)
0.2
5.3

(5.0%)
3.1%
4.3%

1.2

2.2

(1.0)

(45.5%)

128.5

124.2

4.3

3.5%

Indirect Route Revenue
Ferry transportation fees
Federal-Provincial subsidy
Total Route Revenue
Other general revenue
Total Revenue

We continued to experience a decrease in trafﬁc in the last quarter of ﬁscal 2009 compared to the prior year. However, the reduction in
total tariff revenue as a result of these decreases in trafﬁc levels was more than offset by the increase in average tariff revenue. The increase
in average tariff revenue per vehicle was $4.63 or 17.8% while the increase in average tariff revenue per passenger was $1.20 or 20.2%. A
signiﬁcant portion of these increases represents fuel surcharges previously paid by customers and credited to fuel cost deferral accounts,
which are now included in tariff revenue by order of the Commissioner. During the last quarter of ﬁscal 2008, these surcharges paid by
customers amounted to $7.4 million. The April 1, 2008 price cap increase on the Major Routes was 7.3% starting from a level which included
fuel surcharges in place at March 31, 2008. The higher average fares, partially offset by the decrease in trafﬁc levels and a provision to
establish a prepaid paper ticket liability of $0.6 million at March 31, 2009, resulted in a total increase of $8.1 million in tariff revenue.
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Included in tariff revenue is $8.6 million in funding provided by the Province to allow a 33% reduction of fares on all routes
during January 2009 and for our Prince Rupert-Skidegate route during February 2009.
Social program fee increases of $0.8 million as a result of higher tariff rates were more than offset by a $1.4 million billing
adjustment recorded during the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2009.
Catering and on-board revenues and other revenue all decreased mainly as a result of lower trafﬁc levels.
Ferry transportation fees are lower mainly as a result of the timing of the receipt of fees as a result of a renegotiated billing
process with the Province.
Other general revenue decreased reﬂecting the higher cash balances and related interest earned in the prior year.

Expenses
Expenses are shown in the following table.
Three months ended March 31 ($ millions)

Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Cost of retail goods sold
Amortization

Interest & other
Total expense

2009

2008

(Increase)
$

84.3
21.5
15.1
5.7
27.0
153.6

84.0
22.8
13.6
5.9
17.9
144.2

(0.3)
1.3
(1.5)
0.2
(9.1)
(9.4)

(0.4%)
5.7%
(11.0%)
3.4%
(50.8%)
(6.5%)

13.3

10.5

(2.8)

(26.7%)

166.9

154.7

(12.2)

(7.9%)

The increase in operations costs reﬂects higher fuel costs, mostly offset by reductions in labour costs and discretionary spending.
The decrease in maintenance costs reﬂects variations in vessel reﬁt scheduling and the reduced costs of maintaining a newer ﬂeet,
partially offset by increased maintenance on our terminals.
The increase in administration costs reﬂects the costs of restructuring, partially offset by reduced consulting, travel, marketing,
advertising and other discretionary expenditures.
Amortization increased as a result of additional assets that came into service in ﬁscal 2009, including $5.9 million reﬂecting the
Coastal Renaissance, the Coastal Inspiration, and the Coastal Celebration entering service in March 2008, June 2008, and
November 2008, respectively.
Interest expenses increased primarily due to a full year of interest incurred on the $200 million bond series issued January 2008,
the $140 million bond series issued December 2008, and the two KfW loans issued during ﬁscal 2009, partially offset by additional
interest capitalized.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The table below compares earnings by quarter for the most recent eight quarters.

Quarter Ended (unaudited)
($ millions)
Mar 09
Total revenue
128.5
(Loss) earnings from operations (25.1)
Net (loss) earnings and
comprehensive income
(38.4)

Dec 08

Sep 08

Jun 08

Mar 08

149.4
(1.7)

232.1
66.2

171.9
18.3

124.2
(20.0)

(14.6)

53.7

8.4

(30.5)

Dec 07

Sep 07

Jun 07

136.5
(0.4)

220.2
69.4

159.8
22.1

(7.8)

61.0

14.4

Quarterly results are affected by the seasonality of leisure travel patterns. The second quarter, covering the summer period, experiences
the highest trafﬁc levels and the highest net earnings. The third and fourth quarters reﬂect a seasonal downturn in trafﬁc. We utilize these
periods to perform upgrades and major maintenance and reﬁt programs, as well as to undertake mandatory inspections on the majority
of our vessels.
The following graph demonstrates the seasonality of our revenue and shows the relationship of trafﬁc volume and tariff revenue over
the most recent eight quarters.
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OUTLOOK
Economic Outlook
The Canadian economy experienced turbulence in the ﬁnancial markets and a recessionary period in ﬁscal 2009. This had a negative impact
on our operations. While our ridership had been stable over several years, we experienced a downturn in trafﬁc in ﬁscal 2009 which was
at least partly due to the economic conditions. In ﬁscal 2009, British Columbia experienced fewer housing starts, reduced tourism, plant
closures in the forest product industry, falling auto sales, rising unemployment, and generally reduced consumer conﬁdence. These and
other declining economic conditions all negatively impacted our commercial and discretionary travel markets. The consensus of major
Canadian banks and other economic institutions is that the Canadian and local economies will begin to recover in the second half of
calendar 2009. We believe that, as the economy recovers, our ridership will also improve.
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Corporate Restructuring
Due to the continuing decline in trafﬁc levels and resulting revenues,
we determined the need to restructure our business to align expenses
with reduced revenues while continuing to ensure that safety remains
our top priority. This restructuring was in addition to our other cost
savings measures that included deferral of ﬁlling staff vacancies and
deferring or reducing travel, consulting, marketing, advertising and
other discretionary expenditures. Approximately 77 positions were
eliminated. This included termination or early retirement of 28
non-union staff, including several vice-presidents, senior management
and director-level employees and 7 union staff. The remaining
positions were eliminated through attrition. Should the decline in
trafﬁc continue, further changes in stafﬁng at all levels may be
considered. These proactive measures, along with other initiatives,
are expected to reduce our operating expenditures by approximately
$14 million from previously planned levels in ﬁscal 2010.

Market Opportunities
Notwithstanding the pressure on trafﬁc volumes generally, we
see opportunities for growth in certain segments of our business.
In March 2009, we expanded our drop-trailer service. We now
offer a new, unique service to commercial customers on two of
our Major Routes. Our commercial customers on these routes can
now drop their trailers at one terminal and have them picked up
at another. This drop-trailer service has been well received in the
commercial market. It is also beneﬁcial to us as it makes use of
otherwise unutilized capacity. We expect substantial growth in this
area as we add new customers and provide the service on more routes.
In March 2007, we established Paciﬁc Marine Ventures Inc. (PMV) as
a wholly owned subsidiary to pursue strategic business opportunities
related to commercial trafﬁc, tourism, and terminal management.
In September 2007, PMV assumed management of the Sidney
International Ferry terminal. Under a 40-year lease, PMV is managing
and developing the town’s ferry terminal with a focus on developing
new business opportunities. Washington State Ferries continues
to be the primary user of the facility with its service to Anacortes,
Washington. PMV is also pursuing other opportunities.
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In February 2008, to expand our new market reach, we signed an
agreement to lease a 250 square metre travel centre in the new
Fairmont Paciﬁc Rim property currently under construction in
downtown Vancouver. At this centre, we intend to provide information
on our various routes and offer travel packages that will be attractive
to the tourist sector. We believe that this will expand our market
reach and increase our proﬁle in the Lower Mainland and within the
tourism industry. This is expected to lead to increased trafﬁc volumes
as well as incremental non-tariff revenue. We anticipate our travel
centre will open in the spring of 2010.

In September 2008, we established BCF Global Services Inc. (BCF
Global) as a wholly owned subsidiary to provide consulting and
management services both domestically and internationally. Given
the current economic conditions, we do not expect signiﬁcant
activity in this area in the near term.

Competition
In the commercial sector, three companies, including ourselves, are
vying for differing segments of the freight transport business
between Vancouver Island and the Lower Mainland. To maintain and
potentially increase our market share, we increased capacity for
commercial vehicle trafﬁc on our Major Routes with the assignment
of a Super C-class vessel to each route and we introduced a new
drop-trailer service offering. With these initiatives, we believe that
we will continue to gain market share within the commercial sector.
However, the commercial market has declined reﬂecting recent
economic conditions. Our commercial sales team is actively pursuing
new business and is implementing new integrated sales solutions for
our commercial customers to continue to increase our market share.
While no passenger-only competitors have been successful at
sustaining operations on our Major Routes, there are two small
passenger-only competitors having a modest impact on trafﬁc
on one of our Other Routes.
In an effort to reduce costs on our regulated routes and as mandated
by the Coastal Ferry Act, we are exploring opportunities to have
ferry services provided by additional or alternative service providers.
While we maintain responsibility for the long-term delivery of ferry
services, we are required to test the market to determine if another
operator, under contract to us, could provide safe, reliable and high
quality service that is more cost-effective.
A Request for Proposal process was completed for the Brentwood
Bay-Mill Bay route. We performed an extensive assessment of the
proposal received from an alternative service provider and an external,
independent party was engaged to review our evaluation. It was
concluded that we can operate this route in a more cost-effective
manner than that proposed by the potential alternative service
provider and we continue to be the service provider for this route.
In August 2008, we issued a Request for Expressions of Interest
(RFEOI) as the ﬁrst step in the process for seeking an alternative
service provider for the Campbell River–Quadra Island, Quadra
Island–Cortes Island, and Port McNeill–Sointula–Alert Bay routes. No
respondent to the RFEOI has elected to proceed, and consequently,
the process is now complete. We will continue to be the provider of
service on these routes.
We expect to pursue alternative service providers on our routes
north of Port Hardy. The timing of these initiatives is uncertain.
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Traffic
In ﬁscal 2009, we experienced a decrease in trafﬁc compared to the prior year. Vehicle trafﬁc was 5.2% lower and passenger trafﬁc
was 4.9% lower.
Vehicle Trafﬁc by ﬁscal year (thousands)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

Major routes
Other routes
Northern routes

3,696.3
4,402.4
31.7

3,912.3
4,632.6
33.8

3,826.5
4,669.6
25.8

3,790.4
4,715.8
37.1

3,808.8
4,711.5
37.1

Total
(Decrease) increase

8,130.4
(5.2%)

8,578.7
0.7%

8,521.9
(0.3%)

8,543.3
(0.2%)

8,557.4
3.2%

Passenger Trafﬁc by ﬁscal year (thousands)

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

Major routes
Other routes
Northern routes

10,664.2
9,969.3
94.0

11,304.0
10,382.7
101.8

11,146.3
10,440.5
78.2

11,055.9
10,556.7
117.0

11,222.3
10,687.0
117.2

Total

20,727.5

21,778.5

21,665.0

21,729.6

22,026.5

(Decrease) increase

Ferry trafﬁc levels are affected by a number of factors, including the
economy, weather, transportation costs, the value of the Canadian
dollar, global security, tourism levels, disposable personal income,
demographics and population growth. Over the near term, we
anticipate a limited recovery in discretionary trafﬁc levels. We also
expect commercial trafﬁc to start to improve later this ﬁscal year
as we gain market share with our drop-trailer service and as the
economy begins to recover. Over the next few years, we anticipate
a modest increase in overall trafﬁc volume on all our routes.

Asset Renewal Program
We have one of the largest ﬂeets in the world. The average age
of our assets was among the oldest of major ferry operators
worldwide. To address this, we instituted a major ﬂeet and asset
renewal program. The recent additions to our ﬂeet have been:
U the Northern Adventure and the Kuper in March 2007;
U the Super C-class vessels: the Coastal Renaissance, the
Coastal Inspiration, and the Coastal Celebration in March,
June, and November 2008, respectively;

(4.9%)

0.6%

(0.3%)

(1.3%)

3.1%

The entry of these vessels into service has reduced the average age
of our vessels and completes the most signiﬁcant portion of our
asset renewal program.
Upgrading and replacing a large share of our ﬂeet through new
vessel acquisitions and our revitalization program also assists in
maintaining operational reliability.
We continue to reinvest our retained earnings into our asset
renewal program. The entry of these new assets into service has
resulted in an increase in amortization and ﬁnancing costs, causing
a decrease in our ﬁscal 2009 earnings. This reduced level of earnings
is expected to continue over the near term.
Our vessel replacement program is now complete for the
Major Routes and well underway for the Northern Routes. Our
capital expenditures over the next few years are expected to be
signiﬁcantly lower as we transition into more of a maintenance
mode. Our next signiﬁcant vessel renewal program will commence
for the Other Routes within the next ﬁve years.

U the Island Sky in March 2009; and
U the Northern Expedition, a northern vessel, in May 2009.
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Regulation
Transport Canada regulates the safety of our vessels by authority
of the Canada Shipping Act 2001, which came into effect on
July 1, 2007. This is the principal legislation which, together with
regulations, governs the activities of Canadian vessels in all waters
and all vessels in Canadian waters. The revised regulations may have
an impact on the requirement for vessel upgrades. On January 1, 2009,
a new Transport Canada requirement took effect whereby each
domestic ferry must have a minimum safe manning document.
This document dictates the minimum crew complement and crew
certiﬁcation required to operate the vessel at various passenger
levels. To maintain existing passenger levels on our Other Routes,
an increase of approximately 12 positions would be required. The
cost of this increase can be mitigated by lowering passenger licence
levels; however, the Coastal Ferry Services Contract requires us to
maintain a minimum passenger capacity. An analysis of our options
in this regard is currently underway. We also continue to address
the new regulations through our planning processes and asset
renewal initiatives. We anticipate that the cost of compliance with
the regulations will cause an increase in future fares. As always, the
safety of our customers and employees remains our highest priority.
In 2001, the federal government enacted the Marine Transportation
Security Act. Initially the legislation and the associated regulations
were limited to international ports and vessels. Amendments to
the existing regulations have been proposed, the intent of
which is to include domestic ferries and facilities within the
Marine Transportation Security Act framework. If these amendments
are enacted, we will be required to satisfy a speciﬁc level of security
on our vessels and at our terminals servicing our Major and certain
Other Routes. Considerable security investments will be required
in the areas of fencing, cameras, closed circuit TV, better access
controls and screening. In anticipation of the regulations being
amended, we have developed a corporate security strategy and
completed location-speciﬁc security plans on the Major Routes
and Northern Routes.
In January 2009, Transport Canada, through the Marine Security
Contribution Program, approved approximately $5.5 million of
federal funding to help offset our costs of perimeter security,
access control measures and training. These funds are in addition
to $3.8 million which was previously approved under this program.
The program requires us to apply for reimbursement of 75% of the
costs of security enhancements on approved projects as capital
expenditures are incurred. To date, we have applied for
reimbursement of approximately $2.4 million.
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Under an order issued by the Commissioner, price caps will increase
on April 1, 2010 and 2011 by 2.7% plus 0.49 times the latest reported
annual increase in the Consumer Price Index (British Columbia) on the
Major Routes and 5.7% plus 0.73 times the Consumer Price Index
(British Columbia) on all other routes. On April 1, 2009, the price caps
increased by 3.74% on the Major Routes and 7.25% on all other routes.

FINANCIAL RISKS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arises in the
normal course of our business. We manage market risk arising from
the volatility in foreign currency, interest rate, and fuel price exposures
in part through the use of derivative ﬁnancial instruments including
forward contracts, swaps and options. We do not utilize derivative
ﬁnancial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
Fair value estimates are made at a speciﬁc point in time, based on
relevant market information and information about the ﬁnancial
instrument. These estimates cannot be determined with precision as
they are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters
of judgment. Where the market prices are not available, fair values
are estimated using discounted cash ﬂow analysis based on our
current borrowing rate for similar borrowing arrangements.

CREDIT RISK
We limit our exposure to credit risk on cash and investments by
investing in liquid securities with high credit-quality counter-parties,
placing limits on tenor of investment instruments and instituting
maximum investment values per counter-party. We manage credit
exposure related to ﬁnancial instruments by dealing with high
credit-quality institutions, in accordance with established creditapproval practices and by an ongoing review of our exposure to
counter-parties. We do not expect any counter-parties to default
on their obligations.
Our credit risk from trade customers is limited by having a large and
diversiﬁed customer base and is managed through the review of third
party credit reports, utilizing pre-authorized payment plans, monitoring
of aging of receivables, and collecting deposits and adjusting credit
terms for higher-risk customers. Amounts due from the Province are
considered low credit risk. At March 31, 2009, 50% of our accounts
receivable was comprised of amounts due from the Province.

LIQUIDITY RISK
We target a strong investment-grade credit rating to maintain capital
market access at reasonable interest rates. Our ﬁnancial position could
be adversely affected if we fail to arrange sufﬁcient and cost-effective
ﬁnancing to fund, among other things, capital expenditures and the
repayment of maturing debt. This is subject to numerous factors,
including the results of our operations, our ﬁnancial position, conditions
in the capital and bank credit markets, ratings assigned by rating
agencies and general economic conditions. We deem this to be a low
risk at this time as we do not foresee the need to access the capital
markets for the next several years.
We manage liquidity risk through daily monitoring of cash balances,
the use of long-term forecasting models and the maintenance of
debt service reserves. Our credit ratings at March 31, 2009 were A
low (DBRS) and A- (Standard & Poor’s) and both rating agencies have
assessed our rating outlook as positive.
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MARKET RISK
Interest Rate
Our exposure to interest rate risk is limited to our short-term
borrowings and ﬂoating rate debt and interest rate movement
beyond the term of the maturity of ﬁxed rate short-term investments.
To manage this risk, we maintain between 70% and 100% of our
debt portfolio in ﬁxed rate debt, in aggregate. A 50 basis point
change in interest rates would not have had a signiﬁcant effect
on our earnings for ﬁscal 2009.
Foreign Currency
We are also exposed to risk from foreign currency prices on ﬁnancial
instruments, such as accounts payable denominated in currencies
other than the Canadian dollar. To manage exposure on future
purchase commitments, we review our foreign currency denominated
commitments and hedge through derivative instruments as necessary.
A 10% change in the US dollar or Euro foreign exchange rates would
not have had a signiﬁcant effect on our earnings for ﬁscal 2009.
Fuel Price
Our exposure to fuel price risk is associated with the changes in
the market price of marine diesel fuel. Fuel costs have ﬂuctuated
signiﬁcantly over the past few years and there is uncertainty of the
cost of fuel in the future.
We manage our exposure to fuel price volatility by entering into
swap agreements in order to add a ﬁxed component to the inherent
ﬂoating nature of fuel prices. Fuel price hedging instruments are
used solely for the purpose of reducing fuel price risk, not for
generating trading proﬁts. Our Commodity Risk Management Policy
limits hedging to a maximum of 95% of anticipated monthly fuel
consumption for the immediately following 12 month period; a
maximum of 90% of anticipated monthly fuel consumption for the
12 month period thereafter; and a maximum of 85% of anticipated
monthly fuel consumption for the period thereafter to the end
of the second performance term ending March 31, 2012. At
March 31, 2009, we held 13 swaps that will mature prior to the
end of March 2010. These ﬁx approximately 74% of our anticipated
fuel costs for the next ﬁscal year. Gains and losses resulting from
fuel forward contracts are recognized as a component of fuel costs.
To further mitigate the effect of volatility in fuel oil prices on our
earnings, we use deferred fuel cost accounts. (See “Expenses –
Deferred Fuel Cost Accounts” above for more detail).

High levels of fuel pricing could translate into signiﬁcant fuel
surcharges and result in unprecedented total tariff levels. There
is uncertainty of the impact on future ferry trafﬁc levels if fuel
surcharges and therefore total tariff costs rise signiﬁcantly. There
is a risk of a decline in ferry trafﬁc levels as a result of increasing
customer costs resulting from the implementation of fuel surcharges.
Derivatives
We hedge our exposure to ﬂuctuations in fuel prices and foreign
currency exchange rates through the use of derivative instruments.
The table below provides details of the carrying value and fair value
of the derivative instruments at March 31, 2009 and 2008.
($ millions)

2009

2008

Carrying
Fair Carrying
Fair
Value Value
Value Value

Commodity Fixed Price Swaps
(13 swaps maturing within 1 year)

(0.9)

(0.9)

1.8

1.8

Foreign Exchange Forward
Transactions (Super C-class vessels)

–

–

0.5

0.5

Foreign Exchange Forward
Transactions (Northern Expedition)

–

–

15.9

15.9

The commodity derivatives fair value reﬂects only the value of the
commodity derivatives and not the offsetting change in value of
the underlying future purchase of fuel. These fair values reﬂect
the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay should the
derivative contracts be terminated at the stated dates. Any gains or
losses related to fuel commodity swaps are charged to our deferred
fuel cost accounts. At March 31, 2009, we have recorded a payable
of $0.9 million as the estimated loss to terminate the contracts as
at this date.
The foreign exchange derivatives fair value reﬂects only the value
of the foreign exchange derivatives and not the offsetting change
in value of the underlying future purchase of currency. These fair
values reﬂect the estimated amounts we would receive or pay to
terminate the derivative contracts at the stated dates. Any unrealized
gains or losses related to these foreign exchange forward contracts
are charged to our regulatory accounts. We had no foreign exchange
forward contracts in place at March 31, 2009.
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Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
The carrying and fair values of non-derivative ﬁnancial instruments at March 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
($ millions)

2009
Fair Value

Carrying Value

Fair Value

12.4
37.3
0.1
12.9

12.4
37.3
0.1
12.9

116.3
14.1
17.0
14.5

116.3
14.1
17.0
14.5

62.7

62.7

161.9

161.9

41.1
18.0
18.4
51.9
1.1
1,365.2
0.2

41.1
18.0
18.4
51.9
1.1
1,344.0
0.2

91.3
–
15.7
53.2
1.4
1,028.9
0.1

91.3
–
15.7
53.2
1.4
1,080.8
0.1

1,495.9

1,474.7

1,190.6

1,242.5

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short-term debt
Interest payable on long-term debt
Accrued employee costs
Obligations under capital leases
Long-term debt, including current portion
Other long-term liabilities

The fair value of all ﬁnancial instruments included above, with the
exception of long-term debt, approximate their carrying amounts
due to the nature of the item and/or the short time to maturity.
The carrying value of long-term debt is measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method. Fair value is calculated by
discounting the future cash ﬂow of each debt issue at the estimated
yield to maturity for the same or similar issues, or by using available
quoted market prices.

BUSINESS RISK MANAGEMENT
We continue to employ a variety of commonly accepted methodologies
to identify, assess and mitigate risks. We have processes in place
throughout our company to manage risks that inevitably arise in the
normal course of business.
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2008

Carrying Value

We do not believe that material uncertainties exist in regards to our
future. We have considered many items such as proﬁtability levels,
cash generating potential, cash utilization requirements including
debt repayment schedules and future capital expenditures, and
working capital requirements. We have taken measures to allow us
to weather the economic downturn and continue to have a viable,
proﬁtable future.

Traffic Level and Tariff Revenue Risk
As described above, there are many factors that affect ferry trafﬁc
levels. No assurance can be given as to the level of trafﬁc on our
system and the resulting tariff revenue.
Economic Conditions
We believe that the current economic conditions have been a major
contributor to the decline in our total trafﬁc carried. The duration
of this recession is uncertain and we believe it is unlikely that the
impact on our operations will reverse until such time as world and
local economies begin to recover.
Influenza
On April 29, 2009, the World Health Organization (WHO) raised
the level of inﬂuenza pandemic alert for the H1N1 inﬂuenza to
phase 5. WHO states that the measures to be engaged at this state
include “heightened surveillance, early detection and treatment of
cases, and infection control in all health facilities”. This may result
in reduced discretionary travel, decreasing our trafﬁc levels. We
continue our measures to help reduce spread of inﬂuenza with daily
cleaning routines to sanitize our vessels, offering hand sanitizer
in our food services and children’s play areas and posting health
advisories in washrooms.
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Tourism
The cost of fuel at the pump, the value of the Canadian dollar,
disposable personal income and heightened global security may
have a negative effect on discretionary travel and tourism. We are
uncertain as to the individual or cumulative impact these items may
have on our trafﬁc levels.
Tariff
We are uncertain as to the cumulative impact that tariff rate
increases and the implementation and removal of fuel surcharges
may have on our trafﬁc.

Security Risk
Deliberate, malicious acts could cause death, injury or property
damage. The occurrence of a major incident could also negatively
affect the propensity for the public to travel, reducing our ferry
trafﬁc levels. The effect could vary depending on whether it was a
domestic or international incident and whether or not it was in the
marine transportation industry. It could also lead to a substantial
increase in insurance and security costs. Any resulting reduction
in tariff revenues and/or increases in costs could have a material
adverse impact on our business, results from operations and
ﬁnancial condition.

Safety

Environmental Risk

The safety of the public and our employees is our highest priority.
In ﬁscal 2007, we commissioned former BC Auditor General,
George L. Morﬁtt, to conduct an independent review of our safety
policies, procedures and practices. We also plan to conduct a similar
comprehensive operational safety review at a minimum of every
ﬁve years as part of our ongoing commitment to ensuring the safety
of our passengers and employees.

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and
regulations dealing with the transportation, storage, presence,
use, disposal and handling of hazardous materials and hazardous
wastes, the discharge of storm water and the delivery of vessel fuel.

Some of the recommendations in the Morﬁtt report were put into
practice in ﬁscal 2007 while others have been incorporated into our
new safety program, SailSafe, which was launched in ﬁscal 2008.
SailSafe is a joint initiative with the BC Ferry & Marine Workers’
Union that builds on our current safety practices and reﬂects our
common commitment to safety as an essential part of our business
and our daily work. This initiative involves employees in identifying
areas and methods for enhancing current safety practices and
ensuring that safety is our ﬁrst priority each and every day.
Foodborne Illness
We have signiﬁcant revenues from the sale of food services, both
on our vessels and at our terminals. We are uncertain as to the
cumulative impact of an incidence of a foodborne illness contracted
from consuming contaminated foods or beverages purchased from
our food services. We take every precaution to prevent food
contamination. We purchase our products from reputable suppliers
and we follow storage, handling, preparation, and cooking
procedures designed to prevent such an event. Our procedures
are aligned with the hazard analysis critical control point (HACCP)
methodology which is a preventive approach to food safety at
manufacturing plants, warehouses, and food retail facilities. The
system identiﬁes and documents risks, as well as the associated
controls throughout the product cycle. HACCP is an industry-wide
effort approved by the scientiﬁc community, as well as regulatory
and industry practitioners.

The Kyoto Protocol aims to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases.
The provincial government has made a commitment to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions by 33% by the year 2020, based on
emissions in 2007. While the reduction targets have not yet been
set, the transportation industry has been identiﬁed as a sector that
will have emission limits. If we were to be involved in an environmental
accident or be found in material violation of applicable law and
regulations, we could be responsible for material clean-up costs,
property damage, and ﬁnes or other penalties, any of which could
have a material adverse effect. Although we believe we maintain
adequate environmental insurance, there can be no guarantee that
the insurance coverage will be sufﬁcient to cover all such losses.

Regulatory/Performance Risk
Our operations are subject to a wide variety of national and local
laws and regulations, all of which may change at any time. There
is the potential that the introduction of new safety or other
regulations, including new taxes, or the interpretation of existing
regulations, may impose a new, unexpected and signiﬁcant cost
burden. (See “OUTLOOK – Regulation” above for a discussion of
the potential impacts of the Canada Shipping Act, 2001 and the
Marine Transportation Security Act). There can be no guarantee
that regulatory changes in the future will not have an adverse
effect on us.
We cannot predict how the Commissioner’s interpretation,
administration and enforcement of the Coastal Ferry Act will
change over time. Such changes may impact our ability to sustain
or increase proﬁtability.
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The occurrence of a default under the Coastal Ferry Services Contract
or the Terminal Leases could have consequences, including an
adjustment to ferry transportation fees from the Province or the
forced sale of our vessels to the Province for net book value and
termination of the Terminal Leases.

Human Resources
The majority of our employees are members of the BC Ferry &
Marine Workers’ Union. On March 8, 2007, a ﬁnal award was
released by arbitrator Vince Ready, building on the October 2004
interim award. This is expected to provide us with labour stability
until the end of the term on October 31, 2012. The award also has a
mechanism in place that allows for the orderly transition to the next
collective agreement without the ability to strike and provides a
unique and innovative dispute resolution process to facilitate future
collective bargaining. However, there can be no guarantee that
other labour disturbances will not occur and have a material adverse
effect on our operations.
We are also dependent on maintaining our ability to attract, train
and retain employees with the requisite skill and capabilities to
operate in the marine industry.

Accident/Casualty Loss
The occurrence of a major accident or mishap could have a
material adverse effect on our business prospects, ﬁnancial
condition or results of operations, and could result in a default
under the Coastal Ferry Services Contract unless such accident or
mishap qualiﬁed as an event of force majeure. We have a sound
conventional insurance program designed to mitigate the ﬁnancial
impact of serious incidents. There can be no guarantee, however,
that the insurance coverage will be sufﬁcient to cover all such
accidents or disasters.

Income Tax Risk
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We received an advance income tax ruling from Canada Revenue
Agency (CRA) that, provided the facts and other statements set out
therein are accurate, we are a “Tax Exempt Corporation” described
in paragraph 149(1)(d.1) of the Income Tax Act. This ruling is subject to
a proposed amendment to subsection 149(1.3) of the Income Tax Act
announced by the Department of Finance on December 20, 2002.
The essential elements of this amendment were included in Bill C-10,
which was cancelled when Parliament was dissolved before the
2008 federal election. However, there is no reason to believe that it
will not be reintroduced. We have received a non-binding opinion
from CRA that subsection 149(1.3), if amended as proposed on
December 20, 2002, will not cause us to cease to be a Tax Exempt
Corporation. There can be no assurance that subsection 149(1.3)
of the Income Tax Act will be amended as proposed, or that we
are and will continue to be a Tax Exempt Corporation.

Treaty Negotiations: Aboriginal Rights and Title
Much of British Columbia, including areas where we have operations
and real property interests, is subject to claims of aboriginal use
rights and/or aboriginal title. Canadian courts have recognized that
aboriginal peoples may enjoy constitutionally protected rights,
whether or not recognized in a treaty, in respect of land used or
occupied by their ancestors. These rights vary from the right to use
lands and waters to carry out traditional activities (for example,
an aboriginal right to ﬁsh) to the right to exclusively occupy lands
subject to aboriginal title. What kind of right might exist depends
primarily upon the nature and extent of the prior aboriginal use
and occupation.
At present, many aboriginal groups are seeking recognition of
their right to use or occupy their traditional territories. They also
expect to participate in government decision-making with respect
to activities by third parties on those lands. Canadian courts have
conﬁrmed that provincial and federal governments have a duty
to consult with and, if necessary, accommodate aboriginal groups
asserting rights or title where these interests might be infringed
by government action. Government approvals and licences, such
as those required to operate existing terminal facilities or develop
new ones, may trigger the government’s duty to consult with any
aboriginal groups whose interests might be detrimentally affected.
Under the master agreement, the Province retains its liability, to
the extent any exists, for the acts and omissions of the Province that
occurred prior to our possession of the ferry terminal properties
leased under the Terminal Leases and will reimburse us for any
damages we suffer as a result.
In addition, the Province will reimburse us for damages suffered if
there is a ﬁnal court decision or a treaty settlement that recognizes
or confers upon an aboriginal group a proprietary or other interest
in the ferry terminal properties should that right or interest interfere
with our quiet enjoyment of the ferry terminal properties as set out
in the Terminal Leases.

ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our ﬁnancial condition and results
of operations is based upon our consolidated ﬁnancial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.
Our signiﬁcant accounting policies are contained in note 1 to our
consolidated ﬁnancial statements. Certain of these policies involve
critical accounting estimates because they require us to make
particularly subjective or complex judgments about matters that are
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inherently uncertain and because of the likelihood that materially
different amounts could be reported under different conditions
or using different assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
are subject to change as new events occur, as more experience is
acquired, as additional information is obtained and as the general
operating environment changes.
We believe the following are the most critical accounting policies
and estimates that we have used in the preparation of our ﬁnancial
statements:
Workers’ Compensation Claims Liability
Our ﬁnancial statements include an estimate of residual liability
for workers’ compensation claims arising from the Workers’
Compensation Board (WCB) deposit class coverage system, in which
our predecessor entity participated on or prior to March 31, 2003.
The WCB provided our predecessor company with an actuarial
valuation of the unﬁnalized claims remaining to be paid that relate
to incidents on or prior to March 31, 2003. This estimate totalled
$9.3 million at March 31, 2003 and is drawn down as claims are paid
out. In ﬁscal 2007 we received an actuarial valuation estimating
that the unﬁnalized claims remaining to be paid at March 31, 2006,
totalled $4.7 million. As a result we reduced the unﬁnalized claims
liability and decreased expenses by $1.8 million during ﬁscal 2007.
The remaining balance at March 31, 2009, of $2.1 million ($2.7 million
at March 31, 2008) is included in accrued employee future beneﬁts
in our ﬁnancial statements.
Public Service Pension Plan
Our employees are members of the Public Service Pension Plan
(the Plan), a deﬁned beneﬁt and multiemployer pension plan. In
April 2003, we were converted from a Crown corporation into an
independent company incorporated under the provincial Company
Act, and we now validly exist under the Business Corporations Act
(British Columbia). In February 2004, our company and the union
representing our employees jointly submitted a formal application
for all our employees and our company to remain within the Plan.
In March 2004, the Public Service Pension Board of Trustees agreed
to the proposal.
The Plan is exempt from the requirements under the provincial
Pension Beneﬁts Standards Act to use the “solvency” method
in conjunction with the “going concern” method for valuation
purposes. As such, the Plan is currently valued solely by the going
concern method. The most recent valuation of the total Plan, as
at March 31, 2008, indicated a surplus of $487 million.

Effective April 1, 2009, the Public Service Pension Board of Trustees
increased contribution rates for plan members and employers from
7.63% to 7.78% of pensionable earnings each, primarily due to the
change in the investment return and salary increase assumptions.
Retirement Bonus Liability
We sponsor a plan that provides a post-retirement beneﬁt for eligible
long service employees. The valuation of this plan is estimated based
on complex actuarial calculations using several assumptions. These
assumptions are determined by management with signiﬁcant input
from our actuary. The valuation of the obligation depends on such
assumptions as discount rate, projected salary increases, retirement
age and termination rates. An actuarial valuation of the plan at
March 31, 2007, was obtained and the accrued beneﬁt obligation
estimated at $13.4 million. The liability included in accrued employee
future beneﬁts in our ﬁnancial statements at March 31, 2009, was
$10.4 million ($10.8 million at March 31, 2008).
We have adopted the corridor method of recognizing actuarial
gains and losses. Any gains and losses in excess of 10% of the
obligation balance will be amortized over the average remaining
service period of employees expected to receive beneﬁts under
this plan.
Rate Regulation
We follow generally accepted accounting principles which, as we
are a regulated entity, may differ from those otherwise expected
in non-regulated businesses. These differences occur when the
regulator issues orders and generally involve the timing of revenue
and expense recognition. The principles we follow ensure that the
actions of the regulator, which create assets and liabilities, have
been reﬂected in the ﬁnancial statements.
The accounting for these items is based on an expectation of the
future actions of the regulator. As of March 31, 2009, we have three
regulatory assets or liabilities:
U Deferred fuel costs: the difference between amounts allowed by
the regulator in operating expense and those actually incurred
with recovery expected through future tariffs or surcharges;
U Performance term submission costs: costs for incremental
contracted services relating to our second performance term
submission which our regulator has approved for recovery over
our second performance term that began April 1, 2008; and
U Tariffs in excess of price caps: the amount by which average annual
tariffs collected at a speciﬁc date exceed established price caps
set under the terms of the Coastal Ferry Act. The excess amounts
collected will be returned to customers through future tariffs.
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If the regulator’s future actions are different from our expectations,
the timing and amount of the recovery of deferred costs could be
substantially different from that reﬂected in our ﬁnancial statements.

acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the
assets. A corresponding asset retirement cost is added to the carrying
amount of the related asset and amortized to expense on a
systematic and rational basis.

Amortization Expense
Our capital assets, including assets under capital leases, are amortized
on a straight-line basis at varying rates. Amortization rates require
the use of estimates of the useful lives of the assets and of salvage
to be realized upon asset retirement.

Certain of our vessels contain undetermined amounts of asbestos.
Under certain circumstances, we may be required to handle and
dispose of the asbestos in a manner required by regulations.
It is our intention to sell decommissioned vessels into world
markets to buyers who will keep them in active service. Under
these circumstances asbestos remediation would become the
responsibility of the new owner.

We periodically review asset lives in conjunction with our longer
term asset deployment, replacement and upgrade strategies. When
we determine that asset lives do not reﬂect the expected remaining
period of beneﬁt, we make prospective changes to the remaining
period over which they are amortized. There are a number of
uncertainties inherent in estimating our asset lives and changes
in these assumptions could result in material adjustments to our
ﬁnancial statements.
As disclosed in note 1 to our ﬁnancial statements, we review and
evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the related amounts may not be
recoverable.
Hedging Relationships
We utilize derivative ﬁnancial instruments to manage market risk
against the volatility in foreign currency, interest rate, and fuel price
exposures. We do not utilize derivative ﬁnancial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. At the inception of each hedge,
we determine whether or not to apply hedge accounting.
When applying hedge accounting, we document all relationships
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our
risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives to
speciﬁc assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to speciﬁc ﬁrm
commitments or forecasted transactions. We also assess, both at the
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash ﬂows of hedged items. Realized and
unrealized gains or losses associated with derivative instruments
which have been terminated or cease to be effective prior to
maturity are recognized in the period in which they have been
terminated or cease to be effective.
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Asset Retirement Obligations
When it can be reasonably determined, we recognize the fair value
of a liability for any legal obligations associated with the retirement
of long-lived assets when those obligations result from the

No amount has been recorded for asset retirement obligations
relating to these assets as it is not possible to make a reasonable
estimate of the fair value of any such liability due to the
indeterminate magnitude, likelihood or ﬁnancial impact, if any,
of this issue. In addition, as our operations are regulated, there
is a reasonable expectation that any signiﬁcant asset retirement
costs would be recoverable through future tariffs.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Effective April 1, 2008, we adopted the following CICA
Handbook Sections:
U Section 1535, Capital Disclosures establishes standards for
disclosing information about our capital and how it is managed.
The standard requires disclosure of our objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital, the quantitative data about what
we regard as capital, whether we have complied with any capital
requirements and if we have not complied, the consequences
of such non-compliance. Other than the additional disclosure in
note 5, the adoption of this section has had no impact on our
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
U Section 3031, Inventories, replacing Section 3030, provides
guidance on the determination of inventory cost, subsequent
recognition as expense, and write-downs to net realizable value.
Other than the change in disclosure in note 1, the adoption of
this section has had no impact on our consolidated ﬁnancial
statements.
U Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosure requires
disclosures by class of ﬁnancial instrument that enable users to
evaluate the signiﬁcance of ﬁnancial instruments on ﬁnancial
position and performance, including disclosures about fair value.
In addition, disclosure is required of qualitative and quantitative
information about exposure to risks arising from ﬁnancial
instruments, including speciﬁed minimum disclosures about
credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

The quantitative disclosures must also include a sensitivity analysis
for each type of market risk to which an entity is exposed, showing
how net earnings and other comprehensive income would have
been affected by reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk
variable. Other than the additional disclosure in notes 3 and 4, the
adoption of this section has had no impact on our consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.
U Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation carries forward
existing requirements on presentation of ﬁnancial instruments.
Application of this section did not have any impact on our
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

Future Accounting Changes
We have not yet adopted the following CICA Handbook Sections
which will be effective for us beginning April 1, 2009:
U Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets does not substantively
change the requirement pertaining to goodwill. The changes in
requirements pertaining to intangible assets primarily relate to
recognition criteria for purchased and internally developed assets
which will result in fewer intangible assets being recognized
on the balance sheet. We are continuing to assess the ﬁnancial
reporting impact of the adoption of this section.
U Amendments to Sections 1100 Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, 3465 Income Taxes and Accounting Guideline AcG-19
Disclosures by Entities Subject to Rate Regulation are to be
applied prospectively. With release of these amendments, a
temporary exemption that permitted assets and liabilities arising
from rate regulation to be recognized and measured on a basis
other than in accordance with the primary sources of generally
accepted accounting principles will be removed. In addition,
accounting recommendations have been amended to require
recognition of future income tax liabilities and assets as well as
offsetting future income tax regulatory assets and liabilities for
entities subject to rate regulation. We do not expect application
of these amendments to have any impact on our consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. We will continue to monitor any additional
implications on our ﬁnancial reporting related to accounting for
rate regulated operations.
U In 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB)
published a new strategic plan that will signiﬁcantly affect
ﬁnancial reporting requirements for Canadian companies.
The AcSB strategic plan outlines the convergence of Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) over an expected ﬁve year
transitional period. During March 2008, the AcSB conﬁrmed the

transition dates for conversion to IFRS. Our transition date for the
conversion to IFRS is April 1, 2011 and will require the restatement
for comparative purposes of amounts reported by us for the year
ended March 31, 2011. We are continuing to assess the ﬁnancial
reporting impacts of the adoption of IFRS and are monitoring
ongoing standards development as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the CICA Accounting Standards
Board as well as regulatory developments as issued by the
Canadian Securities Administrators, which may affect the timing,
nature or disclosure relating to our adoption of IFRS.
The transition to IFRS may materially affect our reported
ﬁnancial position and results of operations. As our analysis is still
underway and accounting policy choices and IFRS 1 exemptions
have not yet been selected, we are unable to quantify the impact
of IFRS on the future ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
We commenced our IFRS conversion project in 2007 and have
established a formal project governance structure with regular
reporting. We have also engaged a quality assurance advisor to
assist in the project.
Our IFRS conversion project consists of three phases: scoping
and diagnostic; analysis and development; and implementation
and review. The ﬁrst phase, which has been completed, involved
project planning and resourcing, identiﬁcation of differences
between current Canadian GAAP and IFRS and priority setting.
The areas identiﬁed to have the highest potential to signiﬁcantly
impact us are rate regulated operations, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and asset impairment, and initial
adoption of IFRS under the provisions of IFRS 1 First-Time
Adoption of IFRS (IFRS 1).
The second phase, which involves detailed analysis and evaluation
of options and alternative methodologies available under IFRS
and the ﬁnancial impact of these options, is currently in progress.
A full review to assess IFRS conversion impacts on our systems is
also in progress. Our ﬁnancial systems are currently undergoing
an upgrade and we are evaluating the alternatives that will be
available as part of this upgrade.
The following table includes elements of our IFRS transition
plan and an assessment of progress towards achieving the key
milestones. We are working through a detailed IFRS transition
plan and certain project activities and milestones could change.
Further, changes in regulation or timing of standard development
throughout the project could result in changes to the transition
plan. The following tables provide further insight into our
IFRS project.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION
Key activities

Status

U Identify differences in Canadian GAAP / IFRS accounting policies

U Scoping and diagnostic phase completed in ﬁscal 2009, with
high-level review of the major differences between
Canadian GAAP and IFRS

U Select ongoing IFRS policies
U Select IFRS 1 elections
U Develop ﬁnancial statement format

U Highest areas of impact identiﬁed and review of IFRS
prioritized

U Quantify effects of change at April 1, 2010
(for ﬁscal 2011 comparative ﬁnancial statements)

U In-depth analysis of issues and accounting policy choices is
currently underway

TRAINING, EDUCATION & COMMUNICATION
Key activities

Status

U Determine required level of IFRS expertise within all areas
of the company

U Initial training for core IFRS project team members
completed in ﬁscal 2009 and currently enrolled in the
IFRS Award Program, Certiﬁcate Level through the CICA

U Ensure appropriate training of key members within Finance
U Provide appropriate education and communication to
affected departments
U Keep key stakeholders informed

U Interdepartmental workshops provided on speciﬁc topics
(property, plant and equipment; IFRS1; the Framework)
U Ongoing identiﬁcation of training requirements of other
departments for inclusion in future training plans

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE
Key activities

Status

U Conﬁrm system upgrades required for IFRS reporting

U IFRS project team coordinating efforts with ERP systems
upgrade team (ERP upgrade currently in progress)

U Review/revise data gathering processes
U Review/revise budgeting and forecasting processes
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U IFRS system implementation planned to be complete
by March 31, 2010
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CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
Key activities

Status

U Accounting policy determination, documentation and
implementation

U Analysis of control issues underway as part of detail
implementation plan

U MD&A on-going communications

BUSINESS POLICY ASSESSMENT
Key activities

Status

U Financial covenants assessment

U All relevant GAAP-dependent covenants and contracts
have been identiﬁed

U Compensation arrangements assessment
U Customer and supplier contract evaluation

We will continue to closely monitor the proposed and continuing projects of the International Accounting Standards Board and any
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee initiatives that may potentially impact rate regulated accounting under IFRS.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE
Our Board of Directors and management consider good corporate
governance to be central to the effective, efﬁcient and prudent
operation of the Company. Both management and the Board have
monitored and, where appropriate, responded to regulatory
developments aimed at improving corporate governance practices,
increasing corporate accountability and enhancing the transparency
of public company disclosure and will continue to monitor the
developments in corporate governance practices.
In 2005, National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Instrument”) and a related National
Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines (the “Guidelines”)
issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators came into effect.
The Guidelines and Instrument require reporting issuers to disclose
annually their approach to corporate governance with reference
to speciﬁc matters. See Schedule A for the disclosure in accordance
with this Instrument.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This management’s discussion and analysis contains certain
“forward looking statements”. These statements relate to
future events or future performance and reﬂect management’s
expectations regarding our growth, results of operations,
performance, business prospects and opportunities and industry
performance and trends. They reﬂect management’s current
internal projections, expectations or beliefs and are based on
information currently available to management. Some of the
market conditions and factors that have been considered in
formulating the assumptions upon which forward looking
statements are based include trafﬁc, the Canadian Dollar relative
to the US Dollar, fuel costs, construction costs, the state of the local
economy, turbulent ﬁnancial markets, demographics, import duties
remission, GST reduction, and the requirements of the Coastal
Ferry Services Contract.
In some cases, forward looking statements can be identiﬁed by
terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”,
“anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”,
“continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable
terminology. A number of factors could cause actual events or
results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward
looking statements. In evaluating these statements, prospective
investors should speciﬁcally consider various factors including,
but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties associated with
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trafﬁc volume and tariff revenue risk, safety and security, asset
risk, accident risk, tax risk, environmental risk, regulatory risk,
labour disruption risk, risk of default under material contracts
and aboriginal land claims.
Actual results may differ materially from any forward looking
statement. Although management believes that the forward
looking statements contained in this management’s discussion and
analysis are based upon reasonable assumptions, investors cannot
be assured that actual results will be consistent with these forward
looking statements. These forward looking statements are made
as of the date of this management’s discussion and analysis, and
British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. assumes no obligation to
update or revise them to reﬂect new events or circumstances.

SCHEDULE A
Corporate Structure and Governance
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board has assumed responsibility for the stewardship of
British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. (BCF or the Company) by
overseeing the conduct of the business, supervising management,
which is responsible for the day-to-day conduct of the business,
and endeavoring to ensure that all major issues affecting the
business and affairs of the Company are given proper consideration.
At March 31, 2009, the Board was comprised of the following
directors:
Chair:

Elizabeth J. Harrison Q.C.

Vice Chair:

Thomas W. Harris

Members:

Mark L. Cullen, Christopher C. Gardner, David L. Hahn,
Holly A. Haston-Grant, Donald P. Hayes, Brian G. Kenning,
Gordon R. Larkin, Maureen V. Macarenko,
A. Daniel Miller, Jane L. Peverett, Stephen E. Smith,
Wayne H. Stoilen, and Graham M. Wilson

During the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2009, Douglas E. Allen served
as a director from April 1, 2008 until his resignation from the Board
July 31, 2008.
Effective April 1, 2009, Thomas W. Harris and Maureen V. Macarenko
ceased to be directors.
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The Board Governance Manual articulates the governance framework
under which the Board fulﬁlls its stewardship responsibilities. The
manual assembles in one document the essential elements for
providing an appropriate level of governance for the organization.
It includes, among other things, terms of reference for the Board,
chair, directors, committees and committee chairs, and serves as a
practical guide for the Board and management in fulﬁlling their
respective duties and responsibilities. The governance framework
is a product and responsibility of the Board.
The Board is committed to the principles of independence and
accountability. The Board has adopted policies and practices
that ensure it has the capacity, independent of management, to
fulﬁll the Board’s responsibilities, make objective assessments of
management, and assess the merits of management initiatives. The
Governance & Nominating Committee has an ongoing responsibility
to ensure that the governance structures and processes continue to
enable the Board to function independently.
The Board and management recognize that there is a regular need
for the Board to meet without management in attendance. It is
general practice to conduct a portion of every Board meeting with
only independent directors present.
The Board and its committees each have the authority to retain any
outside advisor, at the Company’s expense, that it determines to be
necessary to permit it to carry out its duties.
The recruitment of directors is undertaken with the objective of
ensuring the Board is composed of a majority of strong, qualiﬁed,
independent directors. The Board supports the concept that the
role of the board chair is separate from that of the President & CEO
and that the board chair should be an independent director. These
principles are reﬂected in the Board Governance Manual.
The Board has adopted a deﬁnition of an independent director
for members of the Audit & Finance Committee consistent with
the deﬁnition of independence in Multilateral Instrument 52-110.
This deﬁnition, with some modiﬁcation that is consistent with
Multilateral Instrument 52-110, also applies to determining the
independence of other members of the Board.
The Board is responsible for determining whether directors are
independent pursuant to the deﬁnition of independence adopted
by the Board. To do this, the Board requires members to disclose
their relationships with the Company and its subsidiaries. These
disclosures are reviewed by the Corporate Secretary and the Chair
of the Board. Any director who is deemed independent, and whose

circumstances change such that he or she might be considered to
no longer be an independent director, is required to promptly
advise the Board of the change in circumstances. Directors are
required annually to attest to their independence in writing.
Mr. David L. Hahn, President & CEO, is the only director who is a
member of management of the Company. By virtue of his being a
member of management, Mr. Hahn is not independent. The other
directors of the Company, including the Chair of the Board, have
been determined by the Board to be independent pursuant to the
deﬁnition of independence adopted by the Board.
DIRECTORSHIPS
The following were directors of a reporting issuer (or the equivalent)
in Canada or a foreign jurisdiction, other than BCF:
Elizabeth J. Harrison, Q.C.:
Director, Unilens Vision Inc.
Brian G. Kenning:
Director, MacDonald Dettwiler & Associates Inc.
Jane L. Peverett:
Director, Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Director, EnCana Corporation
Director, Northwest Natural Gas Company
Graham M. Wilson:
Director, ITRON Inc.
Director, Naikun Wind Energy Group Inc.
Director, Daylight Energy Ltd.
Trustee, Hardwoods Distribution Income Trust
ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION
The Company has a variety of orientation and education programs
in place for directors. These programs are aimed at increasing the
directors’ familiarity with the operation of the Company and its
governance practices.
All new directors are provided with the opportunity to participate
in an orientation program. The orientation program is tailored to
the individual director’s needs and areas of interest. The program
generally involves a half to full day session, usually held prior to a
new director attending his/her ﬁrst BCF Board meeting, during
which the new director is briefed by members of senior management
and receives written information about the business and operations
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of BCF and Board governance practices, including the duties and
obligations of directors. A copy of the Board Governance Manual is
made available to all directors. This manual provides a comprehensive
overview of the roles and responsibilities of the Board, its committees,
and the contributions expected by each director. The Board
recognizes the importance of ongoing director education and the
need for each director to take personal responsibility for this process.

The Code requires that directors and ofﬁcers disclose potential
conﬂicts of interest at the time of their appointment and
immediately upon a situation of a conﬂict of interest or potential
conﬂict of interest arising. Such disclosures are communicated
to and reviewed by the Corporate Secretary and the Chair of
the Board.

Responsibility for ensuring that orientation and ongoing education
are provided to directors rests with the Chair of the Board. The
Governance & Nominating Committee has responsibility for
reviewing the orientation and education programs to ensure they
are effective and meet the needs of directors.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Governance & Nominating Committee has responsibility for the
director nomination process. The Committee is composed entirely
of directors who are independent, pursuant to the deﬁnition of
independence adopted by the Board of BCF, and operates under
terms of reference adopted by the Board.

ETHICAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
The Board of Directors approved and adopted a Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics (Code) on November 10, 2004. Notice of
adoption of the Code as Company policy was communicated to
the Company’s personnel by intra-Company information bulletin
widely distributed throughout the Company. In addition, the Code
has been posted on the Company’s Intranet website for Company
personnel, and on the Company’s Internet site. The Code was
ﬁled on SEDAR on March 1, 2006. The Board has also adopted a
Corporate Disclosure and Securities Trading Policy, which is also
posted on the Company’s Intranet and Internet sites.

The B.C. Ferry Authority (the BCFA), through its Board of Directors,
selects the Board of Directors of BCF. While not a requirement, it is
current practice that the directors of BCFA are also directors of BCF.

As part of the Company’s disclosure controls process, in conjunction
with quarter-end ﬁnancial reporting, appropriate managers are
required to make representations regarding compliance with the
Code and the Corporate Disclosure and Securities Trading Policy.
As part of the communication process for the reporting of
questionable accounting and auditing matters, a secure telephone
line and a secure e-mail address, each monitored by the executive
director of Internal Audit, have been established and this has
been communicated to Company employees by intra-Company
information bulletin. The contact particulars are also posted with
the Code on the Company’s intranet site.
The Board, through the Audit & Finance Committee, monitors
compliance with the Code through review of compliance reports
received quarterly from management, the external auditors, and
the internal auditors.
Directors and ofﬁcers review the Code and acknowledge their
support and understanding of the policy by signing an annual
disclosure statement.
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The Articles of BCF permit a total of 20 directors of BCF, hence
directors may be appointed to the Board of BCF in addition to those
who are also directors of BCFA. The Authority views it desirable to
maintain consistency between the two Boards so that the interests
of BCFA and BCF are properly aligned. However, the ability to
appoint additional directors to the Board of BCF gives ﬂexibility to
ensure adequate skill sets and experience are available within the
members of the Board of BCF.
Each year, the skill sets and experience of the incumbents and
any retiring directors of BCF are reviewed by the Governance &
Nominating Committee in the context of the skills and experience
proﬁle adopted by the BCF Board and the ongoing governance
needs of BCF. Any gaps are identiﬁed. Potential conﬂicts of interest
and other extenuating circumstances are also identiﬁed.
The skill sets and experience of the candidates for the BCFA Board,
put forward by the nominating entities and the Province, are
reviewed by the Governance & Nominating Committee to ascertain
if there will be any gaps in the skill sets and experience of the
Board of BCF, assuming BCFA directors also become BCF directors.
If gaps are identiﬁed, the Governance & Nominating Committee, in
consultation with the President & CEO, seeks out suitable candidates
for nomination as directors of BCF to ﬁll such gaps.
The Governance & Nominating Committee makes recommendations
to the BCF Board of Directors on suitable candidates for appointment
to the BCF Board. These recommendations take into account the
talents of the existing BCF Board, and the talents of all nominees
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(including BCFA Board nominees and appointees who may become
BCF Board members, if applicable), taking the skills and experience
proﬁle established for BCF directors into account.
The BCF Board makes its decision on prospective directors and
forwards its recommendations to the BCFA Board. The BCFA Board
then determines the directors of BCF and causes BCFA, as the sole
holder of the single voting share of BCF, to appoint such directors
to the Board of BCF.
COMPENSATION
Each year, the Governance and Nominating Committee reviews
the compensation of directors and the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee reviews the compensation of the
President & CEO and members of executive management, with
detailed analysis undertaken at least every second year. The
Committees engage an external compensation advisor to research
and provide independent advice on the level and types of
compensation for directors, the President & CEO and members of
executive management. In making their recommendations to the
Board, the Committees take into account the types of compensation
and the amounts paid by other comparable companies.

Board Committees
Audit & Finance Committee
(at March 31, 2009):
Chair:

Graham M. Wilson

Members:

Christopher C. Gardner, Donald P. Hayes,
Brian G. Kenning, and Wayne H. Stoilen

Effective April 1, 2009, Stephen E. Smith became a member of
the Committee and Wayne H. Stoilen ceased to be a member.
The Audit & Finance Committee is appointed by the Board of
Directors to assist the Board in fulﬁlling its oversight responsibilities.
The Committee has the mandate to:

U monitor the management of the principal risks that could impact
the ﬁnancial reporting of the Company, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate
to the Company’s ﬁnancial statements;
U review and approve the audit plan, process, results, and
performance of the Company’s External Auditors and the Internal
Audit department (the Internal Auditor) while providing an open
avenue of communication between the Board, Management,
External Auditors, and the Internal Auditor; and
U assess the qualiﬁcations and independence of the External
Auditors, and recommend to the Board the nominations of
the External Auditors and the compensation to be paid to
the External Auditors.
The Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation
appropriate to fulﬁlling its responsibilities, and it has direct access
to the External Auditors as well as anyone in the organization. The
Committee has the authority to retain special legal, accounting,
and other advisors or experts it deems necessary in the performance
of its duties.
Each of the members of the Committee has been determined by the
Board of Directors to be independent, that is, without any direct
or indirect relationship with the Company that could reasonably
interfere with the exercise of the member’s independent judgment.
All members of the Committee are ﬁnancially literate within the
meaning of Multilateral Instrument 52-110, that is, each has the
ability to read and understand a set of ﬁnancial statements that
present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues
that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of
the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the
Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
Since April 1, 2003, all recommendations of the Committee to
nominate or compensate an External Auditor have been adopted
by the Board.

U review the ﬁnancial reports and other ﬁnancial information
provided by the Company to its security holders;
U review the annual operating and capital budgets, modiﬁcations
thereto, and details of any proposed ﬁnancing;
U monitor the integrity of the ﬁnancial reporting process and the
system of internal controls that the Board and the Company’s
management have established;
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The aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditor in each of the last two ﬁscal years were:
Year ended March 31 ($ thousands)
External Auditor Billings
Audit and audit related
Tax services
All other fees
Advisory services (IFRS and environmental pre-assessment)

Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Committee must pre-approve
retaining the External Auditors for any non-audit service to be
provided to the Company or its subsidiaries, provided that no
approval shall be provided for any service that is prohibited under
the rules of the Canadian Public Accountability Board or the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the Independence
Standards of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.
Before retaining the External Auditors for any non-audit service, the
Committee must consider the compatibility of the service with the
External Auditors’ independence. The Committee may pre-approve
retaining of the External Auditors for the engagement of any
non-audit services by establishing policies and procedures to be
followed prior to the appointment of the External Auditors for the
provision of such services. To date, no such policies and procedures
have been established. In addition, the Committee may delegate to
one or more members the authority to pre-approve retaining of the
External Auditors for any non-audit services to the extent permitted
by applicable law.

Safety, Health, Environment & Security Committee
(at March 31, 2009):
Chair:
Members:

A. Daniel Miller
Donald P. Hayes, Gordon R. Larkin,
Maureen V. Macarenko, and Wayne H. Stoilen

Effective April 1, 2009, Holly A. Haston-Grant became a member of
the Committee, and Maureen V. Macarenko ceased to be a director
and member of the Committee.
The Safety, Health, Environment & Security Committee is appointed
by the Board of Directors to assist the Board in fulﬁlling its oversight
responsibilities. The Committee has the mandate to:
U exercise due diligence over the safety, health, environmental,
and security operations of the Company;
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2009

2008

136.7
2.0

182.6
2.7

32.1

–

170.8

185.3

U develop, review, and make recommendations, as required, on
matters related to the Company’s safety, health, environmental,
and security policies and practices; and
U monitor compliance with Government regulations and with
the Company’s commitment to these issues.
Governance & Nominating Committee
(at March 31, 2009):
Chair:

Thomas W. Harris

Members:

Mark L. Cullen, Christopher C. Gardner,
Gordon R. Larkin, Maureen V. Macarenko,
and Graham M. Wilson

Effective April 1, 2009, Thomas W. Harris ceased to be a director and
Chair of the Committee, and Brian G. Kenning became Chair of the
Committee. Also effective April 1, 2009, Holly A. Haston-Grant
and Jane L. Peverett became members of the Committee, and
Maureen V. Macarenko ceased to be a director and member of
the Committee.
The Governance & Nominating Committee is appointed by the
Board of Directors to assist the Board in fulﬁlling its oversight
responsibilities with respect to ensuring that the corporate
governance system of BCF is effective. The Committee has the
mandate to:
U review, assess, and make recommendations regarding the
effectiveness of the policies and practices of the Board;
U ensure the Board’s continuing ability to fulﬁll its legislative
mandate;
U implement effective due diligence over the operations of
the Company;
U ensure that the Board of BCF is comprised of Board members
that collectively and individually have the skills, experience,
and backgrounds to appropriately lead the organization;
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Assessments
U establish and implement effective processes for identifying and
recommending suitable candidates for appointment as directors
of BCF; and
U ensure that the compensation plan for directors is adequate,
suitable and sufﬁcient to enable the Company to attract and
retain talented and qualiﬁed individuals to serve on the Board,
at a reasonable cost.
Human Resources & Compensation Committee
(at March 31, 2009):
Chair:

Mark L. Cullen

Members:

Thomas W. Harris, Brian G. Kenning,
and A. Daniel Miller

Effective April 1, 2009, Jane L. Peverett, Stephen E. Smith, and
Wayne H. Stoilen became members of the Committee, and Thomas
W. Harris ceased to be a director and member of the Committee.
The Human Resources & Compensation Committee is appointed by
the Board of Directors to assist the Board in fulﬁlling its oversight
responsibilities regarding the human resources and compensation
strategies and policies of BCF. The Committee has the mandate to:
U regularly review, at a strategic level, the approach taken
to manage the Company’s human resources, including the
recruitment, retention, motivation and engagement of
employees in the interests and success of the Company;

As part of its dedication to best governance practices, the Board
is committed to regular assessments of the effectiveness of
the Board, the board chair, committees, committee chairs and
individual directors.
The Governance & Nominating Committee annually reviews and
makes recommendations to the Board on the method and content
for annual evaluations.
The Board has in the past engaged an independent governance
consultant to coordinate the evaluation. The Board also regularly
assesses the performance of individual directors. This occurs
through discussions between the individual directors and the
Board Chair.
The Board evaluation undertaken in the year ended March 31, 2009
was led by the Board Chair. It involved the completion by directors
of a written questionnaire and individual discussions between
each director and the Board Chair on matters related to Board
effectiveness. The process also included a self assessment by directors
of their skills and experience in relation to those considered by
the Board as being important for the good governance of the
Company. The Board Chair presented the results of the evaluation
together with recommendations for action to the Board. The
Board will take action to implement the recommendations in
the upcoming year.

U regularly review with the President & CEO his plans for the
structure, development, and succession of the executive
management; and
U review and recommend to the Board a total compensation
philosophy for the President & CEO and executive management
that attracts and retains executives, links total compensation to
ﬁnancial performance and the attainment of short and long term
strategic, operational, and ﬁnancial performance, and provides
competitive total compensation opportunities at a reasonable
cost, while enhancing the ability to fulﬁll the Company’s overall
strategies and objectives.
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BC Ferries management is responsible for presentation and preparation of the annual consolidated ﬁnancial statements, management’s
discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) and all other information in this annual report.
The accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. The consolidated ﬁnancial statements and information in the MD&A necessarily include amounts based on management’s
informed judgements and best estimates. The ﬁnancial information presented elsewhere in this annual report is consistent with that
in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
To meet its responsibility for reliable and accurate ﬁnancial statements, management has established systems of internal control which
are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss and that reliable ﬁnancial records are maintained.
These systems are monitored by management and by internal auditors. In addition, the internal auditors perform appropriate tests
and related audit procedures.
The Board of Directors, through its Audit and Finance Committee, oversees management’s responsibilities for ﬁnancial reporting and
internal control. The Audit and Finance Committee meets with the internal auditors, the external auditors and management to discuss
auditing and ﬁnancial matters and to review the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the independent auditors’ report. The Audit and
Finance Committee reports its ﬁndings to the Board for consideration in approving the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for issuance.
The external auditors, KPMG LLP, conduct an independent audit of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards and express their opinion thereon. Those standards require that the audit is planned and performed
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement. The external
auditors have unlimited access to the Audit and Finance Committee and meet with the Committee on a regular basis. The auditors’ report
outlines the scope of their examination and sets forth their opinion.

David L. Hahn
President & Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Victoria, Canada
May 15, 2009
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Robert
P. Clarke
b
l k
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Ofﬁcer

AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA FERRY SERVICES INC.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. as at March 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated
statements of earnings, comprehensive income and retained earnings and cash ﬂows for each of the years then ended. These ﬁnancial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement
presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of the Company as at
March 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash ﬂows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Victoria, Canada
May 15, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS)
As at March 31
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 2(e))
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 2(e))
Short-term investments (note 2(e))
Accounts receivable (note 4)
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Derivative assets (note 3)
Regulatory assets (note 6)

2009

$

Capital assets (note 7)
Deferred ﬁnancing costs
Assets held for sale (note 8)
Regulatory assets (note 6)
Long-term land lease (note 9)
$
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short-term debt (note 2(d))
Interest payable on long-term debt
Accrued employee costs
Deferred revenue
Derivative liabilities (note 3)
Regulatory liabilities (note 6)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 2)
Current portion of accrued employee future beneﬁts (note 10)
Current portion of obligations under capital lease (note 11)

$

Accrued employee future beneﬁts (note 10)
Regulatory liabilities (note 6)
Long-term debt (note 2)
Obligations under capital lease (note 11)
Other long-term liabilities

12,376
37,266
153
12,883
8,132
16,835
–
4,775
92,420
1,703,442
–
435
11,687
33,896
1,841,880

41,153
17,956
18,395
51,923
15,783
923
2,858
9,000
800
541
159,332
12,047
–
1,356,239
537
153
1,528,308

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (note 12)
Retained earnings

2008

$

$

$

75,478
238,094
313,572

116,319
14,090
17,040
14,463
7,285
17,055
18,144
4,775
209,171
1,303,644
669
–
7,729
29,238
1,550,451

91,263
–
15,718
53,213
15,108
–
3,558
–
800
690
180,350
13,020
16,833
1,028,872
719
76
1,239,870

75,478
235,103
310,581

Commitments (notes 7 and 18)
Contingent liabilities (notes 1(q) and 20)
$

1,841,880

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
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Director, Graham M. Wilson

Director, Elizabeth J. Harrison, QC

$

1,550,451
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS, COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS)
Years ended March 31
Revenue:
Tariffs (note 13)
Ferry service fees (note 14)
Federal-Provincial Subsidy Agreement (note 15)
Retail
Other income

2009

$

Expenses:
Operations
Maintenance
Administration
Cost of retail goods sold
Amortization

429,063
124,485
26,294
78,060
23,898
681,800

2008

$

382,229
122,702
25,856
79,235
30,707
640,729

375,805
77,124
49,197
28,929
93,088
624,143

334,743
88,412
49,765
29,936
66,793
569,649

Earnings from operations

57,657

71,080

Gain on foreign exchange
Interest expense (note 16(a))
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets (note 7)
Net earnings

244
(50,111)
1,239
9,029

130
(33,127)
(989)
37,094

Other comprehensive income (note 1(s))
Net earnings and comprehensive income
Retained earnings, beginning of year
Adjustment to retained earnings (note 17)
Restated balance, beginning of year
Preferred share dividend (note 12)
Retained earnings, end of year

–

–

9,029

37,094

235,103
–
235,103

203,569
478
204,047

(6,038)
$

238,094

(6,038)
$

235,103

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS)
Years ended March 31

2009

2008

Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:
Net earnings
Items not involving cash:
Amortization
Other non-cash charges
Long-term regulatory costs deferred
Change in operating working capital (note 21)

$

Financing:
Dividends paid on preferred shares
Proceeds from issuance of bonds and other long-term debt
Proceeds from (repayment of) short-term loans
Repayment of capital lease obligations
Deferred ﬁnancing costs incurred

Investing:
Proceeds from disposal of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets
Increase in lands under long-term lease
Increase in restricted cash
Proceeds from (purchase of) short-term investments

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental cash ﬂow information (note 21)
See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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$

9,029

$

37,094

93,088
(733)
(6,039)
(6,783)
88,562

66,793
1,522
10,503
8,717
124,629

(6,038)
338,000
17,956
(775)
(1,704)
347,439

(6,038)
290,000
(24,888)
(835)
(1,787)
256,452

1,697
(530,269)
(5,083)
(23,176)
16,887
(539,944)

51
(428,292)
(1,560)
(6,836)
(994)
(437,631)

(103,943)

(56,550)

116,319

172,869

12,376

$

116,319

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008
(columnar dollars expressed in thousands)
Sections 3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosure” and 3863
“Financial Instruments – Presentation” require disclosures by
class of ﬁnancial instrument, and additional qualitative and
quantitative information regarding the nature and extent of
risks arising from ﬁnancial instruments to which the Company is
exposed which will enable users to evaluate the signiﬁcance of
ﬁnancial instruments for the Company’s ﬁnancial position and
performance, including disclosures about fair value. The new
disclosures are included in notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.

British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated
under the Company Act (British Columbia) by way of conversion on
April 2, 2003, and now validly exists under the Business Corporations Act
(British Columbia). The Company’s primary business activity is the
provision of coastal ferry services in British Columbia.
The Company is subject to the Coastal Ferry Act (the “Act”), which
came into force on April 1, 2003. Its common share is held by the
B.C. Ferry Authority, a corporation without share capital, and it
is regulated by the British Columbia Ferries Commissioner (the
“Commissioner”) to ensure that rates are fair and reasonable and
to monitor service levels.

1.

Significant accounting policies:

(a)

Basis of presentation:
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company are
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”).

(c)

The consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Paciﬁc Marine
Leasing Inc. (“PML”), BCF Captive Insurance Company Ltd. (“BCF
Captive”), Paciﬁc Marine Ventures Inc. (“PMV”), and BCF Global
Services Inc. (“Global”). Global was incorporated on September
25, 2008 and commenced operations during October, 2008. All
inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated
on consolidation.
(b) Adoption of new accounting standards:
Effective April 1, 2008, the Company adopted the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Sections
1535 “Capital Disclosures”, 3031 “Inventories”, 3862 “Financial
Instruments – Disclosure” and 3863 “Financial Instruments –
Presentation”.
Section 1535 “Capital Disclosures” establishes standards for
disclosing qualitative and quantitative information regarding
the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing
capital. The new disclosures are included in note 5 to the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Section 3031 “Inventories” requires inventories to be measured
at the lower of cost or net realizable value, disallows the use of
the last-in-ﬁrst-out inventory costing methodology, and requires
that write-downs be reversed when the circumstances which
previously caused inventories to be written down below cost
no longer exist. There has been no impact on the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements from the adoption of this section.

Regulation:
The Company is regulated by the Commissioner to ensure that
tariffs are fair and reasonable and to monitor service levels.
In order to recognize the economic effects of regulation, the
timing of recognition of certain revenues and expenses may
differ from that otherwise expected under generally accepted
accounting principles. These timing differences give rise to
regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities in the ﬁnancial
statements.
The Company follows Accounting Guideline 19 “Disclosures
by Entities Subject to Rate Regulation” (AcG-19) of the CICA
Handbook which establishes guidelines on certain aspects of
the disclosure and presentation of information in the ﬁnancial
statements of entities subject to rate regulation. AcG-19
requires the disclosure of general information regarding the
nature and economic effects of rate regulation, as well as,
additional information on how rate regulation has affected the
ﬁnancial statements (note 6). The guideline does not address
recognition and measurement issues associated with the
accounting for rate-regulated operations.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and
investments that are highly liquid in nature and generally
have original maturity dates of three months or less.
(e)

Short-term investments:
Short-term investments are valued at the lower of cost or
market value and consist of ﬁnancial instruments with original
maturity dates greater than three months.

(f)

Inventories:
Inventories, which consist of materials and supplies, catering
stores and fuel, are valued at the lower of weighted-average
cost and net realizable value.
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(g) Embedded derivatives:
As at March 31, 2009, the Company has no embedded
derivatives that meet the requirements of Section 3855 which
would require that they be separated from host contracts and
valued separately at fair value.

The actuarial determination of the accrued beneﬁt obligations
for retirement beneﬁts other than pension uses the projected
beneﬁt method prorated on service (which incorporates
management’s best estimate of future salary levels, other
cost escalation, retirement ages of employees and other
actuarial factors).

(h) Capital assets:
The costs of major replacements, additions, extensions and
improvements, including direct overhead and ﬁnancing costs
during construction are capitalized. The costs of maintenance,
repairs, reﬁt and minor renewals or replacements are expensed
as incurred.

For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan
assets, those assets are valued at fair value.
Actuarial gains (losses) arise from the difference between
actual long-term rate of return on plan assets for a period and
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for that
period or from changes in actuarial assumptions used to
determine the accrued beneﬁt obligation. For the Company’s
retirement bonus and death beneﬁt plans, the excess of the net
accumulated actuarial gain (loss) over 10 percent of the greater
of the beneﬁt obligation and the fair value of plan assets is
amortized over the average remaining service period of active
employees. The average remaining service period of the active
employees covered by the other (non-pension) retirement
beneﬁts plan was 7.1 years as at March 31, 2007, the date of
the most recent actuarial valuation.

Capital assets, including assets under capital leases, are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets at the following rates:
Asset class
Ship hulls
Ship propulsion and utility systems
Marine structures
Buildings
Equipment and other
(i)
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Estimated useful life
40 years
20 to 30 years
20 to 40 years
20 to 40 years
3 to 20 years

Impairment of long-lived assets:
The Company reviews capital assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability
of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of
their carrying amount to the future undiscounted cash ﬂows
the assets are expected to generate. If such capital assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized
equals the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds their fair market value. Assets to be disposed of are
reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value
less costs to sell.

(j)

Revenue recognition:
Tariff revenue is recognized when transportation is provided.
The value of pre-sold fare media is included in the balance
sheets as deferred revenue.

(k)

Pension and other employee future beneﬁt plans:
Deﬁned contribution plan accounting is applied to the
Company’s multi-employer deﬁned beneﬁt pension and
long-term disability plans. These multi-employer plans are
administered by external parties and the Company does not
have sufﬁcient information to apply deﬁned beneﬁt plan
accounting.

Past service costs arising from plan amendments are deferred
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the average
remaining service period of employees active at the date
of amendment.
When the restructuring of a beneﬁt plan gives rise to both a
curtailment and a settlement of obligations, the curtailment
is accounted for prior to the settlement.
(l)

Use of estimates:
The preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial statements in
conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Signiﬁcant areas requiring the use
of management estimates relate to the valuation of assets
held for sale, the economic life of capital assets and the
corresponding period of amortization, the recoverability of
capital assets, the valuation of employee future beneﬁts,
and provisions for contingencies. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(m) Taxes:
The Company is a “Tax Exempt Corporation” as described in
the Income Tax Act and as such, is exempt from federal and
provincial income taxes.
The provision of vehicle and passenger ferry services is an
exempt supply under the Excise Tax Act for GST purposes.
(n)

(o)

Foreign currency transactions:
The Company’s normal operating currency is the Canadian
dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currency are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and
expenses are translated at rates in effect at the time of the
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized
in the statement of earnings during the year in which they arise.

(q) Asset retirement obligations:
In the period when it can be reasonably determined, the
Company recognizes a liability at its fair value for any legal
obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived
assets when those obligations result from the acquisition,
construction, development or normal operation of the assets.
A corresponding asset retirement cost is added to the carrying
amount of the related asset and amortized to expense on a
systematic and rational basis.
It is possible that the Company’s estimates of its ultimate asset
retirement obligations could change as a result of changes in
regulations, changes in the extent of environmental remediation
required, changes in the means of reclamation or changes in cost
estimates. Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively
from the period the estimate is revised.

Debt transaction costs:
Legal and ﬁnancing costs incurred for long-term debt arranged
for are capitalized. Once the debt is issued these costs are
reclassiﬁed from deferred costs to long-term debt which is
measured using the effective interest rate method.

The Company’s long-lived assets include certain vessels which
contain undetermined amounts of asbestos. Under certain
circumstances the Company may be required to handle and
dispose of the asbestos in a manner required by regulations. It
is the Company’s intention to sell decommissioned vessels into
world markets for continued use in providing commercial ferry
service. Under these circumstances asbestos remediation would
become the responsibility of the new owner.

(p) Hedging relationships:
Derivative ﬁnancial instruments are utilized by the Company to
manage market risk against the volatility in foreign currency,
interest rate, and fuel price exposures. The Company does not
utilize derivative ﬁnancial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes. At the inception of each hedge the company
determines whether it will or will not apply hedge accounting.
When applying hedge accounting, the Company documents
all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process
includes linking all derivatives to speciﬁc assets and liabilities
on the balance sheet or to speciﬁc ﬁrm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The Company also assesses, both at
the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are effective
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash ﬂows of hedged
items. Realized and unrealized gains or losses associated with
derivative instruments which have been terminated or cease to
be effective prior to maturity are recognized in the period in
which they have been terminated or cease to be effective.

No amount has been recorded for asset retirement obligations
relating to these assets as it is not possible to make a reasonable
estimate of the fair value of any such liability due to the
indeterminate magnitude, likelihood or ﬁnancial impact,
if any, of this issue.
(r)

Interest rate support:
The Company receives interest rate support from the
Government of Canada for eligible new Canadian built vessels
or major refurbishment of vessels. Amounts receivable in
regard to capitalized interest are recognized as a reduction of
capitalized interest upon completion of the project. Amounts
receivable in regard to post-completion debt service costs are
recognized as a reduction to interest expense.

(s)

Comprehensive income:
The Company has not recognized any adjustments through
other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2009
and 2008.

(t)

Comparative ﬁgures:
Certain comparative ﬁgures have been reclassiﬁed to conform
to the presentation adopted for the current period.
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(u)

Future accounting changes:
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”):
In 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”)
published a new strategic plan that will signiﬁcantly affect
ﬁnancial reporting requirements for Canadian companies.
The AcSB strategic plan outlines the convergence of Canadian
GAAP with IFRS over an expected ﬁve year transitional period.
During March 2008 the AcSB conﬁrmed the adoption transition
dates for conversion to IFRS. The Company’s transition date for
the conversion to IFRS will be April 1, 2011 and will require the
restatement for comparative purposes of amounts reported
by the Company for the year ending March 31, 2011. While
the Company has begun assessing the adoption of IFRS,
the ﬁnancial reporting impact of the transition cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.
The Company commenced an IFRS conversion project in 2007
and has established a formal project governance structure with
regular reporting. A quality assurance advisor has also been
engaged to assist with the project.
The IFRS conversion project consists of three phases: scoping
and diagnostic; analysis and development; and implementation
and review. Phase one, which has been completed, involved
project planning and resourcing, identiﬁcation of differences
between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, and priority setting. The
results of this phase identiﬁed several areas that have the
highest potential to signiﬁcantly impact the Company. These
areas are rate regulated operations; property plant and
equipment; intangible assets and asset impairment; and initial
adoption of IFRS under the provisions of IFRS 1 “First-Time
Adoption of IFRS”. The second phase is currently in progress
and involves detailed analysis and evaluation of options and
alternative methodologies under IFRS and the ﬁnancial impact
of these options.
Rate-regulated operations:
In March 2007, the AcSB issued an Exposure Draft on rateregulated operations that proposed: (i) the temporary
exemption in Section 1100, “Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles”, of the CICA Handbook providing relief to entities
subject to rate regulation from the requirement to apply the
Section to the recognition and measurement of assets and
liabilities arising from rate regulation be removed; (ii) the
explicit guidance for rate-regulated operations provided in
Section 1600, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, Section
3061, “Property, Plant & Equipment”, Section 3465, “Income
Taxes”, and Section 3475, “Disposal of Long-Lived
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Assets and Discontinued Operations”, be removed; and (iii)
Accounting Guideline 19, “Disclosure by Entities Subject to Rate
Regulation”, be retained as is. The AcSB has also observed that
relying on US Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation” (“FAS 71”), as another source of Canadian GAAP
in the absence of CICA Handbook guidance addressing the
speciﬁc circumstances of entities subject to rate regulation, is
consistent with Section 1100 when the qualifying criteria of
FAS 71 are met.
In August 2007, the AcSB issued a Decision Summary on the
Exposure Draft that supported the removal of the temporary
exemption in Section 1100, “Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles”, and the amendment to Section 3465, “Income Taxes”,
to recognize future income tax liabilities and assets as well as
offsetting future income tax regulatory assets or liabilities for
entities subject to rate regulation. Both changes will apply
prospectively for the Company beginning April 1, 2009. It was
also decided that the current guidance pertaining to property,
plant and equipment and disposal of long-lived assets and
discontinued operations and consolidated ﬁnancial statements
be maintained and that the existing AcG-19 will not be
withdrawn from the Handbook but that the guidance will
be updated as a result of the other changes. The AcSB also
decided that the ﬁnal Background Information and Basis for
Conclusions associated with its rate regulation project would
not express any views of the AcSB regarding the status of
FAS 71, as an “other source of GAAP” within the Canadian
GAAP hierarchy. The Company does not expect application
of these changes to have any impact on the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. The Company is continuing to monitor
any additional implications on its ﬁnancial reporting related
to accounting for rate regulated operations.
Goodwill and intangible assets:
Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” replaces
Sections 3062 and 3450 and becomes effective for the
Company beginning April 1, 2009. This section does not
substantively change the requirement pertaining to goodwill.
The changes in requirements pertaining to intangible assets
primarily relate to recognition criteria for purchased and
internally developed assets which will result in fewer intangible
assets being recognized on the balance sheet. The Company
is continuing to assess the ﬁnancial reporting impact of the
adoption of this section.
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2.

Loans:

As at March 31
Long-term debt:
5.74% Senior Secured Bonds, Series 04-1, due May 2014 (effective interest rate 5.92%) (a)
6.25% Senior Secured Bonds, Series 04-4, due October 2034 (effective interest rate 6.41%) (a)
5.02% Senior Secured Bonds, Series 07-1, due March 2037 (effective interest rate 5.06%) (a)
5.58% Senior Secured Bonds, Series 08-1, due January 2038 (effective interest rate 5.62%) (a)
6.21% Senior Secured Bonds, Series 08-2, due December 2013 (effective interest rate 6.33%) (a)
4.98% Loan, maturing March 2020 (effective interest rate 5.17%) (b)
4.98% Loan, maturing June 2020 (effective interest rate 5.18%) (b)
2.95% Loan, maturing January 2021 (effective interest rate 3.08%) (c)

2009
$

Less: Deferred ﬁnancing costs and unamortized bond discounts
Current portion
$

250,000
250,000
250,000
200,000
140,000
90,000
90,000
108,000
1,378,000
(12,761)
(9,000)
1,356,239

2008
$

$

250,000
250,000
250,000
200,000
–
90,000
–
–
1,040,000
(11,128)
–
1,028,872

Principal repayments due in the next ﬁve years are:
Year ended
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter

$

$

9,000
9,000
22,125
24,000
164,000
1,149,875
1,378,000

In May 2004, the Company entered into a master trust indenture
which established common security and a set of common covenants
for the beneﬁt of all lenders under the Company’s ﬁnancing plan.
The ﬁnancing plan encompasses an ongoing program capable
of accommodating a variety of corporate debt instruments and
borrowings, ranking pari passu.
The Company has issued ﬁve bond series of obligation bonds under
the master trust indenture and entered into a credit facility
agreement. In addition, the Company has entered into loan
agreements which provided $288 million to partially ﬁnance the
Company’s purchase of two Super ‘C’ class vessels and one northern
vessel. These funds were released to coincide with the conditional
acceptance of the vessels in February 2008, May 2008 and
January 2009.
The CICA recommendations regarding the measurement of ﬁnancial
liabilities require that they be measured at initial recognition using
the effective interest rate method. Accordingly, deferred ﬁnancing
costs and unamortized bond discounts have been recalculated using
the effective interest rate method. Commencing April 1, 2007, in
accordance with CICA recommendations regarding the presentation
of ﬁnancial liabilities, long term debt has been reduced by the

cumulative unamortized balance of deferred ﬁnancing costs and
unamortized bond discounts.
(a)

Bonds:
Bonds are issued under supplemental indentures either as
obligation bonds or as pledged bonds. The bonds are secured
by a registered ﬁrst mortgage and charge over vessels, an
unregistered ﬁrst mortgage and charge over ferry terminal
leases, and by a general security agreement on property and
contracts. The bonds are redeemable in whole or in part at
the option of the Company. The following table shows the
semi-annual interest payment dates for the bonds each year
through to maturity.
Bonds
Series 04-1
Series 04-4
Series 07-1
Series 08-1
Series 08-2

Interest payment dates
May 27
November 27
April 13
October 13
March 20
September 20
January 11
July 11
December 19
June 19

(b) 4.98% Loans:
Proceeds of $90.0 million were received in each of February
2008 and May 2008 for the partial ﬁnancing of the purchase of
the Coastal Inspiration and the Coastal Celebration to coincide
with conditional acceptance of these vessels from the shipyard.
Quarterly payments are due in March, June, September and
December each year of the term of the loans.
These loan agreements defer the principal payments for the
ﬁrst three years to a second tranche on which interest only is
paid quarterly and the principal is paid at the end of the term.
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(c)

2.95% Loan:
Proceeds of $108.0 million were received in January 2009 and
applied toward the purchase of the Northern Expedition to
coincide with conditional acceptance from the shipyard. Equal
semi-annual principal payments plus interest are due in January
and July each year of the 12 year term of the loan.

outstanding against this facility at March 31, 2009 totaled
$0.2 million (2008: $32.8 million).
(e)

(d) Credit facility:
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the Company negotiated
a one year extension to the credit facility with a syndicate of
Canadian banks, secured by pledged bonds. This revolving
facility, in the amount of $155 million, matures May 12, 2013.
Draws on this facility totaled $18.0 million as at March 31, 2009
(2008: nil), and are shown as short-term debt at their discounted
value. The effective interest rate on these borrowings was 1.05%.
Interest expensed during the year ended March 31, 2009 was
$0.5 million (2008: $0.3 million). In addition, letters of credit

3.

Debt service reserves:
The Company is required to maintain debt service reserves for
the Series 04-1, 04-4, 07-1, 08-1 and 08-2 bonds equal to not
less than six months forecasted debt service, to be increased
under certain conditions. Further debt service reserves are
required to be maintained for the 4.98% and 2.95% loans
equal to the ﬁrst six months of debt service.
As at March 31, 2009, debt service reserves of $37.3 million
were held in cash and cash equivalents and have been classiﬁed
as restricted cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet
(2008: $14.1 million in restricted cash and cash equivalents and
$15.0 million in short-term investments).

Financial instruments:

The carrying and fair values of the Company’s ﬁnancial instruments are as follows:
As at March 31
Carrying Value
Available for sale 1
Cash
Held for trading 2
Other cash equivalents
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
Held-to-maturity 3
Investments with maturities < 3 months
Short-term investments
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables 3
Accounts receivable
Other ﬁnancial liabilities 3
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short-term debt
Interest payable on long-term debt
Accrued employee costs
Obligations under capital leases
Long-term debt, including current portion 4, 5
Other long-term liabilities
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$

3,884

2009
Approx Fair Value

$

3,884

2008
Carrying Value Approx Fair Value

$

4,297

$

4,297

6,494
–
923

6,494
–
923

15,934
18,144
–

15,934
18,144
–

1,998
153
37,266

1,998
153
37,266

96,088
17,040
14,090

96,088
17,040
14,090

12,883

12,883

14,463

14,463

41,153
17,956
18,395
51,923
1,078
1,365,239
153

41,153
17,956
18,395
51,923
1,078
1,344,065
153

91,263
–
15,718
53,213
1,409
1,028,872
76

91,263
–
15,718
53,213
1,409
1,080,846
76

1 Measured at fair value with revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. Due to the nature of this
ﬁnancial instrument, carrying value approximates fair value.
2 Measured at fair value with all gains and losses included in net earnings in the period in which they arise. Fair values for the derivative assets have been estimated using period-end
market rates. These fair values approximate the amount that the Company would either pay or receive to settle the contract at March 31, 2009.
3 Measured at amortized cost. Due to the nature of these ﬁnancial instruments and/or short-term maturity of these ﬁnancial instruments, carrying value approximates amortized cost
except as noted.
4 Carrying value is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
5 Fair value is calculated by discounting the future cash ﬂows of each debt issue at the estimated yield to maturity for the same or similar issues at March 31, 2009, or by using available
quoted market prices.
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Fair value estimates are made at a speciﬁc point in time, based
on relevant market information and information about the
ﬁnancial instrument. These estimates cannot be determined with
precision as they are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties
and matters of judgment. Where the market pricesare not available,
fair values are estimated using discounted cash ﬂow analysis
based on the Company’s current borrowing rate for similar
borrowing arrangements.
The Company hedges its exposure to ﬂuctuations in fuel prices
and foreign currency exchange rates through the use of derivative
instruments. The fair value of commodity derivatives reﬂects only
the value of the commodity derivatives and not the offsetting
change in value of the underlying future purchase of fuel. These
fair values reﬂect the estimated amounts that theCompany would
receive or pay should the derivative contracts be terminated at the
stated dates. Any gains or losses related to fuel commodity swaps
are charged to the Company’s deferred fuel cost accounts.

4.

Financial risk management:

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk, arises in the
normal course of the Company’s business. The Company manages
market risk arising from the volatility in foreign currency, interest
rate, and fuel price exposures in part through the use of derivative
ﬁnancial instruments including forward contracts, swaps and options.
The Company does not utilize derivative ﬁnancial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. At the inception of each hedge
the Company determines whether it will or will not apply hedge
accounting. No hedges have been designated under Section 3865 –
“Hedges” at March 31, 2009 and 2008.
(a)

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk that a third party to a ﬁnancial instrument
might fail to meet its obligations under the terms of the ﬁnancial
instrument. For cash and short-term investments, derivative
assets and accounts receivable the Company’s credit risk is
limited to the carrying value on the balance sheet. Management
does not believe that the Company is subject to any signiﬁcant
concentration of credit risk.
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on cash and cash
equivalents and investments by investing in liquid securities
with high credit-quality counter-parties, placing limits on
tenor of investment instruments and instituting maximum
investment values per counter-party.

Accounts receivable by source are as follows:
March 31, 2009
Trade customers and miscellaneous
Federal and Provincial Governments
Counter-parties
Total

50.0%
50.0%
0.0%
100.0%

$

$

6,439
6,444
–
12,883

Accounts receivable from trade customers are primarily due
from commercial customers and transportation operators.
Credit risk is reduced by a large and diversiﬁed customer
base and is managed through the review of third party credit
reports on customers both before extending credit and
during the business relationship. The Company manages its
exposure to credit risk associated with all customers through
the monitoring of aging of receivables, by collecting deposits
from and adjusting credit terms for higher-risk customers and
customers who are not on the pre-authorized payment plan.
Amounts due from tickets sold to passengers through the
use of major credit cards are settled shortly after sale and are
classiﬁed as cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet.
Accounts receivable from trade customers are generally due
in 30 days. At March 31, 2009, 89% of trade receivables are
current. At March 31, 2009 the provision for impairment of
credit losses was $0.3 million (2008: $0.2 million) and reﬂects
management’s estimate of uncollectible receivables from
trade customers based on past experience and analysis of
customer accounts.
Amounts due from the Government of Canada and the
Province are considered low credit risk.
The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event that a
counter-party in a derivative contract defaults on its obligation,
including fuel commodity swaps and foreign exchange forward
contracts. The Company manages the credit exposure related
to ﬁnancial instruments by dealing with high credit-quality
institutions, in accordance with established credit-approval
practices, and by an ongoing review of its exposure to
counter-parties. Counter-party credit rating and exposures
are monitored by management on an ongoing basis, and are
subject to approved credit limits. The counter-parties with
which the Company has signiﬁcant derivative transactions must
be rated single A or higher. The Company does not expect any
counter-parties to default on their obligations.
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(b) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will not be able to meet its obligations associated with its ﬁnancial liabilities. The Company’s
ﬁnancial position could be adversely affected if it fails to arrange sufﬁcient and cost-effective ﬁnancing to fund, among other things,
capital expenditures and the repayment of maturing debt. The ability to arrange sufﬁcient and cost-effective ﬁnancing is subject
to numerous factors, including the results of operations and ﬁnancial position of the Company, conditions in the capital and bank
credit markets, ratings assigned by rating agencies and general economic conditions. The Company manages liquidity risk through
daily monitoring of cash balances, the use of long-term forecasting models and the maintenance of debt service reserves (note 2).
The Company targets a strong investment-grade credit rating to maintain capital market access at reasonable interest rates. As at
March 31, 2009 and at March 31, 2008, the Company’s credit ratings were as follows:

British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.:
Senior secured long-term debt

DBRS

Standard & Poor’s

A low

A-

The following is an analysis of the contractual maturities of the Company’s ﬁnancial liabilities as at March 31, 2009.
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short-term debt
Interest payable on long-term debt
Accrued employee costs
Obligations under capital lease,
including current portion
Long-term debt, including current portion
(excluding deferred costs) 1
Other long-term liabilities

< 1year
$

$

9,000

$
1

41,153
17,956
18,395
51,923
541

2–3 years

–
138,968

–
–
–
–
535

4–5 years
$

31,125

$

–
31,660

–
–
–
–
2

> 5years
$

188,000

$

153
188,155

–
–
–
–
–

Total
$

1,149,875

$

–
1,149,875

41,153
17,956
18,395
51,923
1,078
1,378,000

$

153
1,508,658

Carrying value at March 31, 2009 is net of unamortized deferred ﬁnancing costs of $12.8 million. On April 1, 2007, deferred ﬁnancing costs were reclassiﬁed from other assets
in accordance with the transitional provisions of CICA Section 3855. The majority of the Company’s long-term debt relates to acquisition of capital assets.

(c)

Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash ﬂows of
a ﬁnancial instrument will ﬂuctuate due to changes in market
interest rates, foreign currency prices, and fuel prices.
Interest rate risk:
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk associated with
short-term borrowings and ﬂoating rate debt. The Company’s
cash equivalents and short-term investments include ﬁxed rate
instruments with maturities of 185 days or less. Accordingly, the
Company has exposure to interest rate movement that occurs
beyond the term of the maturity of the ﬁxed rate investments.
The Company’s credit facility and the second tranche of each
of the two 4.98% long-term loans are at variable rates and are
subject to interest rate risk. To manage this risk, the Company
maintains between 70% and 100% of its debt portfolio in ﬁxed
rate debt, in aggregate. Additionally, the Company may enter
into interest rate agreements to manage its exposure on debt
instruments. As at March 31, 2009, the Company has no interest
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rate agreements in place to offset interest rate risk and had less
than two per cent of total debt in variable rate instruments.
A 50 basis point change in interest rates would not have a
signiﬁcant effect on earnings for the twelve months ended
March 31, 2009.
Foreign currency price risk:
The Company is exposed to risk from foreign currency prices on
ﬁnancial instruments, such as accounts payable denominated in
currencies other than the Canadian dollar. To manage exposure
on future purchase commitments, the Company reviews foreign
currency denominated commitments and hedges through
derivative instruments as necessary. As at March 31, 2009,
the Company has no foreign currency forward contracts
(2008: $296.3 million).
A 10 per cent change in US dollar or Euro foreign exchange
rates would not have a signiﬁcant effect on earnings for the
year ended March 31, 2009 (note 6(c)).
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Fuel price risk:
The Company is exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of marine diesel fuel. The Company may manage its
exposure to fuel price volatility by entering into swap agreements with certain ﬁnancial intermediaries in order to add a ﬁxed
component to the inherent ﬂoating nature of fuel prices. Fuel price hedging instruments are used solely for the purpose of
reducing fuel price risk, not for generating trading proﬁts. Gains and losses resulting from fuel forward contracts are recognized
as a component of fuel costs. Pursuant to the Company’s Commodity Risk Management Policy, the term of the contracts is not to
extend beyond March 31, 2012. This policy limits hedging to a maximum of 95% of anticipated monthly fuel consumption for the
immediately following 12 month period; a maximum of 90% of anticipated monthly fuel consumption for the 12 month period
thereafter; and a maximum of 85% of anticipated monthly fuel consumption for the period thereafter to March 31, 2012.
The Company is also allowed by regulatory order to use deferred fuel cost accounts to mitigate the impact of changes in fuel price on
its earnings. Any differences between the per litre cost of fuel purchased and consumed (including hedge gains or losses) and the per
litre cost of fuel included in the determination of price caps for the second performance term (note 6) are:
i)

ii)

for those routes comprising the Northern Route Group;
a.

one-half of the ﬁrst 5 cents per litre of difference is recorded in expense for the period with the remaining one-half of the
ﬁrst 5 cents per litre of difference recorded in deferral accounts for recovery or settlement through future tariffs to customers
(note 6(a)), and

b.

any difference beyond 5 cents per litre is recorded in accounts receivable or payable for subsequent recovery from or payment
to the Province of British Columbia (the “Province”), and

for all other routes;
a.

one-half of the ﬁrst 5 cents per litre of difference is recorded in expense for the period with all remaining differences
per litre recorded in deferral accounts for recovery or settlement through future tariffs to customers (note 6(a)).

As a result of the use of deferred fuel cost accounts, the maximum effect on earnings from a change in fuel prices would
be approximately $3 million.
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the amounts recoverable from the Province in relation to fuel cost differences totaled
$2.4 million (2008: nil).

5.

Capital management:

The Company’s principal business of ferry transportation requires ongoing access to capital in order to fund operations, satisfy outstanding
long-term debt obligations and fulﬁll future capital asset acquisition obligations. In order to ensure capital market access is maintained,
the Company targets maintaining strong investment grade credit ratings (note 4(b)).
The consolidated capital structure of the Company is presented in the following table:
March 31, 2009
$
%
Aggregate borrowings 1
Shareholders’ equity 2
Total capital

1,534,078
313,876
1,847,954

1

Includes long-term debt, including current portion, credit facility (drawn and undrawn) and short-term borrowings.

2

Excludes undesignated subsidiaries, PMV and Global.

83.01
16.99
100.00

March 31, 2008
$
%
1,286,409
310,660
1,597,069

80.55
19.45
100.00

The Company has covenants restricting the issuance of additional debt, distributions to shareholders, and guarantees and investments.
Incurrence of additional debt and distributions are restricted when aggregate borrowings exceed 85 per cent of the Company’s total
capital, while restrictions on guarantees and investments are restricted at 75 per cent. Debt service coverage (earnings before interest,
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taxes, depreciation, amortization, and rent) must be at least 1.5 times the debt service cost and the Company is required to maintain debt
service reserves (notes 2 and 4). In addition to these restrictions and requirements, there are other covenants contained in the Master Trust
Indenture (May 2004) available at www.sedar.com. The Company was in compliance with all of its covenants throughout the years ended
March 31, 2009 and 2008.

6.

Financial statement effect of rate regulation:

The Company is regulated by the Commissioner to ensure that tariffs are fair and reasonable and to monitor service levels. Under the terms
of the Act, the tariffs the Company charges its customers are subject to price caps. The Commissioner may, under certain circumstances,
allow increases in price caps over the set levels. The Commissioner has set price caps for the second four year term through March 31, 2012
(the “second performance term”) and will establish the price caps to apply for each subsequent term.
The accounting for regulated operations of the Company may differ from non-regulated businesses following GAAP. As a result, the Company
records assets and liabilities that result from the regulated price cap setting process that would not be recorded under GAAP for non-regulated
entities. Regulatory assets generally represent incurred costs that have been deferred because they are probable of future recovery in tariffs.
Regulatory liabilities represent obligations to customers which will be settled through future tariffs. Management continually assesses
whether the regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering factors such as applicable regulatory changes and believes
the existing regulatory assets are probable of recovery. This determination reﬂects the current regulatory climate, and is subject to change
in the future. If future recovery of costs ceases to be probable, asset write-offs would be required to be recognized in the current period
earnings at that time.
Accounting for the impacts of rate regulation has resulted in recording the following regulatory assets and liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets:
As at March 31
Regulatory assets
First performance term accounts:
Balance at March 31, 2008:
Deferred fuel costs (a)
Submission costs (b)

2009

$

$

18,501
600
19,101

Accumulated amortization

(4,775)
14,326

–
19,101

Current portion
Long-term portion of ﬁrst performance term accounts

(4,775)
9,551

(4,775)
14,326

1,213
923
2,136
11,687

(4,826)
(1,771)
(6,597)
7,729

Second performance term accounts:
Deferred fuel costs
Unrealized fuel hedge losses (gains) (a)
Total long-term regulatory assets
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18,501
600
19,101

2008

$

$

As at March 31
Regulatory liabilities – Current
Tariffs in excess of price cap (d) – current

2009

2008

$

2,858

$

3,558

Regulatory liabilities – Long-term
Hedge gains – vessel contracts (c)

$

–

$

16,833

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

Deferred fuel costs:
As prescribed by regulatory order, the Company defers
differences between actual fuel costs and approved fuel costs
which were used to develop the regulated price caps. The
difference between the approved fuel costs and the actual
fuel costs (including fuel hedge gains and losses) is deferred
for settlement in future tariffs. Also prescribed by regulatory
order, the Company collects fuel surcharges or provides fuel
rebates from time to time which are applied against deferred
fuel cost account balances and has included interest in the
amount to be recovered from or returned to customers.
The Commissioner has considered $18.5 million of unrecovered
deferred fuel costs in the determination of the price caps set
for the second performance term beginning April 1, 2008 and
it is expected that recovery will occur over this four year period.
Accordingly, this $18.5 million will be amortized to expense on
a straight-line basis over the term. The difference between the
balances in the deferred fuel cost accounts at March 31, 2008
and this $18.5 million, a $6.6 million credit, forms the opening
balances of the fuel cost deferral accounts for the second
performance term.
During December 2008 the Province entered into an agreement
with the Company to pay $1.7 million, to be applied against the
balance of deferred fuel costs.
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the Company recognized
$4.6 million in amortization expense for deferred fuel costs
(March 31, 2008: nil).
It is expected that the recovery or settlement period of balances
in the second performance term deferred fuel cost accounts will
be the remaining period of the term ending March 31, 2012. If
the Company was not a regulated entity, earnings for the year
ended March 31, 2009 would have been $4.1 million lower
(March 31, 2008: $7.0 million higher), except for this deferral.
Unrealized hedge gains or losses result from the use of forward
contracts to ﬁx the price of future fuel purchases and are valued
on a mark-to-market basis as at the balance sheet date. Section
3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”
requires that these ﬁnancial instruments be valued at fair value
and recognized in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

(b) Performance term submission costs:
The Commissioner has authorized the Company to defer costs
of representation associated with the second performance
term. The Commissioner has considered these costs in the

determination of the price caps set for the four years beginning
April 1, 2008. The Commissioner has not included an allowance
for a return on investment for this item. The recovery period
will be the four year period of the second performance term,
commencing April 1, 2008. If the Company was not a regulated
entity, earnings for the year ended March 31, 2009 would have
been $0.1 million higher (2008: $0.1 million lower), except for
this deferral.
(c)

Hedge gains or losses – vessel construction contracts:
The Company defers gains or losses on ﬁnancial derivative
instruments which have been entered into to manage market
risk against ﬂuctuations in the Canadian dollar equivalent
of vessel construction contracts denominated in foreign
currencies. The intent and effect of these transactions is to
provide greater certainty of the cost of the related new vessel
acquisitions. The total cost of these assets, including hedge
gains or losses, has been determined by the Commissioner
to be reasonable and will be taken into account in the
determination of price caps set for the periods following
the entry of these assets into service. It is expected that the
settlement or recovery period of hedge gains or losses is ﬁve
to forty years. If the Company was not a regulated entity,
earnings for the year ended March 31, 2009 would have
been $16.8 million lower (2008: $19.2 million higher), except
for this deferral.

(d) Tariffs in excess of price cap:
The Act contains provisions which ensure that if tariffs charged
by the Company exceed established price caps, the excess
amounts collected will be returned to customers through
future tariffs. At March 31, 2009, tariffs charged to customers
on the Major Route Group exceeded the price cap by
$2.9 million (2008: $3.4 million). In addition, tariffs charged
to customers on the Bear Cove – Mid Coast Route Group
exceeded the price cap at March 31, 2008 by $0.2 million.
The Bear Cove – Mid Coast Route Group has been discontinued
as a separate route group and combined with the Northern
Route Group effective April 1, 2008.
In the absence of rate regulated accounting, GAAP would
require these revenues to be recognized as income in the
period collected, and earnings for the year ended March 31, 2009
would have been $0.7 million lower (2008: $3.5 million higher),
except for this deferral.
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7.

Capital assets:

March 31, 2009
Property, plant and equipment
Vessels
Berths, buildings and equipment
Berths, buildings and equipment under capital lease
Land
Construction-in-progress

$

$

March 31, 2008
Property, plant and equipment
Vessels
Berths, buildings and equipment
Berths, buildings and equipment under capital lease
Land
Construction-in-progress

$

8.

Amortization expense for assets under capital lease for the year
ended March 31, 2009 amounted to $16.2 million (2008: $14.5 million).
In addition to the construction-in-progress referenced above, the
contractual commitments at March 31, 2009 for capital assets to be
constructed totaled $11.9 million (2008: $346.3 million). Included in
the contractual commitments as at March 31, 2009 is $0.4 million
(2008: $119.8 million) for design and construction of a new vessel for
use on the north coast. Also included in contractual commitments
at March 31, 2008 was $127.8 million committed for design and
construction of two “Super C” Class vessels and $24.2 million
committed to procure an intermediate class vessel. Delivery of the
two “Super C” Class vessels occurred in March 2008 and June 2008.
Delivery of the intermediate class vessel occurred in December 2008
and delivery of the new northern vessel occurred in January 2009.
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the Company sold two
vessels, the Queen of Esquimalt and the Queen of Tsawwassen.
Both vessels were fully amortized and a gain of $1.2 million was
recognized on disposal of the Queen of Esquimalt and the disposal
of the Queen of Tsawwassen had no effect on the earnings of the
Company. During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company
replaced or disposed of terminal structures, equipment and vehicles
with no effect on the earnings of the Company.
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1,568,702
126,775
586,149
1,406
281,502
2,564,534

$

1,223,364
111,439
532,678
1,406
312,568
2,181,455

533,714
86,411
240,967
–
–
861,092

$

Accumulated
amortization

Cost

$

For the year ended March 31, 2009 capitalized ﬁnancing costs
during construction amounted to $14.3 million (2008: $10.4 million).

Accumulated
amortization

Cost

$

$

560,719
80,397
236,695
–
–
877,811

Net book value
$

$

1,034,988
40,364
345,182
1,406
281,502
1,703,442

Net book value
$

$

662,645
31,042
295,983
1,406
312,568
1,303,644

Assets held for sale:

During the year ended March 31, 2009, in accordance with the
Company’s business plan to upgrade or replace aging assets, the
Queen of Saanich was decommissioned and is currently held for
sale. This coincides with entry into service of the ﬁnal “Super C”
class vessel in November 2008. Disposal is expected to take place
during the year ended March 31, 2010.

9.

Long-term land lease:

On April 1, 2003, the Company’s land and structures comprising
its terminals were transferred by the Company to the BC
Transportation Financing Authority (“BCTFA”), a British Columbia
Crown Corporation and related party at the time of the transaction.
In exchange, the Company received recognition of a prepayment
for leases of the transferred terminal structures and land. The
structures, having lives of less than the lease term, are considered a
capital lease and, as such, have been capitalized and included with
capital assets and are amortized in accordance with the Company’s
amortization policy.
The land, having an indeﬁnite useful life, is considered an operating
lease. The prepayment of the land lease has been deferred and will
be amortized on a straight-line basis over eighty years, being the
initial sixty year lease period, plus an additional twenty year bargain
renewal option. The transaction is reﬂected at the book values of
the transferred terminal structures and land.
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Since April 1, 2003, the Company has entered into various
agreements with BCTFA to add lands to the existing terminal leases.
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the cost of lands added to
the terminal leases totaled $5.1 million (2008: $1.6 million).

10. Accrued employee future benefits:
(a)

Description of beneﬁt plans:
The Company and its employees contribute to the Public
Service Pension Plan (the “Plan”). The Pension Corporation of
the Province of British Columbia administers the Plan, including
the payment of retirement and post-employment beneﬁts
on behalf of employers. The Plan is a multi-employer deﬁned
beneﬁt pension plan. Under joint trusteeship, which became
effective January 1, 2001, the risk and reward associated with
the Plan’s unfunded liability or surplus is shared between the
employers and the plan members and will be reﬂected in their
future contributions.
In addition, eligible employees are entitled to other retirement
and future beneﬁts as provided for under the collective
agreement and terms of employment. A retirement bonus
and a death beneﬁt, both unfunded deﬁned beneﬁt plans,
and both administered by the Company, are based on years of
service and ﬁnal average salary. A funded long-term disability
multi-employer plan provides disability income beneﬁts after
employment, but before retirement.

liability from the deposit class system that has been valued
by actuarial assumptions as appropriate for a closed plan.
Currently this obligation is unfunded.
(b) Total cash payments:
Total cash payments for employee future beneﬁts for the year
ended March 31, 2009, consisting of cash contributed by the
Company to its multi-employer deﬁned beneﬁt plans, cash
payments directly to beneﬁciaries for its unfunded other beneﬁt
plans, and cash contributed to a third party administrator of
an unfunded plan, was $23.4 million (2008: $21.7 million).
(c)

Deﬁned beneﬁt plans:
All of the Company’s deﬁned beneﬁt plans, except its
multi-employer plans, are currently unfunded. The most
recent actuarial valuation of the retirement bonus and death
beneﬁt plans is as at March 31, 2007. A plan amendment
at December 31, 2007 restricts exempt employees from
joining the retirement bonus and death beneﬁt plans. This
has resulted in a negative past service cost, which is being
amortized over the average remaining service period of the
active employee group covered by the plans commencing
January 1, 2008. The most recent actuarial valuations of
the WCB obligation and the Sick Bank obligation are as at
March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2001, respectively.

The Company also administers an unfunded accumulated sick
leave bank (“Sick Bank obligation”), consisting of unused sick
time credits, earned prior to the discontinuation of the sick
leave accumulation beneﬁt, in 1979. Accumulated sick leave
may be drawn down at 100%, or paid out at 50%. Beneﬁts
are paid out at current salary rates. No new credits are
accumulated to this bank.
The Company’s employees may also receive compensation
beneﬁts arising from claims prior to March 31, 2003
administered by the Workers’ Compensation Board (“WCB
obligation”). Prior to March 31, 2003, the Company participated
in the Workers’ Compensation Board deposit class coverage
system. Subsequent to March 31, 2003 the Company has
been covered under the Workers’ Compensation Board rate
system. The change to the rate system resulted in a residual
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Accrued beneﬁt obligations
Balance, beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Beneﬁts paid
Actuarial (gains) losses
Plan amendment – past service cost
Balance, end of year

Reconciliation of funded status of the beneﬁt plans to the amounts
recorded in the ﬁnancial statements
Fair value of plan assets
Accrued beneﬁt obligation
Funded status of plans – deﬁcit
Unamortized net actuarial loss
Unamortized plan amendment – past service cost
Accrued beneﬁt liability
Current portion of accrued employee future beneﬁts
Accrued employee future beneﬁts

Elements of deﬁned beneﬁt costs recognized in the year
Current service cost, net of employee contributions
Interest cost
Actuarial (gains) losses
Plan amendments
Deﬁned beneﬁt costs recognized

$

$

$

$

$

Other beneﬁt plans
2009
2008
15,079
$
15,444
511
497
673
752
(2,155)
(2,090)
(4)
1,917
–
(1,441)
14,104
$
15,079

Other beneﬁt plans
2009
2008
–
$
–
14,104
15,079
(14,104)
(15,079)
2,443
(1,186)
(12,847)
800
(12,047)

$

2,649
(1,390)
(13,820)
800
(13,020)

Other beneﬁt plans
2009
2008
511
497
673
752
202
158
(204)
(51)
1,182
$
1,356

Signiﬁcant assumptions
The signiﬁcant assumptions used are as follows (weighted average):
Accrued beneﬁt obligation as of March 31:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Annual employee retention rate
Employees with eligible dependents at pre-retirement death
Beneﬁt cost for years ended March 31:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Annual employee retention rate
Employees with eligible dependents at pre-retirement death
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2009

2008

5.0%
2.0%
92.0%
43.0%

5.0%
2.0%
92.0%
43.0%

5.0%
2.0%
92.0%
43.0%

5.0%
2.0%
92.0%
43.0%
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(d)

Multi-employer plans:
The total cost recognized for the Company’s multi-employer plans is as follows:

Public Service Pension Plan contributions (i)
Long-term disability plan contributions
Long-term disability plan amortization of surplus (ii)

$

$

2009
18,289
2,966
64
21,319

$

$

2008
17,356
2,266
64
19,686

i)

The March 31, 2008 actuarial valuation report for the Public Service Pension Plan was received by the Public Service Pension Board
of Trustees on December 3, 2008. This report indicated that the pension fund has a surplus of $487 million. Under the terms of
the plan’s joint trust agreement, plan members and employers share in any increase or decrease in contribution rates. The plan
trustees have increased the member and employer contribution rates from 7.63% to 7.78% of pensionable earnings, effective
April 1, 2009, primarily due to changes in the investment return and salary increase assumptions. The next valuation will be as
at March 31, 2011.

ii)

Contribution rates for the long-term disability plan are actuarially determined every three years as a percentage of covered payroll.
The most recent valuation, as at March 31, 2008, determined a fund deﬁcit and the employer contribution rate will increase
from 1.81% to 2.87% of covered payroll effective April 1, 2009 to address this deﬁcit. The next scheduled valuation will be as
at March 31, 2011.

11. Obligations under capital lease:
The Company has entered into lease agreements with terms of three or four years for computer equipment and for a ten year term for a
training facility. During the year ended March 31, 2009 the Company added $0.4 million of leased computer equipment to capital assets
(2008: $2.1 million).
Future minimum lease payments:
Year ended
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Executory costs and imputed interest included in payments (5.62% – 6.33%)

618
449
172
77
18
(256)
1,078

Current portion of capital lease liability
$

(541)
537

For the year ended March 31, 2009, $0.1 million of interest paid on capital leases is included in interest expense. (2008: $0.1 million).
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12. Share capital:
(a) Authorized:
1,000,000
1
80,000

Class A voting common shares, without par value
Class B voting common share, without par value
Class C non-voting, 8% cumulative preferred shares, with a par value of $1,000 per share, convertible to Class A shares
upon the sale of the outstanding Class B share by the initial shareholder. Special rights attached to the Class C shares
restrict the Company’s ability to issue shares and to declare dividends.

(b) Issued and outstanding:
As at March 31
Class B, common
Class C, preferred

(c)

2009
Number of shares
1
75,477

2008
Amount $
1
75,477
$ 75,478

Number of shares
1
75,477

Amount $
1
75,477
$
75,478

Dividends:
Dividends on the Class C cumulative preferred shares, if declared, are payable annually on March 31 of each year. All dividend
entitlements to date have been paid.

13. Fare reduction and service restoration agreement:
During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with the Province under which the Province paid the
Company $1.2 million to reimburse the costs of providing certain sailings from mid-October 2008 through March 31, 2009. This
$1.2 million has been recorded as a reduction of operations expenses for the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2009.
In addition, the Province paid the Company $19.6 million to allow a 33 percent reduction on fares for all routes during the months of
December 2008 and January 2009, and on the Prince Rupert to Skidegate route during February 2009. This $19.6 million has been
recorded as tariff revenue for the ﬁscal year ended March 31, 2009.

14. Ferry service fees:
The Company entered into an agreement with the Province commencing April 1, 2003 to provide ferry services that would not be
commercially viable under the current regulated tariff structure. In exchange for fees, the Company provides agreed ferry service levels
on speciﬁed routes and administers certain social policy initiatives on behalf of the Province. The agreement is for a period of sixty years,
the details of which are renegotiated after a ﬁrst term of ﬁve years and each four-year term thereafter. The agreement was amended on
June 30, 2007 and March 31, 2008 to, among other things, establish the ferry service levels and the fees for the provision of such service
for the second performance term ending March 31, 2012.

15. Federal-Provincial Subsidy Agreement:
The Company receives revenue provided to the Province from the Government of Canada pursuant to a contract between the federal
and provincial governments for the provision of ferry, coastal freight and passenger services in the waters of British Columbia. The annual
payment increases with the Vancouver Consumer Price Index.
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16. Other government support:
(a)

Interest rate support:
Prior to March 31, 2008 the Government of Canada agreed to provide $9.9 million in the form of interest rate support to the
Company for major refurbishments on three vessels. The entire amount of $9.9 million has been previously recorded in periods
prior to March 31, 2008 as either a reduction of capitalized interest or as a reduction of interest expense. During the year
ended March 31, 2008 $2.1 million of this amount was recorded as a reduction of interest expense.
During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Government of Canada agreed to provide a further $10.7 million in the form of
interest rate support to the Company for major refurbishment of one vessel and construction of another. During the year
ended March 31, 2009, $2.4 million of this amount has been recorded as a reduction of interest expense and $3.6 million
as a reduction of capitalized interest.
The Company has no requirement to repay these funds, other than as a result of an event of default under the agreement with
the Government of Canada.

(b) Nicola reﬁt:
During the year ended March 31, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with the Province under which the Province
agreed to reimburse the Company for the major reﬁt of the Nicola, which provides service on the Prince Rupert - Lax Kw’alaams
route, to a maximum of $1.6 million. A major reﬁt of this vessel is scheduled to occur once every four years. During the year ended
March 31, 2009, $1.1 million (2008: $0.5 million) of this amount was recorded as a reduction of maintenance expense.

17. Adjustment to retained earnings:
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook sections 1530
“Comprehensive Income”, 3251 “Equity”, 3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”, 3861 “Financial Instruments –
Disclosure and Presentation”, and 3865 “Hedges”.
The adoption of these standards had the following effect on the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for the twelve months ended
March 31, 2008:
(1)

Recognition of foreign currency forward contracts as derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements;

(2)

Restatement of opening retained earnings at April 1, 2007 to recognize the prior years’ earnings effect of accounting for
long-term debt using the effective interest rate method; and

(3)

Reclassiﬁcation of deferred ﬁnancing costs to long-term debt.

As at April 1, 2007, the impact on the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of recording foreign currency forward contracts as derivative
assets and liabilities, measuring the long-term debt using the effective interest rate method and reclassifying the deferred ﬁnancing
costs directly attributable to the issuance of the long-term debt is summarized in the table below:

Derivative assets
Other assets – deferred ﬁnancing costs
Derivative liabilities
Long-term debt
Retained earnings

$

April 1, 2007
8,625
1,017
18,677
740,587
204,047

March 31, 2007
$
–
9,580
2,831
749,628
203,569

$

Net Impact
8,625
(8,563)
15,846
(9,041)
478

In the table above, the remaining balance of deferred ﬁnancing costs at April 1, 2007 represent costs incurred for long-term debt arranged
for but not yet issued.
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18. Other commitments:
(a)

Operating lease agreements:
The Company entered into an agreement to lease ofﬁce space commencing March 1, 2008 for a term of ﬁve years with two successive
renewal options of ﬁve years each. Rental expenses charged to administration expenses for the year ended March 31, 2009 were
$0.8 million (2008: $0.1 million).
Future minimum lease payments, reﬂecting early termination as described in (b) below, are as follows:
Year ended
2010
2011

$

832
261
1,093

$

(b) Capital lease agreements:
During the year ended March 31, 2009 the Company signed agreements which constitute a capital lease for space in a new downtown
Victoria, BC head ofﬁce building. The lease is expected to take effect in August 2010 following the completion of construction of the
new building and will result in the termination of the existing ofﬁce space lease.
The initial term of the new building lease is for ﬁfteen years, with four renewal options of ﬁve years each. The Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Paciﬁc Marine Leasing Inc., has agreed to advance up to $25 million to the developer of the new head ofﬁce property for
a term of ﬁfteen years, secured by a second mortgage of the property. Incidental to the loan, the Company was granted an option
to purchase up to ﬁfty percent of the owner’s equity interest in the new building at a maximum price of $25 million. The purchase
option expires at the end of the loan term.
Additionally, the Company has agreed to sell the current head ofﬁce building located at 1112 Fort Street, Victoria, BC for approximately
$11 million. Both the commencement of the new ofﬁce lease and the sale of the existing head ofﬁce building are subject to the
construction of the new head ofﬁce building being completed no later than May 31, 2011.
Future minimum lease payments are as follows:
Year ended
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter

$

$

–
2,232
2,976
2,976
2,976
2,976
30,748
44,884

19. Related party transactions:
In accordance with the Act, the Company is responsible for paying any expenses that are incurred by its parent, B.C. Ferry Authority
(“BCFA”), without charge. During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company paid $1,789 (2008: $51,117) of such expenses.
The Province owns the Company’s 75,477 non voting preferred shares, but has no voting interest in either the Company or its parent, BCFA.
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20. Contingent liabilities:
The Company, in conducting its usual business activities, is involved in various legal proceedings and litigation, the outcome of which
is indeterminable. It is the Company’s policy to carry adequate insurance to minimize the ﬁnancial risk associated with such matters.
Management is of the opinion that the aggregate net liability, if any, of these proceedings and litigation would not be signiﬁcant
to the Company. Any additional future costs or recoveries, which differ from the accrued amounts, will be recorded as expenses
or revenues as determined.

21. Supplemental cash flow information:
Years ended March 31
(a) Change in operating working capital:
Change in working capital
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Regulatory assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interest payable on long-term debt
Accrued employee costs
Deferred revenue
Regulatory liabilities
Change in working capital
Working capital change attributable to capital asset acquisitions
Change in operating working capital
(b) Cash paid during the year for interest
(c)

Non-cash transactions:
Capital assets acquired under capital lease

2009

$

2008

$

1,580
(847)
220
–
(50,110)
2,677
(1,290)
675
(700)
(47,795)
41,012
(6,783)

$

$

3,935
(1,406)
(563)
(4,775)
18,752
3,055
5,820
3,077
3,468
31,363
(22,646)
8,717

$

63,431

$

43,064

$

444

$

2,106

22. Restructuring costs:
On January 20, 2009, the Company announced a restructuring of management and administrative staff which resulted in the elimination
of approximately seventy-seven positions. Severance and other termination beneﬁts totalling $3.1 million were recorded in administration
expenses during the year ended March 31, 2009.
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR

The B.C. Ferry Authority is an independent, no-share corporation that holds the single issued voting share of British Columbia Ferry Services
Inc. The Authority appoints the Board of Directors of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. Currently, the members of the B.C. Ferry Authority
Board are also directors of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.
The B.C. Ferry Authority is governed by the Coastal Ferry Act, which establishes a process for the appointment of directors to ensure broad
regional representation. In accordance with the Act, the Authority has a nine-member Board of Directors composed of individuals with a
wide range of experience.
Four directors are appointed from nominations received from four appointment areas, comprising 13 coastal regional districts. In addition,
one director is appointed from nominations from the union representing the employees of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc., two directors
are appointed from the community-at-large and two additional directors are appointed by the provincial government.
The Board adheres to the highest corporate governance standards in its deliberations.

Elizabeth J. Harrison, QC
Chair
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The B.C. Ferry Authority (the “Authority”) is a corporation without
share capital which owns the single issued voting share of the
operating company, British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. (“BCF”).
The Province of British Columbia is the holder of all of the preferred
shares of BCFS. The Authority appoints the Board of Directors of BCF.
The Authority is established and governed by the Coastal Ferry Act
(the “Act”). In accordance with the Act, the Authority has adopted
high standards of public and stakeholder accountability that require
the Authority’s ﬁnancial and operating performance, as well as its
process for appointing qualiﬁed individuals to serve as directors,
to be open to public view.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
The Authority has a nine member Board of Directors (the “Board”),
the required composition of which is set out in the Act and includes
regional and stakeholder representation. Four directors are appointed
by the Board from nominees of four Appointment Areas, composed
of coastal regional districts, and one director is appointed from
nominees of the BC Ferry and Marine Workers’ Union (“BCFMWU”),
the trade union representing the employees of BCF.
The Board also includes two directors appointed by the Province
of British Columbia and two additional directors appointed by the
Board from members of the community-at-large.
The Act requires that the terms of three directors of the Authority
expire each year. The ﬁrst appointments to the Board were
staggered such that three appointments were made for each of one,
two and three years. Directors may serve for up to two consecutive
terms (or three consecutive terms in the case of current directors
who served on the ﬁrst Board of the Authority). At present, as a
matter of Board policy, the directors of the Authority are also
directors of the operating company, BCF.

During the year, the Board sought and received nominations
of qualiﬁed individuals to serve as directors from the Central
Vancouver Island & Northern Georgia Strait Appointment Area
and the Northern Coastal & North Island Appointment Area two
Appointment Areas, as well as considered qualiﬁed candidates
for appointment from members of the community-at-large.
Appointments to the Board from the nominees of the two
Appointment Areas, as well as from the community-at-large,
were made effective April 1, 2009.
In selecting individuals to serve as directors of the Authority, two
primary objectives continued to guide the deliberations of the
Board. The ﬁrst objective was to ensure that the composition of
the Board met the requirements of the Act and the second was to
ensure that collectively, the Board included individuals with the
skills and experience necessary to ensure the sound performance
of the Authority and the effective interaction and operation of the
Board. The speciﬁc criteria that guided the Board in its appointment
process during the year are reﬂected in the Skills and Experience
Proﬁle adopted by the Authority and included as Schedule “A” to
the General Bylaws of the Authority. The General Bylaws of the
Authority are available for public view on the Authority’s website:
www.bcferryauthority.com. There were no amendments made to
the bylaws during the year.

MEETINGS
The Board meets regularly to conduct its business. During the year,
the Board and its Committees met on 16 occasions. This included the
Annual General Meeting of the Authority held in accordance with
section 18 of the Act. A summary of the meetings of the Board and
its Committees follows.
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SUMMARY OF MEETINGS 2008/09

DATE

TYPE

OUTCOMES

April 25, 2008

Board of Directors

Nil

June 10, 2008

Audit & Finance Committee

U Financial statements of the Authority for the year ended
March 31, 2008 recommended

June 11, 2008

Governance & Nominating
Committee

U Amendments to the Board Governance Manual, including the Committee’s
terms of reference, recommended
U Additional membership of certain Committees and change in
Chair of the Governance & Nominating Committee recommended
U Remuneration recommended

June 12, 2008

Board of Directors

U Financial statements of the Authority for the year ended
March 31, 2008 approved
U Amendments to the Board Governance Manual, including the
Governance & Nominating Committee’s terms of reference approved
U Additional members appointed to certain Committees and Chair of
the Governance & Nominating Committee appointed
U Remuneration set
U General Counsel authorized to execute, on behalf of the Authority, the
shareholder’s unanimous consent resolutions pertaining to all of the
business required to be transacted at the Annual General Meeting of
British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.
U 2007/08 annual report of the Authority approved

August 26, 2008

Audit & Finance Committee

U Financial statements of the Authority for the three months ended
June 30, 2008 recommended
U Amendments to the Committee’s terms of reference recommended

August 27, 2008

Governance & Nominating
Committee

U Amendments to the Audit & Finance Committee’s terms of
reference recommended
U Additional membership of the Committee recommended
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August 27, 2008

Board of Directors

U Financial statements of the Authority for the three months ended
June 30, 2008 approved
U Amendments to the Audit & Finance Committee’s terms of reference approved
U Additional members appointed to the Governance & Nominating Committee

August 27, 2008

Annual General Meeting

U Annual General Meeting held pursuant to the Coastal Ferry Act (section 18)

November 25, 2008

Audit & Finance Committee

U Financial statements of the Authority for the six months ended
September 30, 2008 recommended
U 2008/09 terms of engagement for the external auditor approved
U Appointment of the external auditor for the period commencing
with the ﬁscal year ending March 31, 2010 recommended
U Committee meeting dates for 2011/12 approved

November 25, 2008

Governance & Nominating
Committee

U Appointment of candidate from the community-at-large recommended
U Amendments to the Board Governance Manual recommended
U Committee meeting dates for 2011/12 approved

November 26, 2008

Board of Directors

U Financial statements of the Authority for the six months ended
September 30, 2008 approved
U External auditor for the period commencing with the ﬁscal year
ending March 31, 2010 appointed
U Candidate from the community-at-large appointed a Director
of the Authority effective April 1, 2009
U Amendments to the Board Governance Manual approved
U Board of Directors meeting dates for 2011/12 approved

January 27, 2009

Governance & Nominating
Committee

U Appointment of nominees from the Appointment Areas recommended

February 19, 2009

Audit & Finance Committee

U Financial statements of the Authority for the nine months ended
December 31, 2008 recommended
U 2009/10 operating budget of the Authority recommended
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February 20, 2009

Governance & Nominating
Committee

U Appointment of the Board Chair effective April 1, 2009 recommended
U Committee structure, Chairs and memberships effective
April 1, 2009 recommended
U Rescinding of the Ofﬁcer appointments of the Vice Chair and
General Counsel recommended

February 20, 2009

Board of Directors

U Financial statements of the Authority for the nine months ended
December 31, 2008 approved
U 2009/10 operating budget of the Authority approved
U Board Chair appointed effective April 1, 2009
U Committee structure, Chairs and memberships effective
April 1, 2009 approved
U Number of Directors of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. decreased
from fourteen to twelve effective April 1, 2009
U Directors of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. effective
April 1, 2009 appointed
U Ofﬁcer appointments of the Vice Chair and General Counsel rescinded

March 23, 2009

Board of Directors

U Community-at-large appointment made November 26, 2008 rescinded
and a new appointment made effective April 1, 2009
U Additional members appointed to the Governance & Nominating
Committee effective April 1, 2009
U Number of Directors of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. increased
from fourteen to ﬁfteen effective March 23, 2009 and set at thirteen
effective April 1, 2009
U Appointment made to the Board of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.
effective March 23, 2009
U Time and location of next Annual General Meeting conﬁrmed
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AUDITORS’
PAGE
REPORT
TITLE

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, B.C. FERRY AUTHORITY

We have audited the statement of ﬁnancial position of B.C. Ferry Authority as at March 31, 2009 and the statements of operations and
changes in net assets for the year then ended. These ﬁnancial statements are the responsibility of the Authority’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of the Authority as at
March 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash ﬂows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Victoria, Canada
May 15, 2009
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (expressed in thousands)
As at March 31
Assets
Investment in British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.

2009

Net Assets
Invested in common share of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.
Accumulated undistributed earnings of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.

2008

$

238,095

$

235,104

$

238,095

$

235,104

$

1
238,094

$

1
235,103

$

238,095

$

235,104

See accompanying notes to ﬁnancial statements.
On behalf of the Board:

Director, Graham M. Wilson

Director, Elizabeth J. Harrison, QC

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (expressed in thousands)
Years ended March 31
Revenue:
Distributable earnings of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. (note 2)

2009
$

2008

2,991

Expenses:
Administration
Recovery from British Columbia Ferry Services Inc. (note 3)

$

31,534

2
(2)
–

Excess of revenue over expenses
See accompanying notes to ﬁnancial statements.

$

51
(51)
–

2,991

$

31,534

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (expressed in thousands)
Years Ended March 31

2009
Undistributed
Earnings of BCFSI

Invested in BCFSI

80

2008
Total

Total

Beginning of year
Excess of revenue over expenses

$

1
–

$

235,103
2,991

$

235,104
2,991

$ 203,570
31,534

End of year
See accompanying notes to ﬁnancial statements.

$

1

$

238,094

$

238,095

$

235,104

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B.C. Ferry Authority (the “Authority”) was established by the
Coastal Ferry Act (British Columbia) (the “Act”) on April 1, 2003
as a corporation without share capital. The Authority is governed
by a board of nine directors. The board of directors appoints
replacements for outgoing directors for seven of the positions
as follows:
U four appointed from nominees provided to the board by
each of the four appointment areas consisting of those coastal
regional districts that the Lieutenant Governor in Council for
British Columbia may prescribe, with one director appointed
from each area;
U one appointed from nominees provided by the trade union
representing the employees of the British Columbia Ferry
Services Inc. (“BCFSI”);
U two appointed from qualiﬁed individuals as deﬁned in the Act.
The Lieutenant Governor in Council for British Columbia appoints
the other two director positions from qualiﬁed individuals as terms
expire. The terms of three director positions expire each ﬁscal year.
The Authority’s primary purpose is to hold the share of BCFSI, a
company incorporated under the Company Act (British Columbia)
by way of conversion on April 2, 2003, and which now validly exists
under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). BCFSI’s
primary business is the provision of coastal ferry services in
British Columbia. The Province of British Columbia (the “Province”)
contributed the initial capital to the Authority to fund the purchase
of the BCFSI common share. The Act provides that upon a sale of the
common share of BCFSI held by the Authority, the Province is to be
repaid its initial contribution and the Authority is dissolved. The Act
also provides that upon dissolution of the Authority, all remaining
assets of the Authority, if any, vest in the Province.

1.

Significant accounting policies:

(a)

Basis of presentation:
The ﬁnancial statements are prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for notfor-proﬁt entities. The Authority’s investment in its wholly
owned subsidiary, BCFSI is accounted for by the equity method.
Under the equity method the original cost of the investment is
adjusted for the Authority’s share of post-acquisition earnings
or losses less dividends.

(b) Adoption of new accounting standards:
Effective April 1, 2008, the Authority adopted the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section
3862 “Financial Instruments – Disclosure” and Handbook
Section 3863 “Financial Instruments – Presentation”. Sections
3862 and 3863 replace Handbook Section 3861 “Financial
Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”. These new
Handbook sections require disclosures, by class of ﬁnancial
instrument, and additional qualitative and quantitative
information regarding the nature and extent of risks arising
from ﬁnancial instruments to which the Authority is exposed
which will enable users to evaluate the signiﬁcance of
ﬁnancial instruments for the Authority’s ﬁnancial position
and performance, including disclosures about fair value.
The Authority did not hold any ﬁnancial instruments at either
March 31, 2009 or March 31, 2008. Accordingly the adoption
of these standards had no effect on the ﬁnancial statements
for the twelve months ended March 31, 2009.
(c)

Revenue recognition:
The Authority follows the deferral method of accounting
for contributions. The Authority does not expect to receive
endowment contributions.

(d) Taxes:
The Authority and BCFSI are exempt from federal and
provincial income taxes.
(e)

Statement of Cash Flows:
A statement of cash ﬂows has not been included with these
statements as it does not provide additional information.

(f)

Comparative ﬁgures:
Certain comparative ﬁgures have been reclassiﬁed to conform
to the presentation adopted for the current period.

(g) Future accounting changes:
Amendments have been made to CICA Handbook Section
4400 – “Financial Statement Presentation by Not-For-Proﬁt
Organizations” that will become effective for the Authority
beginning April 1, 2009. The amendments clarify the reporting
requirements for net assets and require not for proﬁt
organizations to apply the same standards as proﬁt-oriented
enterprises with respect to interim ﬁnancial statements and
statements of cash ﬂows.
The Authority does not expect application of this amendment
to have any impact on the ﬁnancial statements.
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2.

Distributable earnings of British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.:

The distributable earnings of BCFSI consist of the current period net earnings, less any dividends paid in the current period and less
a reserve for undeclared preferred share dividend, if any.

Years ended March 31
Net earnings and comprehensive income of BCFSI
Dividends paid on 8% cumulative preferred shares
Adjustment to the accumulated undistributed earnings of BCFSI (a)

2009

2008

$

9,029
(6,038)
–

$

37,094
(6,038)
478

$

2,991

$

31,534

(a)

Effective April 1, 2007, BCFSI adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook section 3855 “Financial
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”. This resulted in a restatement of opening retained earnings at April 1, 2007 to recognize
the prior years’ earnings effect of accounting for long-term debt using the effective interest method.

3.

Recovery from British Columbia Ferry Services Inc.:

The Act provides that BCFSI is responsible for paying any expenses that are incurred by the Authority.

4.

Subsidiary supplemental information:

The consolidated ﬁnancial position and operating results for BCFSI and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are summarized below:
As at March 31
Current assets
Capital and other assets

Current liabilities
Accrued employee future beneﬁts
Regulatory liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations

2009
$

92,420
1,749,460

$

209,171
1,341,280

$

1,841,880

$

1,550,451

$

159,332
12,047
–
153
1,356,776

$

180,350
13,020
16,833
76
1,029,591

Shareholders’ equity
Common share held by the Authority
Preferred shares (a)
Retained earnings

$

82

2008

1,528,308

1,239,870

1
75,477
238,094

1
75,477
235,103

313,572

310,581

1,841,880

$

1,550,451

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended March 31

2009

Revenue (including gains)
Expenses (including losses)
Net earnings and comprehensive income

$

Cash ﬂows from operating
Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing
Cash ﬂows from investing

$

(a)

$

2008

683,283
674,254
9,029

$

88,562
347,439
(539,944)

$

$

640,859
603,765
37,094
124,629
256,452
(437,631)

The outstanding non-voting, 8% cumulative preferred shares are held by the Province and are convertible to common shares upon
a sale of the outstanding common share. Special rights attached to the preferred shares restrict BCFSI’s ability to issue share capital
and to declare dividends.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

B.C. FERRY AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(effective April 1, 2009)

(effective April 1, 2008 – March 31, 2009)

Elizabeth J. Harrison, Q.C.
Chair
(Community-at-large appointment)

Elizabeth J. Harrison, Q.C.
Chair

Christopher C. Gardner
(Province of British Columbia appointment)
Holly A. Haston-Grant
(Central Vancouver Island & Northern Georgia Strait
appointment area)
Donald P. Hayes
(Southern Vancouver Island appointment area)
Brian G. Kenning
(Southern Mainland appointment area)
Gordon R. Larkin
(Organized labour appointment)
Jane L. Peverett
(Community-at-large appointment)
Stephen E. Smith
(Northern Coastal & North Island appointment area)
Graham M. Wilson
(Province of British Columbia appointment)

OFFICERS
(effective April 1, 2009)
Elizabeth J. Harrison, Q.C.
Chair
Cynthia M. Lukaitis
Vice President & Corporate Secretary
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Thomas W. Harris
Vice Chair
Douglas E. Allen (April 1, 2008 – July 31, 2008)
Christopher C. Gardner
Donald P. Hayes
Brian G. Kenning
Gordon R. Larkin
Maureen V. Macarenko
Graham M. Wilson

OFFICERS
(effective April 1, 2008 – March 31, 2009)
Elizabeth J. Harrison, Q.C.
Chair
Thomas W. Harris
Vice Chair
William R. Cottick (April 1, 2008 – March 15, 2009)
Executive Vice President, Corporate Affairs & General Counsel
Cynthia M. Lukaitis
Vice President & Corporate Secretary
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